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should make the decision to invest only after careful consideration and, if appropriate, consultation with an independent
ﬁnancial adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 who specialises in advising on the
acquisition of shares and other securities.
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Forward-looking Statements
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Third Party Information
To the extent that information has been sourced from a third party, this information has been accurately reproduced and, so
far as the Directors or the Company are aware and able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts
have been omitted which may render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
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DEFINITIONS
In this document, where the context permits, the expressions set out below shall bear the following
meanings:
‘‘Act’’

Companies Act 2006, as amended;

‘‘Admission’’

the admission of the Enlarged Share Capital to trading on the
ISDX Growth Market and such admission becoming effective in
accordance with the ISDX Growth Market Rules;

‘‘Articles’’

the articles of association of the Company;

‘‘Broker’’

Beaufort Securities Limited of 131 Finsbury Pavement, London,
EC2A 1NT;

‘‘City Code’’

the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers;

‘‘Circle Resources’’

Circle Resources Pty Ltd ACN 129 855 714, a 100 per cent.
owned subsidiary of the Company;

‘‘Company’’ or ‘‘NQ Minerals’’

NQ Minerals plc, a company incorporated in England and Wales
with company number 9540926;

‘‘Competent Person’’

Robert James Morrison of Map to Mine;

‘‘Corporate Adviser’’

Alfred Henry Corporate Finance Limited
5-7 Cranwood Street, London, EC1V 9EE;

‘‘Corporate Adviser Rules’’

ISDX Rules for Corporate Advisers setting out the eligibility,
ongoing obligations and certain disciplinary matters in relation to
corporate advisers published by ISDX, as amended from time to
time;

‘‘CREST’’

the
certiﬁcateless
registry
electronic
share
transferoperatedtransfer operated by Euroclear UK & Ireland
Limited;

‘‘Directors’’ or ‘‘Board’’

the directors of the Company;

‘‘Disclosure Rules’’

Transparency
Obligations
Directive
(Disclosure
Transparency Rules) Instrument 2006 (FCA 2006/70);

‘‘Enlarged Share Capital’’

the share capital of the Company immediately on Admission
comprising the Existing Ordinary Shares and the Subscription
Shares;

‘‘EPM’’

exploration permit for minerals granted under the Mineral
Resources Act 1989 (Qld);

‘‘Existing Ordinary Shares’’

the 121,546,000 Ordinary Shares in issue as at the date of this
document;

‘‘Financial Services and
Markets Act’’ or ‘‘FSMA’’

the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended;

‘‘g/t’’

grams per tonne;

‘‘Group’’

the Company and the Subsidiary Undertakings.

‘‘INcrowd’’

a division of International Financial Strategic Associates Limited
that has raised £1,000,000 for the Company under the
Subscription;

‘‘ISDX’’

ICAP Securities & Derivatives Exchange Limited incorporated in
England and Wales with company number 4309969 which
operates a recognised investment exchange authorised and
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority, which allows
trading in the shares of unquoted companies;

‘‘ISDX Growth Market’’

the ISDX primary market segment operated by ISDX for dealings
in unlisted securities admitted to trading in accordance with the
ISDX Growth Market Rules;
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of

Finsgate,

and

‘‘ISDX Growth Market Rules’’

the ISDX Growth Market Rules for Issuers governing the
admission and disclosure requirements of companies admitted
to trading on ISDX, as amended from time to time;

‘‘km2’’

kilometres square;

‘‘kg/tonne’’

kilograms per tonne;

‘‘Map to Mine’’

Map to Mine Pty Ltd ACN 112 977 465 of 22 Bell Street, South
Townsville, Queensland, Australia;

‘‘NQ’’

NQ Minerals Pty Limited ACN 165 670 271, a 100 per cent.
owned subsidiary of the Company;

‘‘Ofﬁcial List’’

the ofﬁcial list of the UK Listing Authority;

‘‘Ordinary Shares’’

ordinary shares of £0.001 each in the capital of the Company;

‘‘oz/t’’

troy ounce;

‘‘Prospectus Rules’’

the Prospectus Rules brought into effect on 1 July 2005 pursuant
to Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004;

‘‘Shareholders’’

holders of Ordinary Shares;

‘‘Subscription’’

the fundraising by INcrowd on behalf of the Company of the
Subscription Shares;

‘‘Subscription Price’’

8p per Subscription Share;

‘‘Subscription Shares’’

up to 12,500,000 new Ordinary Shares to be issued pursuant to
the Subscription;

‘‘Subsidiary Undertakings’’

means NQ and Circle Resources;

‘‘UK Listing Authority’’

the Financial Conduct Authority, acting in its capacity as the
competent authority for the purposes of FSMA; and

‘‘UK’’

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

References to ‘‘£’’ or ‘‘pounds’’ are to pounds sterling, being the currency of the UK.
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PART I
INFORMATION ON THE GROUP
1
Introduction
The Company was incorporated in England and Wales on 14 April 2015 with company number
9540926 as NQ Minerals Limited (NQ Minerals). It was subsequently re-registered as a public
limited company on 10 July 2015. NQ Minerals owns 100% of the issued share capital in NQ
Minerals Pty Ltd ACN 165 670 271 (‘‘NQ’’), an Australian company registered in Queensland. NQ
Minerals owns 100% of the issued share capital in Circle Resources Pty Ltd. an Australian
company registered in Queensland.
NQ is an Australian-based exploration and mining company, focusing on projects where past
exploration work has established the presence of mineral occurrences. The Company’s
management team has decades of experience in the exploration and production of gold, silver and
a variety of base metals.
NQ is focused on two exploration projects known as Ukalunda and Square Post, in North
Queensland, Australia. These projects are both located in prospective mining districts that form part
of the well-known Charters Towers Gold Province, where more than 20 million ounces of gold has
been mined.
2

Business of the Group

Ukalunda project in north Queensland, Australia
The Ukalunda tenement (EPM 18019 which is legally and beneﬁcially owned by Circle Resources)
lies midway between the Lake Dalrymple/Burdekin Dam and the historic Wirralie gold mine, which
produced 1.1 million ounces of gold. The Ukalunda permit area is easily accessible. The tenement
is located near the mining town known as Charters Towers, which offers the Company labour and
materials. Although the exploration staff will camp in the bush whilst working, it is possible to get to
Charters Towers and back in a day. Any other services required are available in Townsville, the
third largest city in Queensland, which is approximately 45 minutes away by helicopter.
The Ukalunda project area contains multiple shows of mineralisation that are the same as other
mineralisation shows discovered in mining districts around the world that host major ore bodies.
This suggests that a major ore body may be present in this district. Historical wide-ranging
exploration has been carried out at the Ukalunda permit area, which discovered some areas of rich
mineralisation of gold, silver and a number of associated base metals.
There are a number of historic mines and advanced prospects that have been explored for more
than 30 years on the Ukalunda tenement area.
Map to Mine, an independent mining exploration services company and the Competent Person
reported that the Ukalunda tenement is in good standing. There are 23 sub-blocks in the permit,
under the Queensland Government, Department of Natural Resources and Mines, the approximate
area of a sub-block is 2.8 square kms (280 ha or 720 acres). To date, 33 prospects have been
identiﬁed across the tenement area by wide-scale exploration of stream sediments as well as rock
chip sampling1. Subsequently, drilling programs tested the targets that had been identiﬁed in the
earlier exploration work. Certainly the best drill intersections so far have demonstrated what appear
to be good grades and widths of gold, silver, copper, lead, zinc, bismuth and stibnite.
Bismuth is used mostly in chemicals for the pharmaceuticals, pigments and coatings industries as
well as in alloys as a substitute for lead. Stibnite is an important source of the semimetal (a
chemical element with properties between a metal and a non-metal) antimony, which is used in
cosmetics as kohl, safety matches and medicines.
There are a total of 33 prospects in the Ukalunda permit. Twenty-one of these prospects have
been named and twelve remain unnamed. Once a discovery has been made, the property
containing the discovery is called a prospect.
The Company’s attention is focused on the most prospective area of the permit where principle
prospects are probably the three larger historical deposits which are represented by the following
polymetallic historic mines: Sunbeam Silver Mine, Carrington Silver Bismuth Mine and Pyramid
1

Sections 4a–4b of the Competent Persons report set out in Part 3.
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Lead Silver Mines. A total of 600,000 ounces of silver were mined from the Sunbeam Mine with
very high grades of up to 37kg/tonne2.
Square Post
The Square Post tenement (EPM 18510 which is legally and beneﬁcially owned by Circle
Resources) lies close to the Flinders Highway, 10 kilometres north north east of Mingela and
50 kilometres south of Townsville. permit EPM 18510 covers the edge of the southern arm of the
Harvey Range which is a major feature rising from the coast plains in the East to 536 metres at
Mt Sugarloaf. This range is deeply incised with a ‘‘V’’ shape along its eastern edge but sloping
more gently to the west. The area is considered to be underexplored due to its rugged terrain.
The permit consists of 47 sub-blocks. Map to Mine have reported that the Square Post tenement is
in good standing.
3
Current trading and 2015 Exploration Season
The NQ team has just begun exploration work at Ukalunda for the 2015 season following the end
of the wet season. The team has identiﬁed stockpiles of silver and copper ores, in the project area.
The stockpiles can be processed to generate early cash ﬂow. In addition, a large footwall of a
copper mining operation has been re-discovered which could suggest the presence of a signiﬁcant
copper resource. Rock Chip Sampling also encountered potentially ore grade tungsten assays at
two prospects, Rosenthal and Walhalla, which require follow up work.
There is nothing in the historical records concerning the stockpiles or the newly re-discovered
copper workings. Further information about these important discoveries are outlined below.
Silver stockpiles
The management team has identiﬁed sizeable stock piles of silver ore on site. These are neat
piles of primary and secondary ore that have been found.
Independent geologists have been on site assaying these stockpiles and have prepared the
Competent Persons Report with recommendations for further work.
The Competent Persons report advises that as part of the recent program these stockpiles were
mapped by GPS survey (+/- 5-15m) with visual estimates made of dump heights. Nineteen
individual stockpiles were sampled and ranged in grade from 1 g/t Ag to 302 g/t Ag with a mean of
86 g/t Ag. Individual assays of the 52ca. 3kg samples ranged from zero to 527 g/t Ag (Map 11 of
the Competent Persons Report) with a mean of 81 g/t Ag3.
Additional (or basic) inﬁll sampling and assaying including through the stockpiles, augmented by
detailed survey would be required to more accurately establish the tonnage and grade of the
stockpiles. Metallurgical testing would be required to establish likely resource recovery.
The NQ team plans to fully evaluate the economic beneﬁt of such an operation, a process that will
include a pilot test on the ore found in the stockpiles. This will require the Group to obtain the
necessary permitting for such an operation. An application was made to the Queensland Mines
Department of Natural Resources and Mines which was subsequently acknowledged in June 2015.
The Directors believe that this could provide NQ Minerals with early cash ﬂow, which would help
fund the further exploration and development of Ukalunda.
Large footwall of copper and stockpiles
The discovery of a large footwall of a copper mining operation extending into the side of a hill is of
particular interest. These mine workings are located at Whites Hope which lies 10 kilometres south
east of Sunbeam and are accompanied by two stockpiles of copper ore, one sizeable stockpile and
a smaller one. An assay from the stockpile showed high-grade copper at 4.8% and reasonable
grades of gold (0.8g/t) and silver (36g/t).
The remnants of a historic copper smelter has been found on site.
The large face of copper is 10-15 metres high, which appears to visibly extend for 30 metres
backing into a hill. Further drilling will be required to assess the extent of this resource. High-grade
copper minerals have been identiﬁed and the Directors’ initial belief is that this structure is either a
skarn or a porphyry. The Directors believe that the potential could be good. Due to the orientation
2
3

Section 4f of the Competent Persons report set out in Part 3.
Section 5b of the Competent Persons report set out in Part 3.
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of the copper mineralisation seen at the footwall, the Directors consider that the potential could be
further explored quickly and cheaply with a small number of well sited drill holes which would tell
how far the deposit goes into the hill.
4
Summary Financial Information
The ﬁnancial performance of the Group contained in Part 4 of this document shows a net loss of
£245,000 reﬂecting the expenditure on the project and should be read in conjunction with the full
text of this document. Investors should not rely solely on the summarised information.
5
Business Strategy
At Ukalunda, NQ Minerals has what the Directors view as an advantage with 35 years’ worth of
exploration history which the Directors believe will fast track exploration on the most prospective
areas of the tenement that includes the old mines.
NQ Minerals possess some advantages in the Ukalunda region as it has already established local
exploration expertise and experience working in this area. The Directors believe that Group is likely
to beneﬁt from the advances made in exploration techniques since the previous work was
undertaken. There have been some signiﬁcant advances in geophysics, such as modern airborne
and ground magnetics systems, aided by Thermatic Mapper (TM) imagery that uses radar data to
map and explore mineral deposits. This is in addition to the extensive geochemical database along
with more up to date models of mineralization.
Exploration program – Ukalunda
Circle Resources was granted the Ukalunda tenement in June 2014 and the NQ team has since
been carrying out a carefully planned exploration programme that has been developed with the
clear goal of adding value. The team have been in the ﬁeld since the end of the rainy season in
March/April 2015. In order to advance the exploration activities, however, Circle Resources will
need to enter into access arrangements with the underlying landowners. of the permit area. The
exploration activities carried out on the tenement must also comply with the conditions of the
environmental authority attaching to the Ukalunda tenement. Part of the Ukalunda permit area is
classiﬁed as an environmentally sensitive area and therefore there are more restrictive conditions
relating to accessing and carrying out activities in this part of the tenement.
Unlike most new applications, the Group has a head start as the team is not starting from scratch.
The minimum annual exploration budget required in the tenement is A$50,000 (£26,000), but the
Group would ideally spend A$750,000 (£400,000) dependent on funds being available – this would
pay for work on the ground, the establishment of drill targets and limited drilling. The drilling of
most of the drill targets is planned for 2016.
In the past, 10,000 metres of drilling has been carried out and the objective is that the Company
will seek to twin some of those, such as the Birthday Gift breccina, as a reference. The old drilling
reports and other records show that there is mineralisation near the surface but research suggests
that the mineralisation in this area tends to go deeper. However, the old drill holes are not very
deep, 100 metres at the most with the majority of holes drilled less than 30 metres deep, and
therefore it is the intention to drill deeper holes to help in starting to unlock the true potential of
this tenement.
Exploration program – Square Post
Running parallel with the Ukalunda exploration program, value will also be added at Square Post.
NQ commissioned a project review of Square Post by Doug Morrison, a geologist from Map to
Mine Pty Ltd, in October 2014 which proposes a program of work which includes: stream
orientated surveys, detailed geological mapping of the Gate Fault prospects which includes Miners
Pinnacle and the East-West Vein, Breccia Knob and the Blue Doe-June Ellen-North Ridge vein
arrays to deﬁne shallow drill targets. The project review also proposed soil sampling at Miners
Pinnacle, dipole-dipole Induced Polarisation survey (for geological section exploration at a depth of
400 metres) or airborne Electro Magnetic (EM)/Sub-Audio Magnetics (SAM) which allows for high
deﬁnition mapping on these prospects to deﬁne drill targets and using simple and economical
auger or Rotary Air Blast (RAB) bedrock drilling of the two kilometres between the Blue Doe
workings and the Seven Mile Creek workings to test for mineralisation under the alluvial cover.
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At Square Post, there is a three stage low-cost program planned to evaluate the potential of the
Breccia Knob, the interior area where there are no previous stream sediment sampling and the
Square Post South weak soil anomaly through cover target area. As with the Ukalunda tenement,
in order to advance the exploration activities Circle Resources will need to enter into access
arrangements with the underlying landowners. The Company must also, at all times, comply with
its environmental authority in respect to the exploration activities. The planned budget for 2015 is
A$71,500 (£38,000) for 15 days in the ﬁeld which includes eight days of auger drilling and the
assaying of 270 samples. In 2016, the budget is A$99,000 (£52,000) for 15 days in the ﬁeld
including 500 metres of RC drilling and assaying 300 samples. The plan is to carry out this work
alongside exploration at Ukalunda. Deep drilling of the high grade gold potential of the Breccia
Knob breccia may also be required.
6
Opportunities for the Group
The Directors consider that NQ Minerals has a distinct advantage arising from the previous
exploration work that has been carried out on the tenements. This has a resulted in a valuable
database that will allow the team to target spending to achieve the most efﬁcient exploration and
improve the chances of success. The short-term strategy is aimed at increasing value by targeted
exploration and the easiest way to add value is by drilling.
There are three main drill targets in the Ukalunda tenement being Sunbeam, Whites Hope and
Birthday Gift. There are various other options but those three prospects are considered by the
Directors to be the ﬁrst priority.

Typical discovery life cycle of a junior mining company
Source: Brent Cook’s Exploration Insight

The Directors consider that the previous work carried out on Ukalunda places the project in the
‘Pre-Discovery Stage’ as represented on the above chart. The ‘Pre-Discovery Stage’ is where early
discoveries can provide opportunities for capital growth as a stock is driven up the value curve by
positive results.
Once discoveries have been made, step-out drilling will commence to establish a resource footprint
followed by inﬁll drilling to increase the statistical conﬁdence that is required for the deﬁnition of
resources under the standards of the Australasian Joint Ore Reserves Committee (‘‘JORC’’).
Although 10,000 metres of drilling has been carried out historically, these results are out of date for
the determination of mineral resources and ore reserves to the Australasian Code for Reporting of
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources, and Ore Reserves (‘‘JORC Code’’).
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A JORC report allows a more reliable value to be placed on a junior mining company by peer
comparisons. As further drilling is carried out on a tighter matrix, the quality of the resources under
JORC Code can improve as geological certainty improves taking more ounces/tonnes of resources
from an inferred mineral resources category to an indicated or measured category which acts to
increase the value of the junior mining company.
The Directors consider that 2015 and 2016 are likely to see a healthy news ﬂow from both the
Ukalunda and Square Post projects as exploration proceeds and any positive results should allow
value to be added. The management have a proven track record not just in locating properties with
valuable resources but, more importantly, in developing these projects to bankable stage.
7
Directors, Senior Management and Employees
Directors
The Board comprises three Directors in respect of whom brief biographies are set out below.
Details of the terms of their employment are set out in paragraph 7 of Part 5 of this document.
Walter Daniel Doyle – CEO (aged 59 years)
Walter has over 30 years of experience of mining and resource properties in Australia. The Doyle
family has three generations of mining history and has participated in the discovery of several large
resource properties, including the initial discovery and exploration of the Century mine, one of
Australia’s primary silver/lead deposits. Having spent many years abroad, Walter is a venture
capitalist who is also a specialist in public equity markets worldwide and has particular expertise
and long term contacts in North American and London capital markets. Most recently, Walter was
behind the resurrection of Sirius Minerals (AIM:SXX) which was transformed from a destitute shell
company into a potash business where the share price went from 2p to 32p.
Brian Stockbridge – Non-Executive Chairman (aged 41 years)
Brian Stockbridge is an investment banker, based in London. He has held senior positions with
several well-respected City ﬁrms, including Grant Thornton, Noble & Company (now part of Espirito
Santo Investment Bank), and Allenby Capital. In 2012, Brian opened the London ofﬁce of the
independent investment banking operation Zeus Capital. As a regulator at the Panel on Takeovers
& Mergers, he was the primary case ofﬁcer for over 150 transactions valued up to and over £1bn.
Brian is experienced in raising funds for companies and is a former Qualiﬁed Executive for the
purposes of AIM. In 2014, Brian set up International Financial Strategic Associates (IFSA), a
boutique ﬁnancial advisory and investment company offering assistance to directors and
shareholders of small and medium sized companies with principal investment, fundraising and
mergers and acquistions.
Frederick Bryan Smart – Non-Executive Director (aged 63 years)
Bryan Smart is a Chartered Accountant with over 40 years of experience in ﬁnance both in
professional and commercial roles and from 1996 to 2006 he worked as Finance Director for
DaimlerChrysler (UK) Ltd. He has been a non-executive director of AIM-listed Scotty Group PLC,
which supplies satcom solutions for military applications. He has also served on the board of
Rangers International Football Club plc which was listed on AIM. He was an executive director of
Tradelinens Ltd, a joint venture established with a Chinese importer until its successful sale in
2014. His current responsibilities include non-executive director roles in AB Dynamics plc, a
company that designs and manufactures robotic test equipment for the automotive industry, and
also in Greka Drilling plc and Greka Engineering plc, both AIM listed companies which are
engaged in coal bed methane drilling in China and India. He also acts as a consultant for
Greenoaks Ltd, a Mercedes dealer group and is a trustee of Brooklands Museum.
In addition to the Directors, details of the senior management of the Group are set out below:
Senior Management
Kevin Doyle
Kevin Doyle has many years of experience of mining and resource properties in Australia,
particularly gold, silver, lead, iron ore, uranium, thorium, tin and potash. Kevin Doyle is based in
Townsville, has worked in mineral exploration all his life and has a very strong hands-on approach,
working closely with a highly experienced team of geologists. Kevin Doyle has a proven track
record in locating properties with valuable resources and developing them to bankable stage.
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Employees and Consultants
The Group does not have any employees but engages 11 contractors in total.
Map to Mine
Exploration Services Company contracted by NQ and Circle Resources
Map to Mine is a Townsville based mineral exploration services company that provides a quality
team of geologists and ﬁeld technicians for management of exploration projects. Map to Mine
geological consultant, Mr Jim Morrison and his team of geologists and technicians provide technical
evaluation and design exploration programs undertaken for the Ukalunda and Square Post projects.
8
Reasons for the Subscription and Admission
The Directors have raised £1,000,000 to fund the exploration and drilling program as described
above and the funding is conditional on Admission.
9
Admission to ISDX Growth Market and Dealings
Application has been made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on the ISDX Growth
Market. Dealings in the Ordinary Shares are expected to commence on 24 July 2015.
10 Details of the Subscription
INcrowd has raised £1m before expenses under the Subscription. Assuming full subscription under
the Subscription, the Subscription Shares will represent approximately 9.33%. of the Enlarged
Share Capital. At the Subscription Price, the Company will be valued at £10.7 million on
Admission. Net proceeds of the Subscription (assuming full subscription under the Subscription)
receivable by the Company will (after the expenses of the Subscription and Admission, which are
expected to be £200,000) amount to £800,000.
The Subscription Shares, which have been created under the Act, following allotment, will rank
equally in all respects with the Existing Ordinary Shares including in respect of any dividends and
distributions paid or made in respect of the Ordinary Shares. The ISIN Number of the Subscription
Shares will be GB00BYN8YP12.
It is expected that deﬁnitive documents of title to the Subscription Shares will be delivered by SLC
Registrars, the Company’s registrars, to those Shareholders who so request by ﬁrst class post, not
later than 14 days after the date of Admission. Subscription Shares issued to any Shareholder who
does not request a deﬁnitive certiﬁcate will be registered within the CREST system.
The Subscription will result in an immediate dilution as follows:
12,500,000 Shares will dilute the Shareholders in existence prior to the Subscription by
approximately 9.33 per cent.
On Admission, 21,046,000 Shares representing 15.7% of the Issued Share Capital of the Company
will be in public hands.
11 Uses of Proceeds
The net proceeds of the Subscription receivable by the Company are expected to amount to
£800,000 (assuming full subscription under the Subscription) and are intended to be used to fund
the exploration and drilling program as set out above.
12 Dealing Arrangements
Application will be made to ISDX for the Existing Ordinary Shares and the Subscription Shares to
be admitted to trading on the ISDX Growth Market. It is expected that Admission will become
effective and dealings, for normal settlement, will commence on 24 July 2015.
The Ordinary Shares are eligible for settlement through CREST. Accordingly, settlement of
transactions in the Ordinary Shares following Admission may take place within CREST if the
relevant shareholder so wishes. Settlement of transactions in the Ordinary Shares through CREST
is voluntary and Shareholders who wish to receive and retain share certiﬁcates will be able to do
so.
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13 Lock-In and Orderly Market Arrangements
The Directors have entered into lock-in agreements for a period of 12 months from the date of
Admission in respect of shares in which they hold an interest.
14 Dividend Policy
It is expected that, in the short term, the focus of the Company will be to concentrate on
increasing equity value through a targeted drilling program. It is expected that any cash generated
from the processing of the stockpiles will be re-invested into the drilling program. The Directors do
not expect to pay dividends in the short term.
15 Corporate Governance
The Directors recognise the value and importance of high standards of corporate governance and
intend, given the Company’s size and the constitution of the Board, to comply, where practicable,
with the principal provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code, as amended. The Company
also intends to follow, where practicable, the recommendations on corporate governance of the
Quoted Companies Alliance for companies with shares traded on AIM (the ‘‘QCA Guidelines’’).
16 City Code
The City Code applies to all takeover and merger transactions, however effected, where the
offeree company is, inter alia, a listed or unlisted public company resident in the United Kingdom
(and to certain categories of private limited companies). The Company is such a company and its
shareholders are entitled to the protection afforded by the City Code. Further details concerning the
City Code are set out in paragraph 11 of Part 5 of this document.
17 Share Options and Warrants
The Company has granted warrants to subscribe for the Ordinary Shares representing 5% of the
issued capital of the Company at 1p per Ordinary Share and 1% of the Issued Share capital of the
Company at 7p per Ordinary Share.
18 Taxation
Information regarding taxation is set out in paragraph 9 of Part 5 of this document. These details
are intended only as a general guide to the current tax position. If an investor is in any doubt as to
his or her tax position he or she should consult his or her own independent ﬁnancial adviser
immediately.
19 Further Information
Your attention is drawn to the remainder of this document, which provides additional information on
the matters discussed above.
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PART 2
RISK FACTORS
AN INVESTMENT IN THE COMPANY IS SPECULATIVE AND INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF
RISK.
In addition to the other relevant information in this document, the Directors consider the
following risk factors to be of particular relevance to the Group’s activities and to any
investment in the Company. It should be noted that this list is not exhaustive and that other
risk factors may apply. Any one or more of these risks could have a material adverse effect
on the value of the Company and should be taken into account in assessing the Group.
ISDX Growth Market and Liquidity of the Ordinary Shares
ISDX Growth Market is not the Ofﬁcial List. The Ordinary Shares will not be listed on the Ofﬁcial
List. Notwithstanding that Admission becomes effective and dealings commence in the Ordinary
Shares, this should not be taken as implying that there will be a liquid market for the Ordinary
Shares. An investment in the Ordinary Shares may thus be difﬁcult to realise.
Investors should be aware that the value of the Ordinary Shares may be volatile and may go down
as well as up. Investors may, on disposing of Ordinary Shares, realise less than their original
investment or may lose their entire investment. The Ordinary Shares may, therefore, not be
suitable as a short-term investment. In addition, the market price of the Ordinary Shares may not
reﬂect the underlying value of the Group’s net assets. The price at which the Ordinary Shares will
be traded and the price at which investors may realise their Ordinary Shares will be inﬂuenced by
a large number of factors, some speciﬁc to the Group and its proposed operations, and some
which may affect the business sectors in which the Group operates. Such factors could also
include the performance of the Group’s operations, large purchases or sales of the Ordinary
Shares, liquidity or the absence of liquidity in the Ordinary Shares, legislative or regulatory changes
relating to the business of the Group and general economic conditions or stagnation.
Possible Volatility of the Price of the Ordinary Shares or Stagnation
Following Admission, the market price of the Ordinary Shares could be subject to signiﬁcant
ﬂuctuations due to various factors and events, including any regulatory or economic changes
affecting the Group’s operations, variations in the Group’s operating results, developments in the
Group’s business or its competitors, or to changes in market sentiment towards the Ordinary
Shares. The Group’s operating results and prospects from time to time may be below the
expectations of market analysts and investors. In addition, stock markets from time to time suffer
signiﬁcant price and volume ﬂuctuations that affect the market prices for securities and which may
be unrelated to the Group’s operating performance. Any of these events could result in a decline in
the market price of the Ordinary Shares. Equally, the market price of Ordinary Shares may not
alter materially.
Currency Exchange Risks
As a consequence of the international nature of the Group’s business, the Company is exposed to
the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. This may result in gains or losses with
respect to movements in exchange rates that may be material and may also cause ﬂuctuations in
reported ﬁnancial information that are not necessarily related to the Group’s operating results.
Market Perception
Market perception of the Group may change, potentially affecting the value of investors’ holdings
and the ability of the Group to raise further funds by the issue of further Ordinary Shares or
otherwise.
Attraction and Retention of Key Employees
The Group depends on its Directors and other key employees. Whilst it has entered into
contractual arrangements with these individuals to secure the services of each of them, retention of
these services cannot be guaranteed.
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Equally the ability to attract new employees with the appropriate expertise and skills cannot be
guaranteed. The Company may experience difﬁculties in employing appropriate staff and the failure
to do so may have a detrimental effect upon the trading performance of the Group.
Taxation Framework
This document has been prepared in accordance with current UK tax legislation, practice and
concession and interpretation thereof. Such legislation and practice may change and the current
interpretation may therefore no longer apply.
Forward Looking Statements
Certain statements within this document, including those in the part of this document under the
heading ‘‘Information on the Group’’, constitute forward looking statements. Such forward looking
statements involve risks and other factors which may cause the actual results, achievements or
performance of the Group to be materially different from any future results, achievements or
performance expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. Such risks and other
factors include, but are not limited to, general economic and business conditions, changes in
government regulation, competition, changes in development plans and the other risks described in
this Part 2. There can be no assurance that the results and events contemplated by the forward
looking statements contained in this document will, in fact, occur. These forward looking statements
are correct only as at the date of this document. The Company will not undertake any obligation to
release publicly any revisions to these forward looking statements to reﬂect events, circumstance
or unanticipated events occurring after the date of this document except as required by law or by
regulatory authority.
Management of Growth Projections
There can be no guarantee that the Group will achieve the level of business anticipated.
Silver stockpiles
There can be no guarantee that the necessary permit will be granted by the Australian Mines
Department to allow the stockpiles to be processed, generating cashﬂow for the Company, nor that
the necessary permit will be granted in the timescales expected by the Directors.
General
The risks noted above do not necessarily comprise all those potentially faced by the Group and
are not intended to be presented in any assumed order of priority.
Although the Directors will seek to minimise the impact of the Risk Factors, investment in
the Company should only be made by investors able to sustain a total loss of their
investment. Investors are strongly recommended to consult an investment adviser
authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 who specialises in
investments of this nature before making any decision to invest.
Exploration Permit
There can be no guarantee that the EPM will be renewed by the Queensland Mines Department in
four years’ time.
Exploration and Mining Risks
The business of exploration for minerals involves a high degree of risk. Few properties that are
explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. The mineral deposits to be assessed by
the Group may not contain economically recoverable volumes of resources. Should the mineral
deposits contain economically recoverable resources then delays in the construction and
commissioning of mining projects or other technical difﬁculties may result in the Group’s current or
future projected target dates being delayed or further capital expenditure being required.
The operations of the Group may be disrupted by a variety of risks and hazards which are beyond
the control of the Company, including geological, geotechnical and seismic factors, environmental
hazards, industrial accidents, occupational and health hazards, technical failures, labour disputes,
unusual or unexpected rock formations, explosions, ﬂooding and extended interruptions due to
inclement or hazardous weather conditions and other acts of God. These risks and hazards could
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also result in damage to, or destruction of, production facilities, personal injury, environmental
damage, business interruption, monetary losses and possible legal liability. No assurance can be
given that the Group will be able to obtain insurance coverage at reasonable rates (or at all), or
that any coverage it obtains will be adequate and available to cover any such claims.
The occurrence of any of these hazards can delay activities of the Group and may result in
liability. The Group may become subject to liability for pollution or other hazards against which it
has not insured or cannot insure, including those in respect of past mining activities for which it
was not responsible.
Mineral exploration is highly speculative in nature, involves many risks and frequently is
unsuccessful.
There can be no assurance that any mineralisation discovered will result in proven and probable
reserves being attributed to the Group. If reserves are developed, it can take a number of years
from the initial phases of drilling until production is possible, during which time the economic
feasibility of production may change.
Substantial expenditures are required to establish ore reserves through drilling, to determine
metallurgical processes to extract metals from ore and, in the cases of new properties, to construct
mining and processing 41 facilities. As a result of these uncertainties, no assurance can be given
that the exploration programmes undertaken by the Group will result in any new commercial mining
operations being brought into operation.
Operational Targets and Delays
The Group’s operational targets will be subject to the completion of planned operational goals on
time and according to budget, and are dependent on the effective support of the Group’s
personnel, systems, procedures and controls. Any failure of these may result in delays in the
achievement of operational targets with a consequent material adverse impact on the business,
operations and ﬁnancial performance of the Group. The Group will not generate any income until
mining has successfully commenced. In the meantime the Group will continue to expend its cash
reserves and raise additional funding.
Licensing and title risk
Governmental approvals, licences and permits are, as a practical matter, subject to the discretion
of the applicable governments or governmental ofﬁces. The Group must comply with known
standards, existing laws and regulations that may entail greater or lesser costs and delays
depending on the nature of the activity to be permitted and the interpretation of the laws and
regulations implemented by the permitting authority. New laws and regulations, amendments to
existing laws and regulations, or more stringent enforcement of existing laws and regulations could
have a material adverse impact on the Group’s results of operations and ﬁnancial condition.
The Group’s exploration activities are dependent upon the grant of appropriate licences,
concessions, leases, permits and regulatory consents which may be withdrawn or made subject to
limitations. The terms of the Group’s licences include obligations to pay licence fees. Invoices for
certain fees may not in the future be processed by the government in time to allow the Group to
pay fees in accordance with the terms of its licences, and any such delay could have a material
adverse impact on the ability of the Group to satisfy the terms of its licences. Whilst the Group
continually seeks to do everything within its control to ensure that the terms of each licence are
met and adhered to, third parties may seek to exploit any technical breaches in licence terms for
their own beneﬁt.
The Group has two permits, EPM 18019 and 18510, which expires on 25 June 2019 and 28 June
2016 respectively. There can be no guarantee that the Tenement will be renewed by the
Queensland Mining Minister and Minister for Trade when applied for. The Group will have to lodge
an application with the Minister for the renewal of the Tenement no earlier than 6 months prior to
the expiry date and no later than 3 months prior to the expiry date. The Minister will renew the
Tenement if the Minister is satisﬁed that the Group has satisﬁed a number of predetermined
criteria over the duration of the Tenement to the time of application for renewal.
If the Minister is not satisﬁed with the Group’s application for renewal of the Tenement, the
Minister may give notice to the Group requiring the Group to give the Minister information required
to assess the application for renewal of the Tenement, such as why the renewal should not be
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refused. If the Group fails to respond to the Minister within the prescribed time or if the Minister is
not satisﬁed with the Group’s response, the Minister may refuse to renew the Tenement.
There is a risk that negotiations with the government in relation to the renewal or extension of a
licence, or the grant of a MDA, may not result in the renewal or grant taking effect prior to the
expiry of the previous licence period and there can be no assurance of the terms of any extension,
renewal or grant.
The Tenement may be subject to undetected title defects. If a title defect does exist it is possible
that the Group may lose all or part of its interest in the Tenement.
Environmental issues
Mining operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations including, for example,
those relating to waste treatment, emissions and disposal, and companies must generally comply
with permits or standards governing, among other things, tailing dams and waste disposal areas,
water consumption, air emissions and water discharges. While the application of such laws to the
Group’s operations in Australia is uncertain at this time, the Group may, in the future, incur
signiﬁcant costs to comply with the environmental 42 requirements imposed under existing or new
legislation, regulations or permit requirements or to comply with changes in existing laws and
regulations or the manner in which they are applied.
Economic risks
Historically, commodity prices (including gold) have displayed wide ranges and are affected by
numerous factors over which the Company does not have any control. These include world
production levels, international economic trends, expectations for inﬂation, speculative activity,
consumption patterns and global or regional political events.
Early Stage of Operations
The Group’s operations are at an early stage of development and success will depend on the
Directors’ ability to manage the current projects and to take advantage of further opportunities
which may arise. There can be no guarantee that the Group can or will be able to, or that it will
be commercially advantageous for it, to develop all or any of the licences. Further, the Group
currently has no assets producing positive cash ﬂow and its ultimate success will depend on its
ability to generate cash ﬂow from active mining operations in the future and its ability to access
equity and debt markets for its development requirements.
Volatility of Price of Gold
The market price of gold is volatile and is affected by numerous factors which are beyond the
Group’s control. These include international supply and demand, the level of consumer product
demand, international economic trends, currency exchange rate ﬂuctuations, the level of interest
rates, the rate of inﬂation, global or regional political events and international events as well as a
range of other market forces. Sustained downward movements in gold market prices could render
less economic, or uneconomic, some or all of the exploration and/or extraction activities to be
undertaken by the Group.
Insurance coverage
There are signiﬁcant exploration and operating risks associated with exploration for gold, including
adverse weather conditions, environmental risks and ﬁre, all of which can result in injury to persons
as well as damage to or destruction of the extraction plant, equipment, formations and reserves,
production facilities and other property. In addition, the Group will be subject to liability for
environmental risks such as pollution and abuse of the environment. Although the Group will
exercise due care in the conduct of its business and will maintain what it believes to be customary
insurance coverage for companies engaged in similar operations, the Group is not fully insured
against all risk in its business. The occurrences of a signiﬁcant event against which the Group is
not fully insured could have a material adverse effect on its operations and ﬁnancial performance.
In addition, in the future some or all of the Group’s insurance coverage may become unavailable
or prohibitively expensive.
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Environmental Factors
The Group’s operations are subject to environmental regulation (including regular environmental
impact assessments and permitting). Such regulation covers a wide variety of matters, including,
without limitation, prevention of waste, pollution and protection of the environment, labour
regulations and worker safety. The Group may also be subject under such regulations to clean-up
costs and liability for toxic or hazardous substances which may exist on or under any of its
properties or which may be produced as a result of its operations. Environmental legislation and
permitting are likely to evolve in a manner which will require stricter standards and enforcement,
increased ﬁnes and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of
proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their directors and
employees.
Limited Operating History
The Group has no properties producing positive cash ﬂow and its ultimate success will depend on
its ability to generate cash ﬂow from producing properties in the future. The Group has not earned
proﬁts to date and there is no assurance that it will do so in the future. A majority of the Group’s
activities will be directed to the development of the Tenement. Signiﬁcant capital investment will be
required to achieve commercial production from the Tenement. There is no assurance that the
Company will be able to raise the required funds to continue these activities.
Financing
Should the Group develop any of its projects to the point of production, the successful extraction of
gold may require very signiﬁcant capital investment. In addition, delays in the construction and
commissioning 44 of any of the Group’s mining projects or drilling projects or other technical
difﬁculties may result in projected target dates for related production being delayed and/or further
capital expenditure being required. In common with all mining and drilling operations, there is
uncertainty, and therefore risk, associated with operating parameters and costs resulting from the
scaling up of extraction methods tested in laboratory conditions. The Group’s ability to raise further
funds will depend on the success of existing and acquired operations. The Group may not be
successful in procuring the requisite funds and, if such funding is unavailable, the Group may be
required to reduce the scope of its operations or anticipated expansion. In the event that ﬁnancing
is successful it may mean that new Ordinary Shares need to be issued on a non preemptive basis,
thus diluting the interests of investors at that time.
Access to Capital Markets
The Group may require additional ﬁnancial resources to continue funding its exploration and
development activities. The Group may in the future raise additional funds through public or private
ﬁnancing or through bringing in joint venture partners. The availability of this capital is subject to
general economic conditions and lender and investor interest in the Group’s projects. To ensure
the availability of capital, the Group will maintain an investor relations programme in order to inform
all Shareholders and potential investors of the Group’s developments. Any investment in the Group
should be regarded as an investment in the potential resources rather than a direct investment in
the commodity itself.
Acquisition and Joint Venture Risks
The Company may make further licence acquisitions or enter into joint ventures in circumstances
where the Directors believe that such acquisitions or joint ventures would support the Company’s
strategy. However, there can be no assurances that the Company will be able to identify, complete
and integrate suitable acquisitions or manage such joint ventures successfully. Acquiring new
businesses and entering into joint ventures can place signiﬁcant strain on management, employees,
systems and resources and can take signiﬁcant time to negotiate with all relevant parties. The
acquired businesses may not perform in line with expectations to justify the expense of acquisition.
Competition
The mineral exploration and mining business is competitive in all of its phases. The Group
competes with numerous other companies and individuals, including competitors with greater
ﬁnancial, technical and other resources than the Group, in the search for and acquisition of
exploration and development rights on attractive mineral properties. The Group’s ability to acquire
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exploration and development rights on properties in the future will depend not only on its ability to
develop the Tenement on which it currently has exploration and development rights, but also on its
ability to select and acquire exploration and development rights on suitable properties for
exploration and development. There is no assurance that the Group will continue to be able to
compete successfully with its competitors in acquiring exploration and development rights on such
properties.
Infrastructure
The Group must use the public infrastructure in Australia for its operations. There is a risk that
some of the infrastructure required by the Group may not be available at the times required.
Actions of third parties, including contractors and partners
The Company will be reliant to a great extent on third parties to provide contracting services.
There can be no assurance that these business relationships will continue to be maintained or that
new ones will be successfully formed. A breach or disruption in these relationships could be
detrimental to the future business, operating results and/or proﬁtability of the Company. To the
extent that the Company cannot engage contractors according to its plans and budgets, its
ﬁnancial and operational performance may be adversely impaired.
In certain circumstances, the Company may be liable for the acts or omissions of its partners. If a
third party pursues claims against the Company or against a joint venture vehicle as a result of the
acts or omissions of 45 the Company’s partners, the Company’s ability to recover from such
partners may be limited. Recovery under such arrangements may involve delay, management time,
costs and expenses or may not be possible at all which, in each case, could adversely affect the
Company’s ﬁnancial performance and condition.
Dependency on Key Personnel
The loss of any key individuals in the Group’s management team or the inability to attract
appropriate personnel could impact the Group’s performance.
Ability to recruit and retain staff
The Group may be adversely affected by an inability to recruit, retain and motivate suitable
personnel as its business develops and grows in size. There can be no assurance that suitably
qualiﬁed personnel will be available and that the Group will be able to retain existing professionals
or meet their remuneration requirements. Furthermore, the cost base in relation to such
remuneration, which may include equity compensation, may increase signiﬁcantly and could have
an adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations and/or ﬁnancial condition. As a result of the
nature of the Group’s industry and the extended administrative procedures required to ﬁll these key
positions it can sometimes be difﬁcult to ﬁnd appropriate individuals with the necessary skills and
experience required to ﬁll these key positions.
Native Title
There is some risk that native title, as established by the High Court of Australia’s decision in the
Mabo case, exists over some of the land over which the Company holds tenements or over land
required for access purposes. In 1992, the concept of native title rights held by indigenous
Australians was ﬁrst recognised in Australia following the High Court case: Mabo v. Queensland
(no. 2) (1992) 175 CLR 1 (‘‘Mabo no. 2’’). It was held in Mabo no. 2 that speciﬁed land tenures
granted or renewed without regard to native title rights as at the date of said case were rendered
invalid. Consequently, the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (the ‘‘NTA’’) was passed in order to permit
indigenous people to bring claims for their native title rights over land as well as register those
claims at the National Native Title Tribunal (the ‘‘NNTT’’). This allows the Australian Courts to
determine whether such native tight rights exist in the ﬁrst place. Upon completion of the
assessment of a native title claim, the Court will then issue a ruling which indicates whether the
native title rights exist as well as provide that any land granted or renewed prior to 1 January 1994
were valid in spite of the emergence of the law under Mabo no. 2. Furthermore, the NTA included
speciﬁed freehold and leasehold (including pastoral leases) granted or renewed before the
23 December 1996 date. Additional legislation, the ‘‘Future Act’’ was passed in order to conﬁrm
that any grant or renewal of a mining tenement carried out after 23 December 1996 is subject to
compulsory requirements (known as the ‘‘Future Act Provisions) in order for the Future Act to be
20

valid under the NTA. It is possible that claims may be made under the NTA which affect the
Company’s operations.
Ability to exploit
It may not always be possible for the Group to participate in the successful exploitation of areas in
which it has an interest. Such exploitation may involve the need to obtain licences or clearances
from the relevant authorities, which may require conditions to be satisﬁed and/or the exercise of
discretion by such authorities. It may or may not be possible for such conditions to be satisﬁed.
Furthermore, the decision to proceed to further exploitation may require the participation of other
companies whose interests and objectives may not be the same as those of the Group. Any
further work may require the Group to meet or commit to ﬁnancing obligations for which it may not
have planned.
Industry partner risk
The Company’s future exploration and development strategy may rely on its ability to obtain
industry partners. There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to identify or agree suitable
funding arrangements with such industry partners or that they will be able to implement the
necessary arrangements.
Service providers and contractors
The Company is unable to predict the risk of insolvency or other managerial failure by any of the
contractors or other service providers currently or in the future used by the Company in its
activities. Any of the foregoing may have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or
the ﬁnancial condition of the Group. In addition, the termination of these arrangements, if not
replaced on similar terms, could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or the
ﬁnancial condition of the Group.
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1. Summary:
Initial fieldwork on the Ukalunda Project was undertaken in February-March 2015 to evaluate
high priority gold, copper, silver, bismuth and polymetallic targets. Work included stream
sediment, rock chip, and stockpile sampling, geological mapping and compilation of previous
exploration results.
Reconnaissance mullock and rock chip sampling was completed at Sunbeam, Daisy, White’s
Hope, Wyatt1, Birthday Gift, Carrington, Cumberland, Holy Dollar, Origin Hill, Polka Dot,
Pyramid, and Rosenthal in conjunction with broad spaced stream sediment sampling. This was
followed by 1:1,000 scale mapping and “stockpile” sampling at Daisy, Sunbeam, White’s Hope
and Wyatt 1.
Regional mullock and rock chip sampling at old mine sites showed that silver mineralization is
ubiquitous where mineralization occurs on the EPM. The polymetallic veins in the western half
of the EPM display an overlapping mineral zonation pattern from distal Ag/Pb/Sb/As through AuBi-Cu to W/Bi.
Potentially ore-grade tungsten assays were found in the little explored zone at Rosenthal. Soil
sampling and prospecting is proposed over 3 km of untested strike length to the northeast to
establish the potential of this area. High W was also found at Daisy and at Walhalla associated
with an ore-grade Sn sample.
At Sunbeam stockpiles reported to contain approximately 48,000t were mapped and sampled
with 42% of the assays being over 1 oz/t silver. Waste dumps were also mapped and contain
patchy low grade silver.
In the south east high copper assays were found in the secondary zone at Whites Hope in
previously mined shallow pits. Mapping located pyritic porphyry at White’s Hope central pit.
This Permo-Carboniferous porphyry is likely to be the driver of the copper-gold mineralization. A
six hole, 850m reverse circulation drilling program is proposed to test the primary mineralization.
Anomalous Cu/Au/Ag stream sediments in the region warrant follow-up including the location,
sampling and mapping of the known Cu/Au mineralization to the northeast around Golden
Ridge.
Ionic Leach stream sediment orientation sampling located a previously unknown silver anomaly
north of Sunbeam which correlated with conventional bulk cyanide leach assaying. It is
recommended that the previously recommended stream sediment sampling program be
completed.
2. Introduction:
Fieldwork was based on the programs outlined in reports MTM2015-05 & -08. Reconnaissance
was undertaken and the access tracks to many of the readily accessible old workings were
established. Follow-up stockpile sampling and mapping was completed at Sunbeam, Daisy and
White’s Hope.
Landholders were contacted and no problems were encountered accessing the land. Ukalunda
Station (Whalans) permitted the use of their field camp near Rosenthal Dam which enabled
more efficient operations.
As previously described by Morrison (2015) the 23 sub-block EPM 18019 lie south of the
Burdekin Falls Dam (Fig. 1), approximately 180km SSW of Townsville.
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Fig. 1 EPM 18019 looking NNW towards Burdekin Dam (Qld-Globe - GoogleEarth, 2015).
Access from Townsville is via Ravenswood and the Burdekin Falls Dam (when the dam is not
overflowing) or via Bowen and Mt Coolon. A network of roads and station tracks provides
access to the various old mines and prospects (Map 1).
Mining Leases were held over the main historic workings at Pyramid, Walhalla, Carrington and
Sunbeam until 2009 (Fig. 2) and at Whites Hope in the Mt Wyatt area until 2011. This resulted
in virtually no (reported) exploration on some of the best mineralized areas since the mid-1980s.
The DNRM has been contacted attempting to establish production from these leases.

Fig. 2 EPM 18019 Mining Leases current until 2009 (blue). (Farmer, 2009).
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The western 10 sub-blocks of the EPM lie within the RA206 restricted area (Burdekin Falls Dam
Catchment Area). Permission has been granted to undertake low impact activities in this
restricted area. Seven of these sub-blocks are also partly restricted by a Category “B”
Endangered Regional Ecosystem (Map 2).
3. Geology:
The tenement includes a section of the fault-bounded Ordovician Anakie Inlier (NQ Minerals,
2014), and is surrounded by rocks of the volcano-sedimentary Drummond Basin (Map 2). The
older basement sequence is overlain by Carboniferous acid volcanics. The regional geological
setting and mineral potential has previously been described (Morrison, 2015a; Alston, 2014; D
Morrison, 2014).
The area is noted for its widespread gold and polymetallic mineralisation. Its geological setting
over major deep-seated faults remains prospective for major ore bodies. Tate (1989) identified
six types of mineralisation in the area (Fig. 3).

Fig. 3 Sellheim River area cross section cartoon (Tate, 1989).
The majority of the known mineralisation in the western half of the EPM is vein hosted. Many of
the vein systems are located close to the NE trending Pyramid Ring Structure fault. The veins
are hosted by magnetic microgranodiorite (Sunbeam Granodiorite) in the Carrington and
Sunbeam areas, in diorite at Pyramid and in breccia at Birthday Gift.
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In the east the mineralisation is mainly copper and gold which is typically located in skarns and
near granitic contacts. Tate (1989) classified these as early Carboniferous cu-Au skarns related
to dioritic granodiorite.
Interrogation of the GSQ-mapped geological units (Map 3; MinesOnlineMaps, 2015) shows the
following geological units to be present on the EPM:
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4. Work Undertaken February-March 2015.
a. Rock Chip Sampling
87 mainly “niche” rock chip samples of interesting mine mullock and potentially mineralized
outcrop were collected and assayed (Appendix 1 & 2) for a range of elements including Au (Fig.
4), Ag, Cu, Pb, Bi, pathfinders & W/Sn (XRF). XRF assay results for Ta proved unreliable in the
highly mineralized samples.





    "

Fig. 4

Rock chip sample locations and gold assays (g/t Au).

The main lode at the Pyramid mine was inspected and sampled (Fig. 5). Best individual assays
obtained were 254 g/t Ag, 0.75% As, 1% Mn, 1.5%% Pb, 340 ppm Sb, & 2.3% Zn. Jack (1889)
recorded that the lode was over 800m long and had several branches or intersecting lodes
which occurred in dolerite, possibly a shallow dipping sill within sediments. Galena was the
main ore mineral with minor sphalerite and pyrite. The adjacent Venture lode was said to
contain gold and arsenopyrite.

Fig. 5 Pyramid lodes
The Origin Hill area which has anomalous in lead, zinc and silver was visited however no
anomalous assays were encountered in the two rock chip samples.
The Birthday Gift workings (Fig. 6) were sampled and returned the highest silver assay 1020
ppm Ag (32 oz/t) plus 19% Pb and anomalous As (to 0.26%), Mn, Ba and Sb. Copper and zinc
values were low.
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Fig. 6 Sampling old workings at Birthday Gift breccia.
The Daisy mine was mapped (Map 3) and sampled (Fig. 7), however most of the old mine
stockpiles were removed many years ago. High gold assays were obtained from the Daisy with
5 of 20 samples assaying over 2 g/t Au with the highest of 11.4 g/t Au. Other high assays
including 5 to 6% Cu, 1.1% As, silver to 16 oz/t, 0.4%Bi, 4.5% Mn and 0.2%Sb. The lode has a
strike length of over 200m containing two separate high grade ore shoots. Previous shallow
drilling (Morrison, 2015) only produced one ore grade intersection. Despite this the high grades
demonstrate the potential of the system.

Fig. 7

Daisy mine geology No. 3 Shaft (Allen Warry).

The Carrington samples (Fig. 8) included assays up to 7% Cu, 76 g/t Ag, 0.7% Bi, 0.4g/t Au and
2.2% Mn. Samples from the nearby Holy Dollar were disappointing with max. values of only 37
g/t Ag, 0.3 g/t Au and 0.8% As.
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One sample was taken from Walhalla and returned a surprising range of “ore” grade metals
including 10.8 g/t Au, 0.58 % Sn, 0.37% W plus 0.5% Cu and 1.2% Mn, anomalous Ag, As, Bi, &
Pb. This is the first recorded tin occurrence at Ukalunda and needs to be verified in case of
contamination.

Fig. 8 Collapsed Carrington Shaft.
XRF assay for tungsten (W) proved rewarding with a potentially “ore” grade XRF assay of
0.44%W from a sample from a small pit at Rosenthal (Fig. 9) along the Pyramid Ring Structure.
The XRF assays were over four times higher than the aqua regia digestion ICP assays due to
the relative insolubility of the tungsten oxide minerals in acid. Samples also contained up to 56
g/t Ag, elevated As, 0.2% Pb, while one sample assayed 1.1% Bi. Tungsten is usually present
as an oxide which points to the area being the highest temperature mineralisation so far found
on the EPM.

Fig. 9 Rosenthal workings sample site. Mullock sample assayed 0.44% W.
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At Sunbeam, samples from the stockpiles (Fig. 10) assayed up to 13 oz/t Ag in association with
high Ca (max. 10.9%), Cu to 0.3%, Pb to 0.5%, patchy Sb to 0.14% and Mn to 3%. XRF assays
showed that some samples contain high Ba with values up to 19.9% Ba (these samples only
assayed up to 0.1% with acid digest assay). No gold was present.

Fig. 10

Sampling Sunbeam stockpiles (A Werry, S Hirama)

In the central area of the EPM a breccia was reported by the samplers at 522038 E/ 7691787N
in the Polka Dot area, however no significant assays were obtained from rock chip samples.
At White’s Hope the copper mineralisation in the main pit is in a non-magnetic skarn and is
associated with an irregular pyritic porphyry dyke. In the pits the mineralisation is mainly
secondary with malachite and azurite encrusting joints (Figs. 11, 12). . The previous operators
had attempted to smelt the copper ore using a mini roaster. A face sample from the width of the
Western Pit assayed 1.2% Cu, while that from the Central Pit face assayed 3.3% Cu. Max. rock
chip grades were 3.4% Cu and 1.8 g/t Au.

Fig. 11

White’s Hope Western Pit. Secondary azurite and malachite on joint surfaces.
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Fig. 12

White’s Hope Stockpile showing secondary copper minerals both on joints and
disseminated. Scale 10cm.

The Wyatt 1 treatment plant site were visited (Fig. 13) and partially mapped (Map 4) however a
water storage dam now covers much of the central portion of the area. The highest assay from
the mapping and sampling was 0.26 g/t Au from a small dump south of the dam.

Fig. 13

Wyatt 1 treatment plant site looking west from the dam.

b. Stream Sediment Sampling:
Only a small area of the EPM area has been systematically covered by stream sediment
sampling despite long exploration and mining history. Stream sediment sampling of was thus
commenced as part of a larger program proposed in December (Morrison, 2014). A total of 12
broadly spaced samples were collected <0.3m deep from roadsides and near-road locations
(Fig. 15, Appendix 1) and submitted for BCL and Ionic Leach assay. In addition bulk samples
from the sites were collected and have been stored if future panning for heavy minerals is
required.
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BCL assay results successfully located mineralized areas. There was adequate agreement in
anomaly location between the cyanidation and ionic leach assay methods (Maps 5 and 6). The
additional elements supplied by ionic leach will aid exploration. It is thus recommended that infill
stream sediment sampling be completed over the whole EPM using the ionic leach method.
The best Cu-Au stream sediment geochemistry was found in the SE section of the EPM (Fig.
14), where there is no evidence of previous stream sediment sampling. This area which
includes the Duncan’s, White’s Hope, Golden Ridge & Mount Wyatt deposits requires more
work.

Fig. 14

Eastern EPM 18019 stream sediment Ionic Leach Cu (ppb). Note anomalies in
SE.

An unexpected Ag, Cu, Zn, (Mo, Sb) stream sediment anomalous area was found north of
Sunbeam in rocks mapped as Bulgonunna Volcanics (Fig. 15). This needs to be followed up.

Fig. 15

Stream sediment sample sites and Ionic Leach silver (ppb). Arrow shows location
of “new” silver anomaly north of Sunbeam.
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c. 1:1,000 Scale Mapping
Mapping of the mine sites, mullock and stockpiles was undertaken at 1:1,000 scale at Sunbeam,
Daisy, Wyatt 1 and Whites Hope (Maps 4 - 7). This was primarily designed to assist planning of
the sampling and the evaluation of the stockpile volumes. A standard Garmin GPS was used
(GDA94 Zone 55 grid coordinates) for survey control, augmented by laser rangefinder and
compass mapping from fixed locations where tighter control was required.
Mapping the main SE pit at White’s Hope (Map 6, Figs. 16 & 17) located a previously unknown
pyritic porphyry dyke cross-cutting the host skarn. Secondary copper minerals were enriched at
the contacts in favourable beds in the skarn. The porphyry event is likely to be the driving force
behind the mineralization.

Fig. 16

Fig. 17

White’s Hope central pit looking east. White scree from pyritic porphyry dyke
middle distance.

Pale pyritic porphyry dyke cross-cutting skarn, White’s Hope main (SE) pit south
wall. Copper is enriched on both contacts.
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Little outcrop was found during mapping at Sunbeam (Map 5), however weathered alteration
was noted on the remnant hillock (now largely covered by stockpiles) on the western side of the
Burdekin Dam road.
The Daisy (Map 4) appears to have a limited strike length of about 200m; however it is
conceivable that extensions may be masked by soil and alluvium to the ENE and possibly to the
WSW.
d. Stockpile Sampling
In the absence of other information on Sunbeam (Map 5) it was assumed that the large stockpile
immediately SW of the old open pit was the main mullock dump and that the heaps running
south on the western side of the road were low grade run-of-mine (ROM) material from the pit.
The ROM material on the eastern side of the road next to the former treatment plant side was
assumed to be potentially ore grade. The large pile north of the treatment plant mount may have
been residue from the plant. Scott Hirama and Allen Warry undertook systematic sampling of the
stockpiles and mullock at Sunbeam (Fig. 10), Daisy and Whites Hope mines. 50 samples were
allocated to Sunbeam and 15 each to Daisy and White’s Hope. 20 samples were taken from
Sunbeam plant site dumps and 30 on lines 40m apart and on old excavator-disturbed piles on
the western (pit) side of the road. In addition rock chip sampling was undertaken at the Whites
Hope and Wyatt 1 pits.
West of Mt Wyatt, the White’s Hope mine was mapped and stockpiles were sampled (Map 6).
Assays showed copper in the 3 to 5% Cu range with 30-50 g/t Ag and anomalous gold locally up
to 1.8 g/t. The small stockpiles opposite the old treatment plant site are estimated to contain in
the order of 3,000t grading ~1% Cu.
e. Category B Endangered Regional Ecosystem
Additional photographs were taken in the Birthday Gift and Daisy areas to support an application
to explore in the restricted zone associated with the Category B Endangered Regional
Ecosystem and related buffer zone. GPS located photographs were taken of existing
disturbances, old mining activities (Fig. 18), vegetation, etc. to help enable future machine
activities and drilling to be undertaken within the restricted areas.

Fig. 18

Old mines in Cat. B Endangered Regional Ecosystem, 7,688,680N/514,472E.





   "

f.

Literature Searches

Old reports from the former Charters Towers District Geologist Office include details of the old
Daisy, Spaniard, Carrington & Walhalla mines including the mineralogy of samples from the
Walhalla mine (CSIR, 1943).
The Walhalla (Au-Bi) mine operated between 1936 and 1938 and had complex ore.
Metallurgical work by the then CSIR and Melbourne University during the Second World War
(CSIR 1943 tested a parcel of ore and identified pyrite, bismuthinite, specular hematite and rare
gold in a gangue of quartz grains, siderite and chlorite. The ore proved to be amenable for
bismuth recovery by flotation. The mine was re-opened in the late twentieth century (Fig. 19).

Fig. 19

Walhalla 1980s caved in workings; old head frame left rear.

Domeracki, (1995) reported that the Birthday Gift is a milled breccia composed of sediment
clasts which has undergone pervasive sericite-pyrite alteration and silicification. The historical
workings are located along high grade galena veins within the breccia. Wide spaced drilling (13
holes) is reported to have indicated a potential for a medium tonnage- low grade zinc deposit
there, and noted that drilling had identified 4 Mt @ 1.6% Zn with variable silver up to 230 g/t Ag.
The most significant producer was the Sunbeam silver mine which yielded some 600 000
ounces of silver with hand-picked grades of up to 1200 oz/ton (37 kg/tonne) being recorded
(Pyper 2014) with other significant mines being the Carrington, Daisy, Walhalla and Pyramid.
Wolstencroft, (1999) came up with a higher estimate for the Sunbeam of 650,000 oz of silver
production. An additional >200,000 oz of silver is believed to have been produced between
1966 and 1993. The DNRM was contacted to try to establish production figures for the recent
leases however no results have been received.
At Sunbeam underground mining occurred between 1891 and 1923 produced 423,000 oz of
silver from approx. 950t of hand-picked ore (~450 oz/t Ag). Research by Wolstencroft (1999)
found that Smith and Flynn excavated a 16m x 16m x 16m deep open pit in 1986-87 and
shipped 152t of 4.4% Pb, 108 oz/t Ag ore with some Cu, Sb, As. Between 1992 and 1993
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House of Dare Pty Ltd sampled 16 t of material from dumps grading 11 oz/t Ag, 5.3% Pb, 1.9%
Cu and sent it to Port Pirie, S.A. Drilling indicated that the deposit may be open to the south.
Wolstencroft (1999) records that mineragraphic and Scanning Electron Microscope work by
Roger Townend on dump samples from Sunbeam found that the silver is hosted by the copper
mineral tetrahedrite and not galena. The Cu cleaner concentrate contained 36% tetrahedrite (10
to 300 micron grainsize) , 33% pyrite, 6% galena, 3% chalcopyrite, 1% sphalerite and 1%
hematite in a mainly quartz gangue.
Initial flotation tests by Ammtec (Wolstencroft, 1999) on freshly milled sample produced 90.4%
Ag recovery with high concentrate grade of 2.88% silver and recommended flotation as the best
method to concentrate the ore. A subsequent test on “old” fine grained material produced only
33.8% silver recover due to surface oxidation of the sulphides.
Limited available data shows minor (<<10,000 oz) gold production from the Mount Wyatt area
between 1878-1920 and 1941-1960.
5. Evaluation of results
a. Metal zoning within the Project Area
Plotting of the rock chip reconnaissance assays for the western area provided evidence for an
overlapping zoned mineral system. This ranged from lower temperature Pb/Ag/Sb/As
dominated in the WSW at Pyramid and Birthday Gift, through high Cu/Au/Bi at Daisy to Cu/Bi at
Carrington and Bi/W at Rosenthal (Map 10). The lower temperature Ag-Mn-Sb-(Ba) at Sunbeam
deposit lies a further 3.5km ENE; the intervening ground not having yet been systematically
explored. The zonation broadly conforms to trends observed in other granitic-related mineral
zoning such as in Cornwall, UK (Park & MacDiarmid, 1970). Silver is ubiquitous in the veins and
Ba is present at Sunbeam. Daisy appears to have hosted all phases of the mineralization.
The zonation lies NW of and along the Pyramid Ring Structure. It is possible that the
mineralization continues to the west and northwest under the Bulgonunna Volcanics as
suggested by Alston (2014). The key will be to establish whether the Bulgonunna Volcanics are
a thin sheet masking the basement mineralization or a thick pile bounded by a caldera fault. The
geometry of the area suggests that the former is a distinct possibility. This concept may warrant
testing with geophysics &/or drilling through the volcanics.
In the Mount Wyatt region stream sediment drainage geochemistry by Longreach Metals
identified a zonal pattern of base metals associated with the Mt Wyatt tonalitic intrusion (Pyper,
2014).
b. Sunbeam Stockpiles
Wolstencroft (1999) reports that Smith and Flynn obtained the Sunbeam lease in 1986 and
stockpiled approximately 48,000 tons of low grade ore from their 16 x 16m open cut excavation.
This is the material believed to be currently located on the site.
As part of the recent program these stockpiles were mapped by GPS survey (+/- 5-15m) with
visual estimates made of dump heights. Nineteen individual stockpiles were sampled and
ranged in grade from 1 g/t Ag to 302 g/t Ag with a mean of 86 g/t Ag. Individual assays of the 52
ca. 3kg samples ranged from zero to 527 g/t Ag (Map 11) with a mean of 81 g/t Ag. A total of
42% of the samples assayed over 1 oz/t Ag.
Additional (or basic) infill sampling and assaying, including through the stockpiles, augmented by
detailed survey would be required to more accurately establish the tonnage and grade of the
stockpiles. Metallurgical testing would be required to establish likely resource recovery.
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c. Geochemistry
Examination of the XRF tin assays in rock chip samples (Appendix 2) shows anomalous tin up to
381 ppm Sn at Mt Wyatt and 351 ppm at White’s Hope. Although these values are an order of
magnitude below economic grades they are highly anomalous and reinforce the likelihood of an
igneous source for the mineralization in the White’s Hope area. Anomalous tin (108 ppm) was
also found at Birthday Gift, and subsequently an isolated assay of 0.58% Sn was obtained at
Walhalla.
In the Mt Wyatt region the presence of anomalous Bi, Mn and Mo in the rock chip samples
suggests a Permo-Carboniferous porphyry association.
6. Analytical procedures
Geochemical samples were submitted to the Australian Laboratory Service (ALS) commercial
mineral assay laboratory in Townsville. Details below are based on the ALS 2015 website
description.
Sample preparation aims to produce a homogeneous analytical sub-sample that is fully
representative of the material submitted to the laboratory. For rock chip and drill samples the
sample is logged in the tracking system, weighed, dried and finely crushed to better than 70 %
passing a 2 mm (Tyler 9 mesh, US Std. No.10) screen. A split of up to 250 g is taken and
pulverized to better than 85 % passing a 75 micron (Tyler 200 mesh, US Std. No. 200) screen.
For soil and stream sediment samples up to 1kg the entire sample is dried and then dry-sieved
using a 180 micron (Tyler 80 mesh) screen. The plus fraction is retained unless disposal is
requested.
Stream sediment samples were assayed are for Au, Ag & Cu by Bulk Leach Extractable Gold
(BCL) using cyanide leach procedures on large stream sediment samples (up to 3kg). Au, Ag &
Cu were measured is the resultant solution by ICP-MS.
The stream sediment samples were also assayed by Ionic Leach™. This is a static sodium
cyanide leach using the chelating agents ammonium chloride, citric acid and EDTA with the
leachant buffered at an alkaline pH of 8.5. This leach technique was designed by ALS for near
surface soils to enhance the potential to detect and resolve geochemical anomalies for a range
of commodity elements by selectively solubilising metal ions that have been leached from the
primary source, migrated, and then redeposited near the surface. Following some success in a
previous stream sediment program near the Cracow gold mine in Central Queensland by D
Morrison the method was trialed here using a split from the stream sediment samples.
Ionic Leach™ preferentially attacks weakly adsorbed metal ions, metals, associated with
carbonate minerals, and to some extent, metals associated with amorphous Mn and Fe
oxyhydroxides. The presence of EDTA and cyanide means that metals, especially Au and Ag,
are strongly complexed and stay in solution prior to analysis, preventing readsorption to
undigested mineral surfaces.
Rock chip samples were assayed for gold by fire assay and multi-elements by aqua regia digest
ICP/AES.
Rock chip gold was assayed by Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy (AAS) after the prepared
sample is fused with a mixture of lead oxide, sodium carbonate, borax, silica and other reagents
as required, inquarted with 6 mg of gold-free silver and then cupelled to yield a precious metal
bead. The bead is digested in 0.5 mL dilute nitric acid in the microwave oven. 0.5 mL
concentrated hydrochloric acid is then added and the bead is further digested in the microwave
at a lower power setting. The digested solution is cooled, diluted to a total volume of 10 mL with
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de-mineralized water, and analyzed by atomic absorption spectroscopy against matrix-matched
standards.
ICP/AES method digests a prepared sample with aqua regia in a graphite heating block. After
cooling, the resulting solution is diluted to 12.5 mL with deionized water, mixed and analyzed by
inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry. The analytical results are corrected
for inter-element spectral interferences. 35 standard elements are read plus sulphur. In the
majority of geological matrices, data reported from an aqua regia leach should be considered as
representing only the leachable portion of the particular analyte. This is particularly the case
with Sulphur which is assayed to assist location of potentially acid-potential waste in any future
mining operations.
Over range samples were assayed by digestion of prepared samples in 75% aqua regia for 120
minutes. After cooling, the resulting solution is diluted to volume (100 mL) with de-ionized water,
mixed and then analyzed by inductively coupled plasma - atomic emission spectrometry or by
atomic absorption spectrometry. Ultra high concentration samples (> 15 -20%) may require the
use of methods such as titrimetric or gravimetric analysis, in order to achieve maximum
accuracy.
The X-Ray Fluorescence Spectroscopy (XRF) used here assays mix a finely ground sample
powder (10 g minimum) with a few drops of liquid binder (Polyvinyl Alcohol) and then transferred
into an aluminum cap. The sample is subsequently compressed under approximately 30 ton/in in
a pellet press. After pressing, the pellet is dried to remove the solvent and analyzed by WDXRF
spectrometry (ALS, 2105).
7. Work Proposals
a. Drilling
RC drilling proposals were prepared for the Whites Hope copper-gold skarn deposit. A 6 holes
program, on a 40m grid, totaling ~850m at a cost of ~$150,000 was recommended (Fig. 20).

Fig. 20

White’s Hope RC drilling proposal.
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b. Soil Sampling
Following the discovery of previously unknown tungsten mineralisation at Rosenthal the
geological and aeromagnetic maps of the area were checked. As can be seen on Figs. 21 & 22
the zone along the Pyramid Ring Structure is underlain by magnetic Sunbeam Granodiorite, the
host to much of the mineralization in the area.
It is proposed to undertake soil geochemical sampling, prospecting, rock chip sampling and
geological mapping along this Rosenthal Extended trend (Fig. 23). Work proposed includes soil
grid lines 400m apart over 3.2km of strike north-east with soil samples each 40m, closing to 20m
near indications of mineralization (Morrison, 2015).
Part of the work would include establishing the mineralogy of the tungsten mineralization. If it is
scheelite outcropping ore might be prospected for using UV lamp. Field XRF prospecting may
also be applicable.

Fig. 21
Rosenthal Extended interpreted metal zoning and proposed soil grid (red) on TMI
aeromagnetic base. Rosenthal prospect rock chip tungsten assays (ppm) in blue, Pyramid Ring
Structure in purple,
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Fig. 22
Rosenthal Extended soil grid proposal (red lines) and GSQ geology along the
Pyramid Ring Structure; prospective magnetic Sunbeam Granodiorite in green, W assays ppm
(blue text).

Fig. 23 Rosenthal Extended. GoogleEarth (2015) oblique view looking SW along proposed grid.
Sunbeam Mine.
Proposed 3.2km grid (blue).
Rosenthal camp.
c. Stream Sediment Sampling
Following the success of the initial orientation sampling it is proposed to complete the original 54
sample coverage (Morrison, 2014) using Ionic Leach assaying, closing to greater density in
areas of interest such as the SE sub-blocks in the Mt Wyatt area (Fig. 24) and along the Pyramid
Ring Structure.
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Fig. 24.

Mount Wyatt area, southeast EPM18019. White’s Hope, Mt William Philpott.
(Qld Globe - GoogleEarth, 2015)
d. Other

It is also recommended to:
x Follow up the silver anomaly north of Sunbeam (Fig.25) with geological prospecting, rock
chip sampling and soil geochemistry.
x Undertake trials of field portable XRF equipment.
x Continue evaluation of open file and other reports on the EPM for additional data and
potential prospects.

Fig. 25

Sunbeam North. Google oblique view looking NNE over anomalous silver
stream-sediment sites (Qld Globe - GoogleEarth, 2015).

8. Conclusions & Recommendations:
Regional mullock and rock chip sampling at old mine sites showed that silver mineralization is
ubiquitous where mineralization occurs on the EPM. The polymetallic veins in the western half
of the EPM display an overlapping mineral zonation pattern from distal Ag/Pb/Sb/As through AuBi-Cu to W/Bi.
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Potentially ore-grade tungsten assays were found in the little explored zone at Rosenthal. Soil
sampling and prospecting is proposed over 3 km of untested strike length to establish the
potential of this area.
At Sunbeam approximately 40,000t of stockpiles estimated to average over 2 oz/t silver were
mapped plus over 150,000t of dumps with patchy low grade silver.
In the south east of the EPM anomalous Cu/Au/Ag stream sediments warrant follow-up including
the location, sampling and mapping of the known Cu/Au mineralization in the Golden Ridge area
High copper assays were found at Whites Hope in previously mined shallow pits in the
secondary zone. Mapping there located pyritic porphyry in the central pit. This PermoCarboniferous porphyry is likely to be the driver of the copper-gold mineralization. A six hole,
850m reverse circulation drilling program is proposed to test the primary mineralization.
Ionic Leach stream sediment orientation sampling correlated with conventional bulk cyanide
leach assaying and located a previously unknown silver anomaly north of Sunbeam. It is
recommended that the stream sediment sampling recommended last December be completed
and infilled where appropriate.
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Map 1
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EPM 18019 SPOT satellite image 2012 (Mines Online Maps, 2015).



Map 2



   "

EPM18019 Old Mines, tracks, Category B environmental restricted zones (red shapes), 500m buffer (purple dashed) with
proposed stream sediment sampling sites.



Map 3
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EPM 18019 GSQ Geology geology with tracks from satellite image (brown dashed lines), Pyramid Ring Structure (purple
dashed line), and old mines.
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1:1,000 mapping, Daisy.
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1:1,000 mapping, Sunbeam.




Map 6
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1:1,000 mapping, White’s Hope.




Map 7
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1:1,000 mapping, Wyatt 1.
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Eastern EPM 18019 stream sediment BCL Au anomalies (ppm).
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Southeastern EPM 18019 stream sediment Ionic Leach Au anomalies (ppb)



Map 10
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Metal zoning interpretation, western EPM 18019 on GSQ geology base map.
Rock chip sample sites blue stars, drill holes yellow dots.
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Sunbeam stockpile silver assays (g/t) and dump numbers.
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ASSAY CERTIFICATES
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APPENDIX 3

JORC Tables on Reporting of Sampling Techniques, Data, and Exploration Results

JORC Table 1

Section 1.

Reporting of Sampling Techniques and Data


Criteria

Sampling
techniques

JORC Code explanation

Commentary

x
Nature and quality of sampling (e.g. cut
channels, random chips, or specific specialised
industry standard measurement tools
appropriate to the minerals under investigation,
such as down hole gamma sondes, or handheld
XRF instruments, etc). These examples should
not be taken as limiting the broad meaning of
sampling.

BCL stream sediments samples were 2mm from trap sites from the main
channels. Ionic leach stream sediments
were split in the laboratory from the BCL
samples.
Rock chip samples collected of
quartz vein mullock and float /
subcrop / outcrop. These were
selected “niche” samples to identify
more highly mineralized areas.
Stockpile / run-of-mine samples
collected at 2 to 5m intervals in as
unbiased a manner as possible;
see text for details.

x

Include reference to measures
taken to ensure sample representivity
and the appropriate calibration of any
measurement tools or systems used.

x

Aspects of the determination of
mineralisation that are Material to the Public
Report.

Veins, which may have variable
distribution within the sampled
interval, contain most of the known
mineralization in the western area. In
the east skarn mineralisation is
variable in distribution..

x

In cases where 'industry standard' work
has been done this would be relatively
simple (eg 'reverse circulation drilling was
used to obtain 1 m samples from which 3 kg
was pulverised to produce a 30 g charge for
fire assay'). In other cases more explanation
may be required, such as where there is
coarse gold that has inherent sampling
problems. Unusual commodities or
mineralisation types (eg submarine nodules)
may warrant disclosure of detailed
f
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Drilling
techniques

x

Drill type (eg core, reverse circulation,
open-hole hammer, rotary air blast, auger,
Bangka, sonic, etc) and details (eg core
diameter, triple or standard tube, depth of
diamond tails, face-sampling bit or other
type, whether core is oriented and if so, by
what method, etc).

No drill samples.

x

Method of recording and assessing
core and chip sample recoveries and
results assessed.

Drill
sample
recovery

Logging

x

Measures taken to maximise sample
recovery and ensure representative nature
of the samples.
x
Whether a relationship exists between
sample recovery and grade and whether
sample bias may have occurred due to
preferential loss/gain of fine/coarse material.

.

x

Whether core and chip samples have
been geologically and geotechnically logged
to a level of detail to support appropriate
Mineral Resource estimation, mining studies
and metallurgical studies.

x

Whether logging is qualitative or
quantitative in nature. Core (or
costean, channel, etc) photography.

.

Commentary

JORC Code explanation

Criteria

x The total length and percentage of the
relevant intersections logged.
x If core, whether cut or sawn and whether
quarter, half or all core taken.
x If non-core, whether riffled, tube sampled,
Sub- sampling rotary split, etc and whether sampled wet or
dry.
techniques
and
x For all sample types, the nature, quality
and appropriateness of the sample
sample
preparation technique.
preparation
x Quality control procedures adopted for all
sub-sampling stages to maximise
representivity of samples.

x Measures taken to ensure that the
sampling is representative of the in situ
material collected, including for instance
results for field duplicate/second-half sampling.
x

Whether sample sizes are appropriate
to the grain size of the material being
sampled.

Standard industry sampling. Laboratory
sample preparation undertaken by ALSGlobal quality managed systems to ISO
standards.

Laboratory sample preparation undertaken
by ALS-Global quality managed systems.

No duplicates were collected in this
preliminary sampling exercise.

Sample sizes are considered appropriate
for the majority of the material collected,
however gold and tungsten in higher
grade samples may require larger sample
size when more details of mineral grain
size are established.
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x

The nature, quality and appropriateness
of the assaying and laboratory procedures
used and whether the technique is
considered partial or total.
l

Quality of
assay data
and laboratory
tests

The BCL assay methods (ALS Au-CN12)
AA26 & ME-ICP41) used by ALS Global
Laboratories is standard for the industry
with ~2kg of sample cyanided. Ionic
Leach is an experimental stream
sediment technique used for orientation
purposes. Acid digest assay for W, Sn,
Ba, and Ta are not suitable and required
XRF assay. Ta values could not be
established due to interference from
other elements in highly mineralized
samples.

x

For geophysical tools, spectrometers,
handheld XRF instruments, etc, the
parameters used in determining the analysis
including instrument make, model, reading
times, calibrations factors applied &
derivation, etc.
x
Nature of quality control procedures
adopted (e.g. standards, blanks,
duplicates, external laboratory checks) and
whether acceptable levels of accuracy (i.e.
lack of bias) and precision have been
established.

x

The verification of significant
intersections by either independent or
alternative company personnel.

Verification of

x

sampling and
assaying

No independent verification yet undertaken.

n.a.

The use of twinned holes.

x

Documentation of primary data, data
entry procedures, data verification, data
storage (physical and electronic) protocols.

XRF assays were accepted as the assay
value where available.

Accuracy and quality of surveys used to
locate drill holes (collar and down-hole
surveys), trenches, mine workings and other
locations used in Mineral Resource
estimation.

Geological, rock chip and other points
by standard GPS coordinates. Mullock
volumes were estimated based on GPS
surveyed areas, visual height estimates
and tonnages assuming 2.5 t/m3.

x

x

Specification of the grid system used.

All surveys were MGA Zone55 (GDA94).

JORC Code explanation

Criteria

Commentary

x Quality and adequacy of topographic
control.

Regional topographic contours.

x

Data spacing for reporting of Exploration
Results.
Data
spacing
and
distribution

Field data was recorded on paper sheets
and subsequently entered digitally on
computer. Both hard and digital copy are
filed. No data verification yet undertaken.

Discuss any adjustment to assay data.

x

Location of
data points

ALS Global completed their own QAQC
procedures. No significant bias in the
assays was noted.

x
Whether the data spacing and distribution is
sufficient to establish the degree of geological
and grade continuity appropriate for the Mineral
Resource and Ore Reserve estimation
procedure(s) and classifications applied.

Samples on the western Sunbeam
Stockpile / run-of-mine heaps were E-W
on traverses 40m apart. Conical dumps
were sampled at old excavator sites
where available
Geological and grade continuity
has not yet been established.
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x
Whether sample compositing has been
applied.

Not undertaken.

x

Whether the orientation of sampling
achieves unbiased sampling of possible
structures and the extent to which this is
known, considering the deposit type.

Orientation
of data in
relation to
geological
structure

“Niche” rock chip samples are
collected to locate better mineralised
veins. They do not represent actual
average metal content of the
particular veins.

x

If the relationship between the drilling
orientation and the orientation of key
mineralised structures is considered to have
introduced a sampling bias, this should be
assessed and reported if material.

x

Sample
security

Standard sample security protocols were
observed. Only site and ALS staff had
access to the samples which were
promptly despatched to the Laboratory in
company vehicles.

The measures taken to ensure sample
security.

.
Audits or
reviews

n.a.

No audits or reviews have yet been
completed.

The results of any audits or reviews of

sampling techniques and data.










    "

Section 2.
Criteria

Mineral
tenement and
land tenure
status

Exploration
done by other
parties

Reporting of Exploration Results

JORC Code explanation

Commentary

Circle Resources Pty Ltd owns 100% of EPM
Type, reference name/number, location
18019.
and ownership including agreements or material
issues with third parties such as joint ventures,
partnerships, overriding royalties, native title
interests, historical sites, wilderness or national
park and environmental settings.
x
The security of the tenure held at the time
The tenements are in good standing and no
of reporting along with any known impediments known impediments exist apart from the RA
to obtaining a licence to operate in the area.
206 and the Category B Endangered
Regional Ecosystems in the western subblocks.

x

Acknowledgment and appraisal of
exploration by other parties.

Exploration was completed by Map to Mine
personnel following on from previous work
by historic explorers. Previous exploration
of the area is acknowledged.

x

Deposit type, geological setting and style
of mineralisation.

Geology

The mineralisation anticipated is
variously intrusive related zoned
polymetallic vein systems, breccia
pipes, pipe-like oreshoots, skarn
Cu-Au-Ag mineralisation,
mesothermal to epithermal vein
mineralisation.

x

A summary of all information material to
the understanding of the exploration results
including a tabulation of the following
information for all Material drill holes:

Drill hole
Information

o

easting and northing of the drill hole collar

n.a.

o elevation or RL (Reduced Level — elevation
above sea level in metres) of the drill hole collar
o

dip and azimuth of the hole

o

down hole length and interception depth

o

hole length.

x

Data
aggregation
methods

If the exclusion of this information is
justified on the basis that the information is not
Material and this exclusion does not detract
from the understanding of the report, the
Competent Person should clearly explain why
this is the case.
x
In reporting Exploration Results, weighting
averaging techniques, maximum and/or
minimum grade truncations (e.g. cutting of high
grades) and cut-off grades are usually Material
and should be stated.
x
Where aggregate intercepts incorporate
short lengths of high grade results and longer
lengths of low grade results, the procedure used
for such aggregation should be stated and some
typical examples of such aggregations should
be shown in detail.
x
The assumptions used for any reporting of
metal equivalent values should be clearly
stated.

Not applicable.
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These relationships are particularly
important in the reporting of Exploration Results.

Relationship
between
mineralisation
widths and
intercept
lengths

x

If the geometry of the mineralisation with
respect to the drill hole angle is known, its
nature should be reported.

If it is not known and only the down hole
lengths are reported, there should be a clear
statement to this effect (e.g. 'down hole length,
true width not known').

Criteria

JORC Code explanation

Commentary

Appropriate maps and sections (with scales)
and tabulations of intercepts should be
included for any significant discovery being
reported These should include, but not be
limited to a plan view of drill hole collar
locations and appropriate sectional views.

Diagrams

Where comprehensive reporting of all
Exploration Results is not practicable,
representative reporting of both low and high
grades and/or widths should be practiced to
avoid misleading reporting of Exploration
Results.

Balanced
reporting

Other exploration data, if meaningful and
material, should be reported including (but not
limited to): geological observations;
geophysical survey results; geochemical survey
results; bulk samples — size and method of
treatment; metallurgical test results; bulk
density, groundwater, geotechnical and rock
characteristics; potential deleterious or
contaminating substances.

Other
substantive
exploration
data

All assays received are reported.

No bulk samples or feasibility
characterization has yet been
undertaken. No significant quantities
of deleterious or contaminating
substances have been detected.

The nature and scale of planned further work
(e.g. tests for lateral extensions or depth
extensions or large-scale step-out drilling).
Further
work

-

Diagrams clearly highlighting the areas of
possible extensions, including the main
geological interpretations and future drilling
areas, provided this information is not
commercially sensitive.
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APPENDIX 4

COMPETENT PERSON STATEMENT

Competent Person Statement for this report is:

7KH LQIRUPDWLRQ LQ WKLV UHSRUW WKDW UHODWHV WR H[SORUDWLRQ UHVXOWV LV EDVHG RQ LQIRUPDWLRQ
FRPSLOHG E\ 0U 5REHUW -DPHV 0RUULVRQ DQ HPSOR\HH RI 0DS WR 0LQH 3W\ /WG FRQWUDFWHG
E\WR140LQHUDOV3W\/WG&LUFOH5HVRXUFHV3W\/WG0U0RUULVRQKDVDQ06FGHJUHHDQG
',& LQ 0LQHUDO ([SORUDWLRQ IURP ,PSHULDO &ROOHJH /RQGRQ 8QLYHUVLW\ DQG KROGV D
)HOORZVKLS 'LSORPD LQ *HRORJ\ IURP 5R\DO 0HOERXUQH ,QVWLWXWH RI 7HFKQRORJ\  +H LV D
)HOORZ DQG &KDUWHUHG 3URIHVVLRQDO *HRORJ\  RI WKH $XVWUDODVLDQ ,QVWLWXWH RI 0LQLQJ DQG
0HWDOOXUJ\ 0HPEHU 1R   D 0HPEHU RI WKH $XVWUDOLDQ ,QVWLWXWH RI *HRVFLHQWLVWV
0HPEHU1R DQGD)HOORZRIWKH$VVRFLDWLRQRI$SSOLHG*HRFKHPLVWV 0HPEHU1R
   0U 0RUULVRQ KDV VXIILFLHQW UHOHYDQW H[SHULHQFH LQ UHVSHFW RI WKH VW\OH RI
PLQHUDOL]DWLRQWKHW\SHRIGHSRVLWXQGHUFRQVLGHUDWLRQDQGWKHDFWLYLW\EHLQJXQGHUWDNHQWR
TXDOLI\DVD&RPSHWHQW3HUVRQIRUUHSRUWLQJRIH[SORUDWLRQUHVXOWVZLWKLQWKHGHILQLWLRQRIWKH
 (GLWLRQ RI WKH -25& &RGH ³$XVWUDODVLDQ &RGH IRU 5HSRUWLQJ RI ([SORUDWLRQ 5HVXOWV
0LQHUDO5HVRXUFHVDQG2UH5HVHUYHV´
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APPENDIX 5

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND WARRANTY

1.
Subject to 2, the mining tenement holder acknowledges that this report, including the
material, information and data incorporated in it, has been made under the direction or control of
the State of Queensland (the State) within the meaning of section 176 of the Copyright Act 1968
(Cwlth).

2.
To the extent that copyright in any material included in this report is not owned by the State,
the mining tenement holder warrants that it has the full legal right and authority to grant, and does
hereby grant, to the State, subject to any confidentiality obligation undertaken by the State, the
right to do (including to authorise any other person to do) any act in the copyright, including to:
o

use;

o

reproduce;

o

publish; or

o
communicate in electronic form to the public, such material, including any data and
information included in the material.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 26 MAY 2015
The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the period ended 26 May 2015.
Principal activities
The company was incorporated on 14 April 2015 and was set up as a holding company for NQ Minerals
Pty Limited (“NQ”), a company registered and operating in Australia. NQ is an Australian-based

exploration and mining company, focusing on projects where past exploration work has established
the presence of mineral occurrences. The Company’s management team has decades of experience
in the exploration and production of gold, silver and a variety of base metals.
Fair review of the business
The company did not trade during the period.
NQ Minerals Limited acquired its 100% interest in NQ Minerals Pty Limited by way of a share for share
exchange as disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements.
Principal risks and uncertainties
There are no principal risks and uncertainties at the moment as the company has not commenced trading.
The only assets on the company are its investment in the wholly owned subsidiary NQ Minerals Pty Limited
which was purchased and fully paid for by the issue of shares.
Key performance indicators
There are no key performance indicators for this period as the company has not commenced trading.
Future developments
The company is in the process of being re-registered to a public limited company and is applying for its
shares to be admitted for trading on the ISDX Growth Market.
Results and dividends
There are no results to report for the period.
Directors
The following directors have held office since 14 April 2015:
Mr W D Doyle
Mr B. Stockbridge
Mr K J Doyle

(Appointed 14 April 2015)
(Appointed 14 April 2015)
(Appointed 14 April 2015, resigned 14 April 2015)

Directors’ interests
At the date of this report the directors did not have a beneficial interest in the ordinary share capital.
Substantial interests
As at 9 July 2015 the following had an interest of 3% or more in the ordinary share capital of the company:
Ordinary
shares
No.
11,531,000
10,000,000
98,750,000

Beaufort Nominees Limited
Blue Doe Gold Plc
Tarver Partners INC



DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 26 MAY 2015 (CONTINUED)
Financial risk and management of capital
There are no major balances and financial risks to which the company is exposed given that the company
has not commenced to trade and the controls in place to minimise those risks, are disclosed in Note 4. The
only asset of the business is its investment in a wholly owned subsidiary NQ Minerals Pty Limited which
has been acquired by way of a share for share exchange. There are no other financial instruments
currently employed by the company.
A description of how the company manages its capital is disclosed in Note 5.
The directors consider and review these risks on a strategic and day-to-day basis in order to minimise any
potential exposure.
Financial instruments
The company has not entered into any financial instruments to hedge against interest rate or exchange rate
risk.
Auditors
Jeffreys Henry LLP were appointed auditors to the company and in accordance with section 485 of the
Companies Act 2006, a resolution proposing that they be re-appointed will be put at a General Meeting.
Statement of directors' responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted for use in the European Union. Under company law the directors
must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing these
financial statements, the directors are required to:
-

-

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether the company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as
adopted by the European Union subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
Financial Statements.;
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the company. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
Statement of disclosure to auditors
Each person who is a Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report confirms that:
- So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors
are unaware; and
- each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as Director in order to make himself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that
information.
On behalf of the board

Mr B Stockbridge
Director



9 July 2015

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF NQ MINERALS LIMITED
We have audited the financial statements of NQ Minerals Limited for the period from incorporation to 26
May 2015 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial position,
Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union.
This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities set out on page 3, the Directors
are responsible for the preparation of the company financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the Directors report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become
aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our
report.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
-

give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 26 May 2015 and of its results
for the period then ended;

-

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

-

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF NQ MINERALS LIMITED (CONTINUED)
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us
to report to you if, in our opinion:
- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or
- certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Sanjay Parmar
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of
Jeffreys Henry LLP (Statutory Auditors)
Finsgate 5-7 Cranwood Street
London
EC1V 9EE

Date: 9 July 2015



STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 26 MAY 2015
Notes

Period ended
26 May 2015
£

Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

-

ņņņņņņņ
-

Gross profit

-

Administrative expenses

ņņņņņņņ
-

Operating Profit

ņņņņņņņ
-

Finance costs
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

-

Income tax expense

ņņņņņņņ
ņņņņņņņ

Profit for the year

-

Profit per share (expressed in pence per share)

ņņņņņņņ

The notes on pages 9 to 13 form part of these financial statements.



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 26 MAY 2015
Notes

2015
£

Assets
Fixed Assets
7

Investments

7,292,760

ņņņņņņņ
7,292,760
_________

Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued share capital
Merger relief reserve

8

Total equity
Total liabilities

121,546
7,171,214
ņņņņņņņ
7,292,760
)
-

ņņņņņņņ
7,292,760
_________

Total equity and liabilities

The notes on pages 9 to 13 form part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 9 July 2015

Mr B Stockbridge
Director

Company Registration No. 09540926



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 26 MAY 2015
Ordinary
Shares
£
At 14 April 2015
Issue of consideration shares to acquire
subsidiary
Result for the period
At 26 May 2015

Merger relief
reserve
£

Total
£

-

-

-

121,546

7,171,214

7,292,760

ņņņņņņ
121,546
ņņņņņņ

ņņņņņņ
7,171,214
ņņņņņņ

ņņņņņņ
7,292,760
ņņņņņņ

Share capital is the amount subscribed for shares at nominal value.
The merger relief reserve arises from the 100% acquisition of NQ Minerals Pty Limited on 25 May 2015
whereby the excess of the fair value of the issued ordinary share capital issued over the nominal value of
these shares is transferred to this reserve in accordance with section 612 of the Companies Act 2006.
The notes on pages 9 to 13 form part of these financial statements.



STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 26 MAY 2015
Notes
Operating loss
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Net cash outflow from operations
Interest paid
Interest received
Net cash outflow from operating activities

2015
£
ņņņņņņ
ņņņņņņ
-

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in subsidiary

1

ņņņņņņ

Cash flows from financing activities
Share issues

1

ņņņņņņ

Increase/(decrease) in cash and equivalents

-

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

ņņņņņņ
ņņņņņņ

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

1.

Non-cash transactions
During the period, the company issued 121,546,000 Ordinary shares with a fair value of £7,292,760 to
acquire a subsidiary in a non-cash transaction. Refer to Note 7 for further details.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 26 MAY 2015
1

General information
NQ Minerals Limited is a company incorporated in United Kingdom. The address of the registered
office is disclosed on the company information page at the front of the annual report. The company did
not trade during the accounting period.
The company is a private limited company and is in the process of being re-registered to a public
limited company prior to applying for admission to trade on the ISDX Growth Market.

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS. IFRS comprises of standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) and the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by the European Union (EU).
Preparation of financial statements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying
the company’s accounting policies. Areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed with
note 3.
New and amended standards adopted by the Company
The company has adopted the following new and amended IFRSs as of 26 May 2015:
There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial period
beginning on or after 14 May 2015 that would be expected to have a material impact on the company.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 26 MAY 2015
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective
The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued, but are
not effective for the financial period beginning 14 May 2015 and have not been early adopted:
Reference

Title

IFRS 14

Regulatory
accounts
Revenue from
with customers

IFRS 15

Amendments
to IFRS 11
Amendments
to IAS 16 and
IAS 41
Amendments
to IAS 16 and
IAS 38
Amendments
to IAS 27
Amendments
to IFRS 10
and IAS 28
Amendments
to IFRS 10
and IAS 28
Amendments
to IAS 1
Improvements
to IFRS 5
Improvements
to IFRS 7
Improvements
to IAS 19
Improvements
to IAS 34
IFRS 9

Summary

deferral
contracts

Joint arrangements
IAS 16: Property plant and
equipment and IAS 41:
Agriculture
Intangible Assets

Separate
financial
statements
IFRS
10:Consolidated
financial and IAS 28:
Investments in Associates
IFRS
10:Consolidated
financial and IAS 28:
Investments in Associates
Presentation of Financial
statements
Non current assets held for
sale
and
discontinued
operations
Financial instruments
Employee benefits
Interim financial reporting
Financial instruments

Application date of
standard (Periods
commencing on or
after)
1 January 2016

Aims to enhance the comparability of financial
reporting by entities subject to rate-regulations
Specifies how and when to recognise revenue from
contracts as well as requiring more information and
relevant disclosures.
On acquisitions of interest in joint operations

1 January 2016

On Bearer plants

1 January 2016

Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation
and amortisation

1 January 2016

Equity method in separate financial statements

1 January 2016

Investment
exception

consolidation

1 January 2016

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture

1 January 2016

Disclosure initiative

1 January 2016

Methods of disposal

1 January 2016

Disclosures on servicing contracts and interim
financial statements
Determining the discount rates for post-employment
obligations
Information disclosed elsewhere in the interim
financial report
Requirements on the classification and measurement
of financial assets and liabilities and includes an
expected credit losses model which replaces the
current incurred loss impairment model.
Also includes the hedging amendment that was issued
in 2013

1 January 2016

entities:

Applying

the

1 January 2017

1 January 2016
1 January 2016
1 January 2018

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these standard and the interpretations in future period will
have no material impact on the financial statements of the company.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 26 MAY 2015
2.2 Going concern
The directors, at the time of approving the financial statements, have a reasonable expectation that
the company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial
statements.
2.3 Investments in subsidiaries
Investments are held as non-current assets at cost less any provision for impairment. Where the
recoverable amount of the investment is less than the carrying amount of the investment an
impairment is recognised.
2.4 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
3

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The company makes certain estimates and assumptions regarding the future. Estimates and
judgements are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In the
future, actual experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below:
(a) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
The directors have reviewed the carrying amount of investments and have not identified any
indicators of impairment, particularly as the acquisition was close to the period end. An
impairment review has not been carried out as the directors believe the recoverable amount
exceeds the carrying amount of the investment.

4

Financial risk management

4.1 Financial risk factors
The company has not commenced trading and has not incurred any expenses. Its only asset is the
investment in its wholly owned subsidiary which has acquired by the issue of shares.
(a) Credit risk
The company has no exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that the counterparty will be unable
to pay amounts in full when due.
(b) Cash flow and Interest rate risk
The company does not have any borrowings. The company does not manage any cash flow
interest rate risk.
(c) Liquidity risk
There is no liquidity risk applicable as the company does not have any short term assets which it
needs to realise in order to meet liabilities.
(d) Capital risk
The company takes great care to protect its capital investments. Significant due diligence is
undertaken prior to making any investment. The investment is closely monitored.
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4
Financial risk management (Continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(e) Market risk
The company has not commenced trading and its investment is in a wholly owned subsidiary
operating overseas which has been fully paid for by the issue of shares. A general economic
downturn at a global level, or in one of the world’s leading economies, could impact on the
company. In addition, terrorism and other hostilities, as well as disturbances in worldwide financial
markets, could have a negative effect on the company. Regulatory requirements, taxes, tariffs and
other trade barriers, price or exchange controls or other governmental policies could also limit the
company's operations. These risks are also applicable to most companies and the risk that
company will be more affected than the majority of companies is assessed as small.
(f) Price risk
The company is not currently exposed to price risk.
5

Capital risk management
The company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the company’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure appropriate for its growth plans.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Company may issue new shares or alter debt
levels.

6

Dividends
No dividends were paid or proposed for the period to 26 May 2015.

7

Investments in subsidiaries
2015
£
7,292,760

Shares in group undertakings
Beginning of the period
Additions in the period

ņņņņņņņ
7,292,760
ņņņņņņņ

As at 26 May 2015

Investments in group undertakings are recorded at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration
paid.
On 25th May 2015, the company acquired 100% of the share capital of NQ Minerals Pty Limited by a
share for share exchange. The fair value of the 121,546,000 ordinary shares issued as consideration
had a fair value equal of £7,292,760. Details of the price and consideration are as set out below:
£
7,292,760

121,546,000 ordinary shares of £0.001 at a fair value of £0.06

The company’s investments at the reporting date in the share capital of companies include the
following:
Subsidiary undertaking

Country
of
Incorporation

Principal
activity

Class
of
share

NQ Minerals Pty Limited

Australia

Assets held for
exploration

Ordinary



%
Owned

100

Circle
Resources
Limited*

Pty

Australia

Assets held for
exploration

Ordinary

100

* held by way of the company’s investment in NQ Minerals Pty Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 26 MAY 2015
8

Ordinary share capital
2015
£
Allotted, called up and fully paid
121,546
ņņņņņņņ

121,546,000 Ordinary shares of £0.001 each

On incorporation the company issued 1 ordinary share of £1.
On 25 May 2015 the company’s 1 ordinary share was subdivided into 1,000 shares of £0.001
each.
On 25 May 2015 the company issued 121,545,000 ordinary shares of £0.001 each.
The fair value of the 121,546,000 ordinary shares issued to acquire a subsidiary has been
disclosed within note 7.
9

Control
The ultimate controlling party is Tarver Partners Inc, by virtue of its 82% shareholding in the company.

10

Contingent liabilities
The Company has no contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims arising from the ordinary course of
business.

11

Capital commitments
There was no capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred.
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7KH GLUHFWRUV SUHVHQW WKHLU UHSRUW WRJHWKHU ZLWK WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV RQ WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ UHIHUUHG
WR KHUHDIWHU DV WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ FRQVLVWLQJ RI 14 0LQHUDOV 3W\ /WG UHIHUUHG WR KHUHDIWHU DV WKH
FRPSDQ\ RU SDUHQW HQWLW\ DQG WKH HQWLW\ LW FRQWUROOHG DW WKH HQG RI RU GXULQJ WKH  PRQWK SHULRG HQGHG 
'HFHPEHU
'LUHFWRUV
7KH IROORZLQJ SHUVRQV ZHUH GLUHFWRUV RI WKH &RPSDQ\ GXULQJ WKH ZKROH RI WKH ILQDQFLDO SHULRG DQG XS WR WKH
GDWHRIWKLVUHSRUWXQOHVVRWKHUZLVHVWDWHG
.HYLQ-RVHSK'R\OH
:DOWHU'DQLHO'R\OH
%ULDQ6WRFNEULGJH

$SSRLQWHGRQ6HSWHPEHU
$SSRLQWHGRQ6HSWHPEHU
$SSRLQWHGRQ2FWREHU

3ULQFLSDO$FWLYLWLHV
7KH SULQFLSDO REMHFWLYHV DQG DFWLYLWLHV RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ GXULQJ WKH \HDU FRQVLVWHG RI DFTXLULQJ
H[SORUDWLRQDVVHWVDQGH[SORUDWLRQIRUYDULRXVPLQHUDOVLQ4XHHQVODQG
'LYLGHQGV
7KHUHZHUHQRGLYLGHQGVSDLGUHFRPPHQGHGRUGHFODUHGGXULQJWKHFXUUHQWILQDQFLDOSHULRG
5HYLHZRI2SHUDWLRQV
7KHORVVIRUWKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\DIWHUSURYLGLQJIRULQFRPHWD[DPRXQWHGWR
6LJQLILFDQW&KDQJHVLQWKH6WDWHRI$IIDLUV
2Q  2FWREHU  14 0LQHUDOV 3W\ /WG DFTXLUHG  RI WKH RUGLQDU\ VKDUHV RI &LUFOH 5HVRXUFHV 3W\ /WG
IRUWKHWRWDOFRQVLGHUDWLRQWUDQVIHUUHGRI
2Q  $XJXVW  14 0LQHUDOV LVVXHG  VKDUHV WR %OXH 'RH *ROG 3OF LQ UHVSHFW RI WKUHH
WHQHPHQWVDFTXLVLWLRQLH7KH%OXH'RH(DJOH+DZNDQG(GZDUG
2Q  -XQH  (30  8NDOXQGD ZDV DSSURYHG E\ WKH 4XHHQVODQG *RYHUQPHQW DQG DQ
H[SORUDWLRQSHUPLWZDVUHFHLYHG
7KHUH ZHUH QR RWKHU VLJQLILFDQW FKDQJHV LQ WKH VWDWH RI DIIDLUV RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ GXULQJ WKH ILQDQFLDO
SHULRG
0DWWHUV6XEVHTXHQWWRWKH(QGRIWKH)LQDQFLDO\HDU
6XEVHTXHQW WR WKH \HDU HQG D WRWDO RI  VKDUHV ZHUH LVVXHG E\ WKH SDUHQW HQWLW\ RI WKH *URXS ZKLFK
LQFOXGHG  VKDUHV LVVXHG DW  RQ  )HEUXDU\   VKDUHV LVVXHG DW  RQ  0D\
 DQG  VKDUHV LVVXHG DW  RQ  0D\  IRU D WRWDO DPRXQW RI  6KDUHV
LVVXHG UDLVHG FDVK SURFHHGV RI  DIWHU DOORZLQJ IRU D VKDUH EDVHG SD\PHQW DPRXQWLQJ WR 
DQGFRQYHUVLRQRIDOLDELOLW\WRHTXLW\DPRXQWLQJWR
2Q  0D\  DOO WKH VKDUHV RI WKH SDUHQW HQWLW\ RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG JURXS ZHUH WUDQVIHUUHG E\ LWV
VKDUHKROGHUV WR 14 0LQHUDOV /LPLWHG LQ H[FKDQJH IRU DQ HTXLYDOHQW SURSRUWLRQDWH HTXLW\ KROGLQJ LQ WKDW
FRPSDQ\ 7KH SDUHQW HQWLW\ LV QRZ ZKROO\ RZQHG E\ 14 0LQHUDOV /LPLWHG D FRPSDQ\ GRPLFLOHG LQ WKH 8QLWHG
.LQJGRP
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0DWWHUV6XEVHTXHQWWRWKH(QGRIWKH)LQDQFLDO\HDU FRQW G
1R RWKHU PDWWHUV RU FLUFXPVWDQFHV KDYH DULVHQ VLQFH  'HFHPEHU  WKDW KDV VLJQLILFDQWO\ DIIHFWHG RU
PD\ VLJQLILFDQWO\ DIIHFW WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V RSHUDWLRQV WKH UHVXOWV RI WKRVH RSHUDWLRQV RU WKH
FRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\ VVWDWHRIDIIDLUVLQIXWXUHILQDQFLDO\HDUV
/LNHO\'HYHORSPHQWV
,QIRUPDWLRQ RQ OLNHO\ GHYHORSPHQWV LQ WKH RSHUDWLRQV RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ DQG WKH H[SHFWHG UHVXOWV RI
RSHUDWLRQV KDYH QRW EHHQ LQFOXGHG LQ WKLV UHSRUW EHFDXVH WKH GLUHFWRUV EHOLHYH LW ZRXOG EH OLNHO\ WR UHVXOW LQ
XQUHDVRQDEOHSUHMXGLFHWRWKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\
(QYLURQPHQWDO5HJXODWLRQV
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\¶V PLQHUDO WHQHPHQWV DUH UHJXODWHG E\ WKH VWDWH RI 4XHHQVODQG DQG KDYH PHW DOO
VWDWXWRU\(QYLURQPHQWDO3URWHFWLRQ$FW (3$ UHTXLUHPHQWVWRGDWH
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V RSHUDWLRQV DUH VXEMHFW WR YDULRXV HQYLURQPHQWDO UHJXODWLRQV LQ UHVSHFW RI LWV
RSHUDWLRQV DQG HYDOXDWLRQ DQG GHYHORSPHQW DFWLYLWLHV XQGHU WKH ODZ RI WKH &RPPRQZHDOWK DQG 6WDWH 7KH
FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ PRQLWRUV LWV FRPSOLDQFH ZLWK HQYLURQPHQWDO UHJXODWLRQV RQ D RQJRLQJ EDVLV 7KH GLUHFWRUV
DUHQRWDZDUHRIDQ\VLJQLILFDQWEUHDFKHVGXULQJWKH\HDUFRYHUHGE\WKLVUHSRUW
6KDUH8QGHU2SWLRQV
7KHUHZHUHQRXQLVVXHGRUGLQDU\VKDUHVRIWKH&RPSDQ\XQGHURSWLRQRXWVWDQGLQJDWWKHGDWHRIWKLVUHSRUW
6KDUHV,VVXHGRQWKH([HUFLVHRI2SWLRQV
7KHUH ZHUH QR RUGLQDU\ VKDUHV RI WKH &RPSDQ\ LVVXHG RQ WKH H[HUFLVH RI RSWLRQV GXULQJ WKH SHULRG HQGHG
'HFHPEHUDQGXSWRWKHGDWHRIWKLVUHSRUW
,QGHPQLILFDWLRQDQG,QVXUDQFHRI2IILFHUVDQG'LUHFWRUV
7KH &RPSDQ\ KDV QRW LQGHPQLILHG WKH GLUHFWRUV DQG H[HFXWLYHV RI WKH FRPSDQ\ IRU FRVWV LQFXUUHG LQ WKHLU
FDSDFLW\ DV D GLUHFWRU RU H[HFXWLYH IRU ZKLFK WKH\ PD\ EH KHOG SHUVRQDOO\ OLDEOH H[FHSW ZKHUH WKHUH LV D ODFN
RIJRRGIDLWK
'XULQJ WKH ILQDQFLDO \HDU WKH FRPSDQ\ KDV QRW SDLG D SUHPLXP LQ UHVSHFW RI D FRQWUDFW WR LQVXUH WKH
GLUHFWRUV DQG H[HFXWLYHV RI WKH FRPSDQ\ DJDLQVW D OLDELOLW\ WR WKH H[WHQW SHUPLWWHG E\ WKH &RUSRUDWLRQV $FW

,QGHPQLILFDWLRQDQG,QVXUDQFHRI$XGLWRUV
7KH &RPSDQ\ KDV QRW GXULQJ RU VLQFH WKH ILQDQFLDO \HDU LQGHPQLILHG RU DJUHHG WR LQGHPQLI\ WKH DXGLWRU RI
WKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\RUDQ\UHODWHGHQWLW\DJDLQVWDOLDELOLW\LQFXUUHGE\WKHDXGLWRU
'XULQJ WKH ILQDQFLDO \HDU WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV QRW SDLG D SUHPLXP LQ UHVSHFW RI D FRQWUDFW WR LQVXUH WKH DXGLWRU
RIWKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\RUDQ\UHODWHGHQWLW\
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3URFHHGLQJVRQEHKDOIRIWKHFRPSDQ\
1R SHUVRQ KDV DSSOLHG WR WKH &RXUW XQGHU VHFWLRQ  RI WKH &RUSRUDWLRQV $FW  IRU OHDYH WR EULQJ
SURFHHGLQJV RQ EHKDOI RI &RPSDQ\ RU WR LQWHUYHQH LQ DQ\ SURFHHGLQJV WR ZKLFK WKH &RPSDQ\ LV D SDUW\ IRU
WKHSXUSRVHRIWDNLQJUHVSRQVLELOLW\RQEHKDOIRIWKHFRPSDQ\IRUDOORUSDUWRIWKRVHSURFHHGLQJV
$XGLWRU V,QGHSHQGHQFH'HFODUDWLRQ
$FRS\RIWKHDXGLWRU VLQGHSHQGHQFHGHFODUDWLRQLVVHWRXWRQWKHIROORZLQJSDJH
7KLVUHSRUWLVPDGHLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKDUHVROXWLRQRIGLUHFWRUV
2QEHKDOIRIWKHGLUHFWRUV

:DOWHU'DQLHO'R\OH
'LUHFWRU
'DWHGDWWKH*ROG&RDVWRQWKLVWKGD\RI-XO\





Dr. Nigel C Purves
&KDUWHUHG$FFRXQWDQW
&$$$%XVLQHVV$FFRXQWDQWV3/WG
6XLWH*URXQG)ORRU
6KRUW6W6287+32574/'
3K

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
727+(',5(&72562)140,1(5$/637</7'

, GHFODUH WR WKH EHVW RI P\ NQRZOHGJH DQG EHOLHI LQ UHODWLRQ WR WKH DXGLW RI WKH ILQDQFLDO UHSRUW RI 14
0LQHUDOV 3W\ /WG DQG LWV FRQWUROOHG HQWLW\ IRU WKH  PRQWK SHULRG HQGHG  'HFHPEHU  WKHUH KDYH
EHHQ
L

QRFRQWUDYHQWLRQVRIWKHDXGLWRU VLQGHSHQGHQFHUHTXLUHPHQWVLQUHODWLRQWRWKHDXGLWDQG

LL

QRFRQWUDYHQWLRQVRIDQ\DSSOLFDEOHFRGHRISURIHVVLRQDOFRQGXFWLQUHODWLRQWRWKHDXGLW

7KLVGHFODUDWLRQLVLQUHVSHFWRI140LQHUDOV3W\/WGDQGLWVFRQWUROOHGHQWLW\GXULQJWKHILQDQFLDOSHULRG

'U1LJHO3XUYHV
5HJLVWHUHG&RPSDQ\$XGLWRU1R
'DWHGDWWKH*ROG&RDVWRQWKLVWKGD\RI-XO\
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&RQWHQWV

3DJH

6WDWHPHQWRISURILWRUORVVDQGRWKHUFRPSUHKHQVLYHLQFRPH
6WDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQ
6WDWHPHQWRIFKDQJHVLQHTXLW\
6WDWHPHQWRIFDVKIORZV
1RWHVWRWKHFRQVROLGDWHGILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
'LUHFWRUV GHFODUDWLRQ
,QGHSHQGHQWDXGLWRU VUHSRUW









*HQHUDOLQIRUPDWLRQ
7KH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV FRYHUV 14 0LQHUDOV 3W\ /WG DV D FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ FRQVLVWLQJ RI 14
0LQHUDOV 3W\ /WG DQG LWV VXEVLGLDU\ 7KH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV LV SUHVHQWHG LQ $XVWUDOLDQ GROODUV
ZKLFKLV140LQHUDOV3W\/WG VIXQFWLRQDODQGSUHVHQWDWLRQFXUUHQF\
14 0LQHUDOV 3W\ /WG LV D FRPSDQ\ OLPLWHG E\ VKDUHV LQFRUSRUDWHG DQG GRPLFLOHG LQ $XVWUDOLD
,WVUHJLVWHUHGRIILFHDQGSULQFLSDOSODFHRIEXVLQHVVDUH
5HJLVWHUHGRIILFHDQG3ULQFLSDOSODFHRIEXVLQHVV
56/&HQWUH /HYHO%HDFK5RDG
6XUIHUV3DUDGLVH4/'
$ GHVFULSWLRQ RI WKH QDWXUH RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V RSHUDWLRQV DQG LWV SULQFLSDO DFWLYLWLHV DUH
LQFOXGHGLQWKHGLUHFWRUV UHSRUWZKLFKLVQRWSDUWRIWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
7KH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV ZHUH DXWKRULVHG IRU LVVXH LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK D UHVROXWLRQ RI
GLUHFWRUV RQ  -XO\  7KH GLUHFWRUV KDYH WKH SRZHU WR DPHQG DQG UHLVVXH WKH ILQDQFLDO
VWDWHPHQWV
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1RWH

PRQWK
SHULRGHQGHG
'HFHPEHU

$



2WKHULQFRPH



([SHQVHV
3URIHVVLRQDOIHHV

 

'HSUHFLDWLRQH[SHQVH

 

,PSDLUPHQWORVV



3URPRWLRQDOH[SHQVH

 
 

2WKHUH[SHQVHV

 


/RVVEHIRUHLQFRPHWD[H[SHQVH

 

,QFRPHWD[H[SHQVH



1HWORVVDIWHULQFRPHWD[H[SHQVHIRUWKHSHULRG
DWWULEXWDEOHWRWKHRZQHUVRIFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\

 

2WKHUFRPSUHKHQVLYHLQFRPH



2WKHUFRPSUHKHQVLYHLQFRPHIRUWKHSHULRGQHWRIWD[



7RWDOFRPSUHKHQVLYHORVVIRUWKHSHULRGDWWULEXWDEOHWR
RZQHUVRIWKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\

 

A

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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1RWH



$VVHWV

$

&XUUHQW$VVHWV
&DVKDQGFDVKHTXLYDOHQWV
2WKHUUHFHLYDEOHV









7RWDO&XUUHQW$VVHWV



1RQ&XUUHQW$VVHWV
3URSHUW\SODQWVDQGHTXLSPHQW
'HIHUUHGH[SORUDWLRQDQGHYDOXDWLRQH[SHQGLWXUH









7RWDO1RQ&XUUHQW$VVHWV
7RWDO$VVHWV




/LDELOLWLHV
&XUUHQW/LDELOLWLHV
7UDGHDQGRWKHUSD\DEOHV





2WKHUOLDELOLWLHV





)LQDQFLDOOLDELOLWLHV





7RWDO&XUUHQW/LDELOLWLHV



7RWDO/LDELOLWLHV
1HW$VVHWV




(TXLW\
&RQWULEXWHGHTXLW\
$FFXPXODWHGORVVHV
7RWDO(TXLW\







 


The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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1RWH

,VVXHG
FDSLWDO

$FFXPXODWHG
ORVVHV

7RWDOHTXLW\

$

$

$

%DODQFHDVDW6HSWHPEHU







/RVVIRUWKHSHULRG



 

 

7RWDOFRPSUHKHQVLYHORVVIRUWKHSHULRG



 

 









 



7UDQVDFWLRQVZLWKRZQHUVLQWKHLUFDSDFLW\DV
RZQHUV
&RQWULEXWHGHTXLW\QHWRIWUDQVDFWLRQFRVWV



%DODQFHDVDW'HFHPEHU

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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1RWH

&DVKIORZVIURPRSHUDWLQJDFWLYLWLHV
5HFHLSWVIURPFXVWRPHUV LQFOXVLYHRI*67
3D\PHQWVWRVXSSOLHUVDQGHPSOR\HHV LQFOXVLYHRI*67
,QWHUHVWSDLG
1HWFDVKXVHGLQRSHUDWLQJDFWLYLWLHV



PRQWK
SHULRGHQGHG
'HFHPEHU

$

 
 
 
 

&DVKIORZVIURPLQYHVWLQJDFWLYLWLHV
3D\PHQWVIRUH[SORUDWLRQH[SHQGLWXUH
3D\PHQWVIRUSURSHUW\SODQWVDQGHTXLSPHQWV
1HWFDVKXVHGLQLQYHVWLQJDFWLYLWLHV

 
 
 

&DVKIORZVIURPILQDQFLQJDFWLYLWLHV
3URFHHGVIURPUHODWHGSDUWLHV
3URFHHGVIURPDSSOLFDWLRQPRQLHVUHFHLYHG
3URFHHGVIURPLVVXHRIVKDUHV
1HWFDVKSURYLGHGE\ILQDQFLQJDFWLYLWLHV






1HWLQFUHDVHLQFDVKDQGFDVKHTXLYDOHQWV
&DVKDQGFDVKHTXLYDOHQWVDWWKHEHJLQQLQJRIWKHILQDQFLDOSHULRG
&DVKDQGFDVKHTXLYDOHQWVDWWKHHQGRIWKHILQDQFLDOSHULRG







The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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7KHSULQFLSDODFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHVDGRSWHGLQWKHSUHVHQWDWLRQRIWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDUHVHWRXWEHORZ
1HZUHYLVHGRUDPHQGLQJ$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGVDQG,QWHUSUHWDWLRQV
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ KDV DGRSWHG DOO RI WKH QHZ UHYLVHG RU DPHQGLQJ $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV DQG
,QWHUSUHWDWLRQV LVVXHG E\ WKH $XVWUDOLDQ $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV %RDUG $$6% WKDW DUH PDQGDWRU\ IRU WKH
FXUUHQWUHSRUWLQJSHULRG
$Q\ QHZ UHYLVHG RU DPHQGLQJ $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV RU ,QWHUSUHWDWLRQV WKDW DUH QRW PDQGDWRU\ KDYH QRW
EHHQHDUO\DGRSWHG
$Q\ VLJQLILFDQW LPSDFW RQ WKH DFFRXQWLQJ SROLFLHV RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ IURP WKH DGRSWLRQ RI WKHVH
$FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV DQG ,QWHUSUHWDWLRQV DUH GLVFORVHG EHORZ 7KH DGRSWLRQ RI WKHVH $FFRXQWLQJ
6WDQGDUGV DQG ,QWHUSUHWDWLRQV GLG QRW KDYH DQ\ VLJQLILFDQW LPSDFW RQ WKH ILQDQFLDO SHUIRUPDQFH RU SRVLWLRQ
RIWKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\
7KHIROORZLQJ$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGVDQG,QWHUSUHWDWLRQVDUHPRVWUHOHYDQWWRWKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\
$$6%  $PHQGPHQWV WR $XVWUDOLDQ $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV  2IIVHWWLQJ )LQDQFLDO $VVHWV DQG )LQDQFLDO
/LDELOLWLHV
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ KDV DSSOLHG $$6%  IURP  -DQXDU\  7KH DPHQGPHQWV DGG DSSOLFDWLRQ
JXLGDQFH WR DGGUHVV LQFRQVLVWHQFLHV LQ WKH DSSOLFDWLRQ RI WKH RIIVHWWLQJ FULWHULD LQ $$6%  )LQDQFLDO
,QVWUXPHQWV 3UHVHQWDWLRQ  E\ FODULI\LQJ WKH PHDQLQJ RI FXUUHQWO\ KDV D OHJDOO\ HQIRUFHDEOH ULJKW RI VHWRII 
DQGFODULILHVWKDWVRPHJURVVVHWWOHPHQWV\VWHPVPD\EHFRQVLGHUHGWREHHTXLYDOHQWWRQHWVHWWOHPHQW

$$6%$PHQGPHQWVWR$$6%5HFRYHUDEOH$PRXQW'LVFORVXUHVIRU1RQ)LQDQFLDO$VVHWV
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ KDV DSSOLHG $$6%  IURP  -DQXDU\  7KH GLVFORVXUH UHTXLUHPHQWV RI
$$6%  ,PSDLUPHQW RI $VVHWV KDYH EHHQ HQKDQFHG WR UHTXLUH DGGLWLRQDO LQIRUPDWLRQ DERXW WKH IDLU YDOXH
PHDVXUHPHQW ZKHQ WKH UHFRYHUDEOH DPRXQW RI LPSDLUHG DVVHWV LV EDVHG RQ IDLU YDOXH OHVV FRVWV RI
GLVSRVDOV $GGLWLRQDOO\ LI PHDVXUHG XVLQJ D SUHVHQW YDOXH WHFKQLTXH WKH GLVFRXQW UDWH LV UHTXLUHG WR EH
GLVFORVHG
%DVLVRISUHSDUDWLRQ
7KHVH JHQHUDO SXUSRVH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV KDYH EHHQ SUHSDUHG LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK $XVWUDOLDQ $FFRXQWLQJ
6WDQGDUGV DQG ,QWHUSUHWDWLRQV LVVXHG E\ WKH $XVWUDOLDQ $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV %RDUG $$6%  DV
DSSURSULDWH IRU IRUSURILW RULHQWHG HQWLWLHV 7KHVH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV DOVR FRPSO\ ZLWK ,QWHUQDWLRQDO
)LQDQFLDO5HSRUWLQJ6WDQGDUGV ,)56 DVLVVXHGE\WKH,QWHUQDWLRQDO$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV%RDUG ,$6% 

+LVWRULFDOFRVWFRQYHQWLRQ
7KH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV KDYH EHHQ SUHSDUHG XQGHU WKH KLVWRULFDO FRVW FRQYHQWLRQ H[FHSW IRU ZKHUH
DSSOLFDEOH WKH UHYDOXDWLRQ RI DYDLODEOHIRUVDOH ILQDQFLDO DVVHWV ILQDQFLDO DVVHWV DQG OLDELOLWLHV DW IDLU YDOXH
WKURXJK SURILW RU ORVV LQYHVWPHQW SURSHUWLHV FHUWDLQ FODVVHV RI SURSHUW\ SODQW DQG HTXLSPHQW DQG
GHULYDWLYHILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWV
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&ULWLFDODFFRXQWLQJHVWLPDWHV
7KH SUHSDUDWLRQ RI WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV UHTXLUHV WKH XVH RI FHUWDLQ FULWLFDO DFFRXQWLQJ HVWLPDWHV ,W DOVR
UHTXLUHV PDQDJHPHQW WR H[HUFLVH LWV MXGJHPHQW LQ WKH SURFHVV RI DSSO\LQJ WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V
DFFRXQWLQJ SROLFLHV 7KH DUHDV LQYROYLQJ D KLJKHU GHJUHH RI MXGJHPHQW RU FRPSOH[LW\ RU DUHDV ZKHUH
DVVXPSWLRQVDQGHVWLPDWHVDUHVLJQLILFDQWWRWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDUHGLVFORVHGLQQRWH
3ULQFLSOHVRIFRQVROLGDWLRQ
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV LQFRUSRUDWH WKH DVVHWV DQG OLDELOLWLHV RI DOO VXEVLGLDULHV RI 14
0LQHUDOV 3W\ /LPLWHG &RPSDQ\ RU 3DUHQW HQWLW\ DV DW  'HFHPEHU  DQG WKH UHVXOWV RI DOO
VXEVLGLDULHV IRU WKH \HDU WKHQ HQGHG 14 0LQHUDOV 3W\ /LPLWHG DQG LWV VXEVLGLDULHV WRJHWKHU DUH UHIHUUHG WR
LQWKHVHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDVWKH FRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\ 
6XEVLGLDULHV DUH DOO WKRVH HQWLWLHV RYHU ZKLFK WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ KDV FRQWURO 7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\
FRQWUROV DQ HQWLW\ ZKHQ WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ LV H[SRVHG WR RU KDV ULJKWV WR YDULDEOH UHWXUQV IURP LWV
LQYROYHPHQW ZLWK WKH HQWLW\ DQG KDV WKH DELOLW\ WR DIIHFW WKRVH UHWXUQV WKURXJK LWV SRZHU WR GLUHFW WKH DFWLYLWLHV
RI WKH HQWLW\ 6XEVLGLDULHV DUH IXOO\ FRQVROLGDWHG IURP WKH GDWH RQ ZKLFK FRQWURO LV WUDQVIHUUHG WR WKH
FRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\7KH\DUHGHFRQVROLGDWHGIURPWKHGDWHWKDWFRQWUROFHDVHV
,QWHUFRPSDQ\ WUDQVDFWLRQV EDODQFHV DQG XQUHDOLVHG JDLQV RQ WUDQVDFWLRQV EHWZHHQ HQWLWLHV LQ WKH
FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ DUH HOLPLQDWHG 8QUHDOLVHG ORVVHV DUH DOVR HOLPLQDWHG XQOHVV WKH WUDQVDFWLRQ SURYLGHV
HYLGHQFH RI WKH LPSDLUPHQW RI WKH DVVHW WUDQVIHUUHG $FFRXQWLQJ SROLFLHV RI VXEVLGLDULHV KDYH EHHQ FKDQJHG
ZKHUHQHFHVVDU\WRHQVXUHFRQVLVWHQF\ZLWKWKHSROLFLHVDGRSWHGE\WKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\
7KH DFTXLVLWLRQ RI VXEVLGLDULHV LV DFFRXQWHG IRU XVLQJ WKH DFTXLVLWLRQ PHWKRG RI DFFRXQWLQJ $ FKDQJH LQ
RZQHUVKLS LQWHUHVW ZLWKRXW WKH ORVV RI FRQWURO LV DFFRXQWHG IRU DV DQ HTXLW\ WUDQVDFWLRQ ZKHUH WKH
GLIIHUHQFH EHWZHHQ WKH FRQVLGHUDWLRQ WUDQVIHUUHG DQG WKH ERRN YDOXH RI WKH VKDUH RI WKH QRQFRQWUROOLQJ
LQWHUHVWDFTXLUHGLVUHFRJQLVHGGLUHFWO\LQHTXLW\DWWULEXWDEOHWRWKHSDUHQW
1RQFRQWUROOLQJ LQWHUHVW LQ WKH UHVXOWV DQG HTXLW\ RI VXEVLGLDULHV DUH VKRZQ VHSDUDWHO\ LQ WKH VWDWHPHQW RI
SURILW RU ORVV DQG RWKHU FRPSUHKHQVLYH LQFRPH VWDWHPHQW RI ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ DQG VWDWHPHQW RI FKDQJHV LQ
HTXLW\ RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ /RVVHV LQFXUUHG E\ WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ DUH DWWULEXWHG WR WKH QRQ
FRQWUROOLQJLQWHUHVWLQIXOOHYHQLIWKDWUHVXOWVLQDGHILFLWEDODQFH
:KHUH WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ ORVHV FRQWURO RYHU D VXEVLGLDU\ LW GHUHFRJQLVHV WKH DVVHWV LQFOXGLQJ JRRGZLOO
OLDELOLWLHV DQG QRQFRQWUROOLQJ LQWHUHVW LQ WKH VXEVLGLDU\ WRJHWKHU ZLWK DQ\ FXPXODWLYH WUDQVODWLRQ GLIIHUHQFHV
UHFRJQLVHG LQ HTXLW\ 7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ UHFRJQLVHV WKH IDLU YDOXH RI WKH FRQVLGHUDWLRQ UHFHLYHG DQG WKH
IDLUYDOXHRIDQ\LQYHVWPHQWUHWDLQHGWRJHWKHUZLWKDQ\JDLQRUORVVLQSURILWRUORVV
,QWHUHVWV LQ VXEVLGLDULHV DUH DFFRXQWHG IRU DW FRVW OHVV DQ\ LPSDLUPHQW LQ WKH SDUHQW HQWLW\ 'LYLGHQGV
UHFHLYHG IURP VXEVLGLDULHV DUH UHFRJQLVHG DV RWKHU LQFRPH E\ WKH SDUHQW HQWLW\ DQG LWV UHFHLSW PD\ EH DQ
LQGLFDWRURIDQLPSDLUPHQWRIWKHLQYHVWPHQW
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)RUHLJQFXUUHQF\WUDQVODWLRQ
7KH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV DUH SUHVHQWHG LQ $XVWUDOLDQ GROODUV ZKLFK LV WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V IXQFWLRQDO
DQGSUHVHQWDWLRQFXUUHQF\
)RUHLJQ FXUUHQF\ WUDQVDFWLRQV DUH WUDQVODWHG LQWR $XVWUDOLDQ GROODUV XVLQJ WKH H[FKDQJH UDWHV SUHYDLOLQJ DW
WKH GDWHV RI WKH WUDQVDFWLRQV )RUHLJQ H[FKDQJH JDLQV DQG ORVVHV UHVXOWLQJ IURP WKH VHWWOHPHQW RI VXFK
WUDQVDFWLRQV DQG IURP WKH WUDQVODWLRQ DW ILQDQFLDO SHULRGHQG H[FKDQJH UDWHV RI PRQHWDU\ DVVHWV DQG
OLDELOLWLHVGHQRPLQDWHGLQIRUHLJQFXUUHQFLHVDUHUHFRJQLVHGLQSURILWRUORVV
5HYHQXH
5HYHQXH LV UHFRJQLVHG ZKHQ LW LV SUREDEOH WKDW WKH HFRQRPLF EHQHILW ZLOO IORZ WR WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ DQG
WKH UHYHQXH FDQ EH UHOLDEO\ PHDVXUHG 5HYHQXH LV PHDVXUHG DW WKH IDLU YDOXH RI WKH FRQVLGHUDWLRQ UHFHLYHG
RUUHFHLYDEOH
,QWHUHVWUHYHQXH
,QWHUHVW UHYHQXH LV UHFRJQLVHG DV LQWHUHVW DFFUXHV XVLQJ WKH HIIHFWLYH LQWHUHVW PHWKRG 7KLV LV D PHWKRG RI
FDOFXODWLQJ WKH DPRUWLVHG FRVW RI D ILQDQFLDO DVVHW DQG DOORFDWLQJ WKH LQWHUHVW LQFRPH RYHU WKH UHOHYDQW
SHULRG XVLQJ WKH HIIHFWLYH LQWHUHVW UDWH ZKLFK LV WKH UDWH WKDW H[DFWO\ GLVFRXQWV HVWLPDWHG IXWXUH FDVK
UHFHLSWVWKURXJKWKHH[SHFWHGOLIHRIWKHILQDQFLDODVVHWWRWKHQHWFDUU\LQJDPRXQWRIWKHILQDQFLDODVVHW
2WKHUUHYHQXH
2WKHUUHYHQXHLVUHFRJQLVHGZKHQLWLVUHFHLYHGRUZKHQWKHULJKWWRUHFHLYHSD\PHQWLVHVWDEOLVKHG
$OOUHYHQXHLVVWDWHGQHWRIWKHDPRXQWVRIJRRGVDQGVHUYLFHVWD[ *67 
,QFRPHWD[
7KH LQFRPH WD[ H[SHQVH RU EHQHILW IRU WKH SHULRG LV WKH WD[ SD\DEOH RQ WKDW SHULRG V WD[DEOH LQFRPH EDVHG
RQ WKH DSSOLFDEOH LQFRPH WD[ UDWH IRU HDFK MXULVGLFWLRQ DGMXVWHG E\ FKDQJHV LQ GHIHUUHG WD[ DVVHWV DQG
OLDELOLWLHV DWWULEXWDEOH WR WHPSRUDU\ GLIIHUHQFHV DQG XQXVHG WD[ ORVVHV DQG WKH DGMXVWPHQW UHFRJQLVHG IRU
SULRUSHULRGVZKHUHDSSOLFDEOH
'HIHUUHG WD[ DVVHWV DQG OLDELOLWLHV DUH UHFRJQLVHG IRU WHPSRUDU\ GLIIHUHQFHV DW WKH WD[ UDWHV H[SHFWHG WR
DSSO\ ZKHQ WKH DVVHWV DUH UHFRYHUHG RU OLDELOLWLHV DUH VHWWOHG EDVHG RQ WKRVH WD[ UDWHV WKDW DUH HQDFWHG RU
VXEVWDQWLYHO\HQDFWHGH[FHSWIRU
Ɣ

:KHQ WKH GHIHUUHG LQFRPH WD[ DVVHW RU OLDELOLW\ DULVHV IURP WKH LQLWLDO UHFRJQLWLRQ RI JRRGZLOO RU DQ
DVVHW RU OLDELOLW\ LQ D WUDQVDFWLRQ WKDW LV QRW D EXVLQHVV FRPELQDWLRQ DQG WKDW DW WKH WLPH RI WKH
WUDQVDFWLRQDIIHFWVQHLWKHUWKHDFFRXQWLQJQRUWD[DEOHSURILWVRU

Ɣ

:KHQ WKH WD[DEOH WHPSRUDU\ GLIIHUHQFH LV DVVRFLDWHG ZLWK LQYHVWPHQWV LQ VXEVLGLDULHV DVVRFLDWHV
RU LQWHUHVWV LQ MRLQW YHQWXUHV DQG WKH WLPLQJ RI WKH UHYHUVDO FDQ EH FRQWUROOHG DQG LW LV SUREDEOH WKDW
WKHWHPSRUDU\GLIIHUHQFHZLOOQRWUHYHUVHLQWKHIRUHVHHDEOHIXWXUH

'HIHUUHG WD[ DVVHWV DUH UHFRJQLVHG IRU GHGXFWLEOH WHPSRUDU\ GLIIHUHQFHV DQG XQXVHG WD[ ORVVHV RQO\ LI LW LV
SUREDEOHWKDWIXWXUHWD[DEOHDPRXQWVZLOOEHDYDLODEOHWRXWLOLVHWKRVHWHPSRUDU\GLIIHUHQFHVDQGORVVHV
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,QFRPHWD[ FRQW G
7KH FDUU\LQJ DPRXQW RI UHFRJQLVHG DQG XQUHFRJQLVHG GHIHUUHG WD[ DVVHWV DUH UHYLHZHG HDFK UHSRUWLQJ
GDWH 'HIHUUHG WD[ DVVHWV UHFRJQLVHG DUH UHGXFHG WR WKH H[WHQW WKDW LW LV QR ORQJHU SUREDEOH WKDW IXWXUH
WD[DEOHSURILWVZLOOEHDYDLODEOHIRUWKHFDUU\LQJDPRXQWWREHUHFRYHUHG
'HIHUUHG WD[ DVVHWV DQG OLDELOLWLHV DUH RIIVHW RQO\ ZKHUH WKHUH LV D OHJDOO\ HQIRUFHDEOH ULJKW WR RIIVHW FXUUHQW
WD[ DVVHWV DJDLQVW FXUUHQW WD[ OLDELOLWLHV DQG GHIHUUHG WD[ DVVHWV DJDLQVW GHIHUUHG WD[ OLDELOLWLHV DQG WKH\
UHODWH WR WKH VDPH WD[DEOH DXWKRULW\ RQ HLWKHU WKH VDPH WD[DEOH HQWLW\ RU GLIIHUHQW WD[DEOH HQWLW\ V ZKLFK
LQWHQGWRVHWWOHVLPXOWDQHRXVO\
&XUUHQWDQGQRQFXUUHQWFODVVLILFDWLRQ
$VVHWV DQG OLDELOLWLHV DUH SUHVHQWHG LQ WKH VWDWHPHQW RI ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ EDVHG RQ FXUUHQW DQG QRQFXUUHQW
FODVVLILFDWLRQ
$Q DVVHW LV FXUUHQW ZKHQ LW LV H[SHFWHG WR EH UHDOLVHG RU LQWHQGHG WR EH VROG RU FRQVXPHG LQ QRUPDO
RSHUDWLQJ F\FOH LW LV KHOG SULPDULO\ IRU WKH SXUSRVH RI WUDGLQJ LW LV H[SHFWHG WR EH UHDOLVHG ZLWKLQ  PRQWKV
DIWHU WKH UHSRUWLQJ SHULRG RU WKH DVVHW LV FDVK RU FDVK HTXLYDOHQW XQOHVV UHVWULFWHG IURP EHLQJ H[FKDQJHG RU
XVHG WR VHWWOH D OLDELOLW\ IRU DW OHDVW  PRQWKV DIWHU WKH UHSRUWLQJ SHULRG $OO RWKHU DVVHWV DUH FODVVLILHG DV
QRQFXUUHQW
$ OLDELOLW\ LV FXUUHQW ZKHQ LW LV H[SHFWHG WR EH VHWWOHG LQ QRUPDO RSHUDWLQJ F\FOH LW LV KHOG SULPDULO\ IRU WKH
SXUSRVH RI WUDGLQJ LW LV GXH WR EH VHWWOHG ZLWKLQ  PRQWKV DIWHU WKH UHSRUWLQJ SHULRG RU WKHUH LV QR
XQFRQGLWLRQDO ULJKW WR GHIHU WKH VHWWOHPHQW RI WKH OLDELOLW\ IRU DW OHDVW  PRQWKV DIWHU WKH UHSRUWLQJ SHULRG $OO
RWKHUOLDELOLWLHVDUHFODVVLILHGDVQRQFXUUHQW
'HIHUUHGWD[DVVHWVDQGOLDELOLWLHVDUHDOZD\VFODVVLILHGDVQRQFXUUHQW
&DVKDQGFDVKHTXLYDOHQWV
&DVK DQG FDVK HTXLYDOHQWV LQFOXGHV FDVK RQ KDQG GHSRVLWV KHOG DW FDOO ZLWK ILQDQFLDO LQVWLWXWLRQV RWKHU
VKRUWWHUP KLJKO\ OLTXLG LQYHVWPHQWV ZLWK RULJLQDO PDWXULWLHV RI WKUHH PRQWKV RU OHVV WKDW DUH UHDGLO\
FRQYHUWLEOHWRNQRZQDPRXQWVRIFDVKDQGZKLFKDUHVXEMHFWWRDQLQVLJQLILFDQWULVNRIFKDQJHVLQYDOXH)RU
WKH VWDWHPHQW RI FDVK IORZV SUHVHQWDWLRQ SXUSRVHV FDVK DQG FDVK HTXLYDOHQWV DOVR LQFOXGHV EDQN
RYHUGUDIWVZKLFKDUHVKRZQZLWKLQERUURZLQJVLQFXUUHQWOLDELOLWLHVRQWKHVWDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQ
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7UDGHDQGRWKHUUHFHLYDEOHV
7UDGH UHFHLYDEOHV DUH LQLWLDOO\ UHFRJQLVHG DW IDLU YDOXH DQG VXEVHTXHQWO\ PHDVXUHG DW DPRUWLVHG FRVW XVLQJ
WKH HIIHFWLYH LQWHUHVW PHWKRG OHVV DQ\ SURYLVLRQ IRU LPSDLUPHQW 7UDGH UHFHLYDEOHV DUH JHQHUDOO\ GXH IRU
VHWWOHPHQWZLWKLQGD\V
&ROOHFWDELOLW\ RI WUDGH UHFHLYDEOHV LV UHYLHZHG RQ DQ RQJRLQJ EDVLV 'HEWV ZKLFK DUH NQRZQ WR EH
XQFROOHFWDEOH DUH ZULWWHQ RII E\ UHGXFLQJ WKH FDUU\LQJ DPRXQW GLUHFWO\ $ SURYLVLRQ IRU LPSDLUPHQW RI WUDGH
UHFHLYDEOHV LV UDLVHG ZKHQ WKHUH LV REMHFWLYH HYLGHQFH WKDW WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ ZLOO QRW EH DEOH WR FROOHFW
DOO DPRXQWV GXH DFFRUGLQJ WR WKH RULJLQDO WHUPV RI WKH UHFHLYDEOHV 6LJQLILFDQW ILQDQFLDO GLIILFXOWLHV RI WKH
GHEWRU SUREDELOLW\ WKDW WKH GHEWRU ZLOO HQWHU EDQNUXSWF\ RU ILQDQFLDO UHRUJDQLVDWLRQ DQG GHIDXOW RU
GHOLQTXHQF\ LQ SD\PHQWV PRUH WKDQ  GD\V RYHUGXH DUH FRQVLGHUHG LQGLFDWRUV WKDW WKH WUDGH UHFHLYDEOH
PD\ EH LPSDLUHG 7KH DPRXQW RI WKH LPSDLUPHQW DOORZDQFH LV WKH GLIIHUHQFH EHWZHHQ WKH DVVHW¶V FDUU\LQJ
DPRXQW DQG WKH SUHVHQW YDOXH RI HVWLPDWHG IXWXUH FDVK IORZV GLVFRXQWHG DW WKH RULJLQDO HIIHFWLYH LQWHUHVW
UDWH &DVK IORZV UHODWLQJ WR VKRUWWHUP UHFHLYDEOHV DUH QRW GLVFRXQWHG LI WKH HIIHFW RI GLVFRXQWLQJ LV
LPPDWHULDO
2WKHUUHFHLYDEOHVDUHUHFRJQLVHGDWDPRUWLVHGFRVWOHVVDQ\SURYLVLRQIRULPSDLUPHQW
3URSHUW\SODQWDQGHTXLSPHQW
3ODQW DQG HTXLSPHQW LV VWDWHG DW KLVWRULFDO FRVW OHVV DFFXPXODWHG GHSUHFLDWLRQ DQG LPSDLUPHQW +LVWRULFDO
FRVWLQFOXGHVH[SHQGLWXUHWKDWLVGLUHFWO\DWWULEXWDEOHWRWKHDFTXLVLWLRQRIWKHLWHPV
'HSUHFLDWLRQ LV FDOFXODWHG RQ D VWUDLJKWOLQH EDVLV WR ZULWH RII WKH QHW FRVW RI HDFK LWHP RI SURSHUW\ SODQW DQG
HTXLSPHQW H[FOXGLQJODQG RYHUWKHLUH[SHFWHGXVHIXOOLYHVDVIROORZV
&ODVVRI)L[HG$VVHW
0RWRUYHKLFOHV

6WUDLJKW/LQH
\HDUV

7KH UHVLGXDO YDOXHV XVHIXO OLYHV DQG GHSUHFLDWLRQ PHWKRGV DUH UHYLHZHG DQG DGMXVWHG LI DSSURSULDWH DW
HDFKUHSRUWLQJGDWH
/HDVHKROG LPSURYHPHQWV DQG SODQW DQG HTXLSPHQW XQGHU OHDVH DUH GHSUHFLDWHG RYHU WKH XQH[SLUHG SHULRG
RIWKHOHDVHRUWKHHVWLPDWHGXVHIXOOLIHRIWKHDVVHWVZKLFKHYHULVVKRUWHU
$Q LWHP RI SURSHUW\ SODQW DQG HTXLSPHQW LV GHUHFRJQLVHG XSRQ GLVSRVDO RU ZKHQ WKHUH LV QR IXWXUH
HFRQRPLF EHQHILW WR WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ *DLQV DQG ORVVHV EHWZHHQ WKH FDUU\LQJ DPRXQW DQG WKH
GLVSRVDO SURFHHGV DUH WDNHQ WR SURILW RU ORVV $Q\ UHYDOXDWLRQ VXUSOXV UHVHUYH UHODWLQJ WR WKH LWHP GLVSRVHG
RILVWUDQVIHUUHGGLUHFWO\WRUHWDLQHGSURILWV
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'HIHUUHGH[SORUDWLRQDQGHYDOXDWLRQH[SHQGLWXUH
([SORUDWLRQ DQG HYDOXDWLRQ H[SHQGLWXUH LQ UHODWLRQ WR VHSDUDWH DUHDV RI LQWHUHVW IRU ZKLFK ULJKWV RI WHQXUH
DUH FXUUHQW LV FDUULHG IRUZDUG DV DQ DVVHW LQ WKH VWDWHPHQW RI ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ ZKHUH LW LV H[SHFWHG WKDW WKH
H[SHQGLWXUH ZLOO EH UHFRYHUHG WKURXJK WKH VXFFHVVIXO GHYHORSPHQW DQG H[SORLWDWLRQ RI DQ DUHD RI LQWHUHVW RU
E\ LWV VDOH RU H[SORUDWLRQ DFWLYLWLHV DUH FRQWLQXLQJ LQ DQ DUHD DQG DFWLYLWLHV KDYH QRW UHDFKHG D VWDJH ZKLFK
SHUPLWV D UHDVRQDEOH HVWLPDWH RI WKH H[LVWHQFH RU RWKHUZLVH RI HFRQRPLFDOO\ UHFRYHUDEOH UHVHUYHV :KHUH
D SURMHFW RU DQ DUHD RI LQWHUHVW KDV EHHQ DEDQGRQHG WKH H[SHQGLWXUH LQFXUUHG WKHUHRQ LV ZULWWHQ RII LQ WKH
SHULRGLQZKLFKWKHGHFLVLRQLVPDGH
,PSDLUPHQWRIQRQILQDQFLDODVVHWV
1RQILQDQFLDO DVVHWV DUH UHYLHZHG IRU LPSDLUPHQW ZKHQHYHU HYHQWV RU FKDQJHV LQ FLUFXPVWDQFHV LQGLFDWH
WKDW WKH FDUU\LQJ DPRXQW PD\ QRW EH UHFRYHUDEOH $Q LPSDLUPHQW ORVV LV UHFRJQLVHG IRU WKH DPRXQW E\
ZKLFKWKHDVVHW VFDUU\LQJDPRXQWH[FHHGVLWVUHFRYHUDEOHDPRXQW
5HFRYHUDEOH DPRXQW LV WKH KLJKHU RI DQ DVVHW V IDLU YDOXH OHVV FRVWV RI GLVSRVDO DQG YDOXHLQXVH 7KH
YDOXHLQXVH LV WKH SUHVHQW YDOXH RI WKH HVWLPDWHG IXWXUH FDVK IORZV UHODWLQJ WR WKH DVVHW XVLQJ D SUHWD[
GLVFRXQW UDWH VSHFLILF WR WKH DVVHW RU FDVKJHQHUDWLQJ XQLW WR ZKLFK WKH DVVHW EHORQJV $VVHWV WKDW GR QRW
KDYHLQGHSHQGHQWFDVKIORZVDUHJURXSHGWRJHWKHUWRIRUPDFDVKJHQHUDWLQJXQLW
7UDGHDQGRWKHUSD\DEOHV
7KHVH DPRXQWV UHSUHVHQW OLDELOLWLHV IRU JRRGV DQG VHUYLFHV SURYLGHG WR WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ SULRU WR WKH
HQG RI WKH ILQDQFLDO SHULRG DQG ZKLFK DUH XQSDLG 'XH WR WKHLU VKRUWWHUP QDWXUH WKH\ DUH PHDVXUHG DW
DPRUWLVHG FRVW DQG DUH QRW GLVFRXQWHG 7KH DPRXQWV DUH XQVHFXUHG DQG DUH XVXDOO\ SDLG ZLWKLQ  GD\V RI
UHFRJQLWLRQ
%RUURZLQJV
/RDQV DQG ERUURZLQJV DUH LQLWLDOO\ UHFRJQLVHG DW WKH IDLU YDOXH RI WKH FRQVLGHUDWLRQ UHFHLYHG QHW RI
WUDQVDFWLRQFRVWV7KH\DUHVXEVHTXHQWO\PHDVXUHGDWDPRUWLVHGFRVWXVLQJWKHHIIHFWLYHLQWHUHVWPHWKRG
:KHUHWKHUHLVDQXQFRQGLWLRQDOULJKWWRGHIHUVHWWOHPHQWRIWKHOLDELOLW\IRUDWOHDVWPRQWKVDIWHUWKH
UHSRUWLQJGDWHWKHORDQVRUERUURZLQJVDUHFODVVLILHGDVQRQFXUUHQW
,VVXHGFDSLWDO
2UGLQDU\VKDUHVDUHFODVVLILHGDVHTXLW\
,QFUHPHQWDO FRVWV GLUHFWO\ DWWULEXWDEOH WR WKH LVVXH RI QHZ VKDUHV RU RSWLRQV DUH VKRZQ LQ HTXLW\ DV D
GHGXFWLRQQHWRIWD[IURPWKHSURFHHGV
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*RRGVDQGVHUYLFHVWD[ *67
5HYHQXHV H[SHQVHV DQG DVVHWV DUH UHFRJQLVHG QHW RI WKH DPRXQW RI DVVRFLDWHG *67 XQOHVV WKH *67
LQFXUUHG LV QRW UHFRYHUDEOH IURP WKH WD[ DXWKRULW\ ,Q WKLV FDVH LW LV UHFRJQLVHG DV SDUW RI WKH FRVW RI WKH
DFTXLVLWLRQRIWKHDVVHWRUDVSDUWRIWKHH[SHQVH
5HFHLYDEOHV DQG SD\DEOHV DUH VWDWHG LQFOXVLYH RI WKH DPRXQW RI *67 UHFHLYDEOH RU SD\DEOH 7KH QHW
DPRXQW RI *67 UHFRYHUDEOH IURP RU SD\DEOH WR WKH WD[ DXWKRULW\ LV LQFOXGHG LQ RWKHU UHFHLYDEOHV RU RWKHU
SD\DEOHVLQWKHVWDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQ
&DVK IORZV DUH SUHVHQWHG RQ D JURVV EDVLV 7KH *67 FRPSRQHQWV RI FDVK IORZV DULVLQJ IURP LQYHVWLQJ RU
ILQDQFLQJ DFWLYLWLHV ZKLFK DUH UHFRYHUDEOH IURP RU SD\DEOH WR WKH WD[ DXWKRULW\ DUH SUHVHQWHG DV RSHUDWLQJ
FDVKIORZV
&RPPLWPHQWV DQG FRQWLQJHQFLHV DUH GLVFORVHG QHW RI WKH DPRXQW RI *67 UHFRYHUDEOH IURP RU SD\DEOH WR
WKHWD[DXWKRULW\
1HZ$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGVDQG,QWHUSUHWDWLRQVQRW\HWPDQGDWRU\RUHDUO\DGRSWHG
$XVWUDOLDQ $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV DQG ,QWHUSUHWDWLRQV WKDW KDYH UHFHQWO\ EHHQ LVVXHG RU DPHQGHG EXW DUH
QRW \HW PDQGDWRU\ KDYH QRW EHHQ HDUO\ DGRSWHG E\ WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ IRU WKH DQQXDO UHSRUWLQJ SHULRG
HQGHG  'HFHPEHU  7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ KDV QRW \HW DVVHVVHG WKH LPSDFW RI WKHVH QHZ RU
DPHQGHG$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGVDQG,QWHUSUHWDWLRQV
$$6%)LQDQFLDO,QVWUXPHQWVDQGLWVFRQVHTXHQWLDODPHQGPHQWV
7KLV VWDQGDUG DQG LWV FRQVHTXHQWLDO DPHQGPHQWV DUH DSSOLFDEOH WR DQQXDO UHSRUWLQJ SHULRGV EHJLQQLQJ RQ
RU DIWHU  -DQXDU\  DQG FRPSOHWHV SKDVHV , DQG ,,, RI WKH ,$6% V SURMHFW WR UHSODFH ,$6  $$6% 
)LQDQFLDO ,QVWUXPHQWV 5HFRJQLWLRQ DQG 0HDVXUHPHQW  7KLV VWDQGDUG LQWURGXFHV QHZ FODVVLILFDWLRQ DQG
PHDVXUHPHQW PRGHOV IRU ILQDQFLDO DVVHWV XVLQJ D VLQJOH DSSURDFK WR GHWHUPLQH ZKHWKHU D ILQDQFLDO DVVHW LV
PHDVXUHG DW DPRUWLVHG FRVW RU IDLU YDOXH 7KH DFFRXQWLQJ IRU ILQDQFLDO OLDELOLWLHV FRQWLQXHV WR EH FODVVLILHG
DQG PHDVXUHG LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK $$6%  ZLWK RQH H[FHSWLRQ EHLQJ WKDW WKH SRUWLRQ RI D FKDQJH RI IDLU
YDOXH UHODWLQJ WR WKH HQWLW\ V RZQ FUHGLW ULVN LV WR EH SUHVHQWHG LQ RWKHU FRPSUHKHQVLYH LQFRPH XQOHVV LW
ZRXOG FUHDWH DQ DFFRXQWLQJ PLVPDWFK &KDSWHU  +HGJH $FFRXQWLQJ VXSHUVHGHV WKH JHQHUDO KHGJH
DFFRXQWLQJ UHTXLUHPHQWV LQ $$6%  DQG SURYLGHV D QHZ VLPSOHU DSSURDFK WR KHGJH DFFRXQWLQJ WKDW LV
LQWHQGHG WR PRUH FORVHO\ DOLJQ ZLWK ULVN PDQDJHPHQW DFWLYLWLHV XQGHUWDNHQ E\ HQWLWLHV ZKHQ KHGJLQJ
ILQDQFLDO DQG QRQILQDQFLDO ULVNV 7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ ZLOO DGRSW WKLV VWDQGDUG DQG WKH DPHQGPHQWV IURP
-DQXDU\EXWWKHLPSDFWRILWVDGRSWLRQLV\HWWREHDVVHVVHGE\WKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\
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$$6%$PHQGPHQWVWR$XVWUDOLDQ$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV 3DUWV$WR&
3DUWV $ WR & RI WKHVH DPHQGPHQWV LV DSSOLFDEOH WR DQQXDO UHSRUWLQJ SHULRGV EHJLQQLQJ RQ RU DIWHU  -XO\
 DQG DIIHFWV WKH IROORZLQJ VWDQGDUGV $$6%  6KDUHEDVHG 3D\PHQW  FODULILHV WKH GHILQLWLRQ RI YHVWLQJ
FRQGLWLRQ E\ VHSDUDWHO\ GHILQLQJ D SHUIRUPDQFH FRQGLWLRQ DQG D VHUYLFH FRQGLWLRQ DQG DPHQGV WKH
GHILQLWLRQ RI PDUNHW FRQGLWLRQ  $$6%  %XVLQHVV &RPELQDWLRQV  FODULILHV WKDW FRQWLQJHQW FRQVLGHUDWLRQ LQ D
EXVLQHVV FRPELQDWLRQ LV VXEVHTXHQWO\ PHDVXUHG DW IDLU YDOXH ZLWK FKDQJHV LQ IDLU YDOXH UHFRJQLVHG LQ SURILW
RU ORVV LUUHVSHFWLYH RI ZKHWKHU WKH FRQWLQJHQW FRQVLGHUDWLRQ LV ZLWKLQ WKH VFRSH RI $$6%  $$6% 
2SHUDWLQJ 6HJPHQWV  DPHQGHG WR UHTXLUH GLVFORVXUHV RI MXGJHPHQWV PDGH LQ DSSO\LQJ WKH DJJUHJDWLRQ
FULWHULD DQG FODULILHV WKDW D UHFRQFLOLDWLRQ RI WKH WRWDO UHSRUWDEOH VHJPHQW DVVHWV WR WKH HQWLW\ V DVVHWV LV
UHTXLUHG RQO\ LI VHJPHQW DVVHWV DUH UHSRUWHG UHJXODUO\ WR WKH FKLHI RSHUDWLQJ GHFLVLRQ PDNHU $$6%  )DLU
9DOXH 0HDVXUHPHQW  FODULILHV WKDW WKH SRUWIROLR H[HPSWLRQ DSSOLHV WR WKH YDOXDWLRQ RI FRQWUDFWV ZLWKLQ WKH
VFRSH RI $$6%  DQG $$6%  $$6%  3URSHUW\ 3ODQW DQG (TXLSPHQW DQG $$6%  ,QWDQJLEOH
$VVHWV  FODULILHV WKDW RQ UHYDOXDWLRQ UHVWDWHPHQW RI DFFXPXODWHG GHSUHFLDWLRQ ZLOO QRW QHFHVVDULO\ EH LQ WKH
VDPH SURSRUWLRQ WR WKH FKDQJH LQ WKH JURVV FDUU\LQJ YDOXH RI WKH DVVHW $$6%  5HODWHG 3DUW\
'LVFORVXUHV  H[WHQGV WKH GHILQLWLRQ RI UHODWHG SDUW\ WR LQFOXGH D PDQDJHPHQW HQWLW\ WKDW SURYLGHV .03
VHUYLFHV WR WKH HQWLW\ RU LWV SDUHQW DQG UHTXLUHV GLVFORVXUH RI WKH IHHV SDLG WR WKH PDQDJHPHQW HQWLW\ $$6%
 ,QYHVWPHQW 3URSHUW\  FODULILHV WKDW WKH DFTXLVLWLRQ RI DQ LQYHVWPHQW SURSHUW\ PD\ FRQVWLWXWH D EXVLQHVV
FRPELQDWLRQ 7KH DGRSWLRQ RI WKHVH DPHQGPHQWV IURP  -DQXDU\  ZLOO QRW KDYH D PDWHULDO LPSDFW RQ
WKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\
$$6%$PHQGPHQWVWR$XVWUDOLDQ$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV$FFRXQWLQJIRU$FTXLVLWLRQVRI,QWHUHVWVLQ
-RLQW2SHUDWLRQV
7KHVH DPHQGPHQWV DUH DSSOLFDEOH WR DQQXDO UHSRUWLQJ SHULRGV EHJLQQLQJ RQ RU DIWHU  -DQXDU\  $$6%
 DPHQGV $$6%  -RLQW $UUDQJHPHQWV DQG UHTXLUHV DQ DFTXLVLWLRQ RI DQ LQWHUHVW LQ D MRLQW RSHUDWLRQ
EHLQJ DQ DFWLYLW\ WKDW FRQVWLWXWHV D EXVLQHVV WR EH DFFRXQWHG IRU DQG SUHVHQWHG XVLQJ $$6%  DQG RWKHU
UHOHYDQW DFFRXQWLQJ VWDQGDUGV EXVLQHVV FRPELQDWLRQ SULQFLSOHV DQG GLVFORVXUHV 7KH DGRSWLRQ RI WKHVH
DPHQGPHQWVIURP-DQXDU\ZLOOQRWKDYHDPDWHULDOLPSDFWRQWKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\

$$6%$PHQGPHQWVWR$XVWUDOLDQ$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV&ODULILFDWLRQRI$FFHSWDEOH0HWKRGVRI
'HSUHFLDWLRQDQG$PRUWLVDWLRQ
7KHVH DPHQGPHQWV DUH DSSOLFDEOH WR DQQXDO UHSRUWLQJ SHULRGV EHJLQQLQJ RQ RU DIWHU  -DQXDU\  $$6%
 DPHQGV $$6%  DQG $$6%  WR FODULI\ WKDW GHSUHFLDWLRQ DQG DPRUWLVDWLRQ VKRXOG EH EDVHG RQ
WKH H[SHFWHG SDWWHUQ RI FRQVXPSWLRQ RI DQ DVVHW WKDW WKH XVH RI UHYHQXH EDVHG PHWKRGV WR FDOFXODWH
GHSUHFLDWLRQ LV QRW DSSURSULDWH DQG WKDW WKHUH LV D UHEXWWDEOH SUHVXPSWLRQ WKDW UHYHQXH LV DQ LQDSSURSULDWH
EDVLV IRU PHDVXULQJ WKH FRQVXPSWLRQ RI WKH HFRQRPLF EHQHILW HPERGLHG LQ DQ LQWDQJLEOH DVVHW 7KH
DGRSWLRQ RI WKHVH DPHQGPHQWV IURP  -DQXDU\  ZLOO QRW KDYH D PDWHULDO LPSDFW RQ WKH FRQVROLGDWHG
HQWLW\





140,1(5$/637</7'
$1',76&21752//('(17,7<
$&1
127(6727+(&2162/,'$7('),1$1&,$/67$7(0(176
)257+(0217+3(5,2'(1'(''(&(0%(5

 &5,7,&$/$&&2817,1*(67,0$7(6$1'-8'*(0(176
7KH SUHSDUDWLRQ RI WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV UHTXLUHV PDQDJHPHQW WR PDNH MXGJHPHQWV HVWLPDWHV DQG
DVVXPSWLRQV WKDW DIIHFW WKH UHSRUWHG DPRXQWV LQ WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV 0DQDJHPHQW FRQWLQXDOO\
HYDOXDWHV LWV MXGJHPHQWV DQG HVWLPDWHV LQ UHODWLRQ WR DVVHWV OLDELOLWLHV FRQWLQJHQW OLDELOLWLHV UHYHQXH DQG
H[SHQVHV 0DQDJHPHQW EDVHV LWV MXGJHPHQWV HVWLPDWHV DQG DVVXPSWLRQV RQ KLVWRULFDO H[SHULHQFH DQG RQ
RWKHU YDULRXV IDFWRUV LQFOXGLQJ H[SHFWDWLRQV RI IXWXUH HYHQWV PDQDJHPHQW EHOLHYHV WR EH UHDVRQDEOH
XQGHU WKH FLUFXPVWDQFHV 7KH UHVXOWLQJ DFFRXQWLQJ MXGJHPHQWV DQG HVWLPDWHV ZLOO VHOGRP HTXDO WKH UHODWHG
DFWXDO UHVXOWV 7KH MXGJHPHQWV HVWLPDWHV DQG DVVXPSWLRQV WKDW KDYH D VLJQLILFDQW ULVN RI FDXVLQJ D
PDWHULDO DGMXVWPHQW WR WKH FDUU\LQJ DPRXQWV RI DVVHWV DQG OLDELOLWLHV UHIHU WR WKH UHVSHFWLYH QRWHV ZLWKLQ
WKHQH[WILQDQFLDO\HDUDUHGLVFXVVHGEHORZ
'HIHUUHGH[SORUDWLRQDQGHYDOXDWLRQH[SHQGLWXUH
7KH DSSOLFDWLRQ RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V DFFRXQWLQJ SROLF\ IRU H[SORUDWLRQ DQG HYDOXDWLRQ H[SHQGLWXUH
UHTXLUHV MXGJHPHQW LQ GHWHUPLQLQJ ZKHWKHU LW LV OLNHO\ WKDW IXWXUH HFRQRPLF EHQHILWV DUH OLNHO\ HLWKHU IURP
IXWXUH H[SORLWDWLRQ RU VDOH RU ZKHUH DFWLYLWLHV KDYH QRW UHDFKHG D VWDJH ZKLFK SHUPLWV D UHDVRQDEOH
DVVHVVPHQW RI WKH H[LVWHQFH RI UHVHUYHV 7KH GHWHUPLQDWLRQ RI -25& UHVRXUFH LV LWVHOI DQ HVWLPDWLRQ
SURFHVV WKDW UHTXLUHV YDU\LQJ GHJUHHV RI XQFHUWDLQW\ GHSHQGLQJ RQ VXEFODVVLILFDWLRQ DQG WKHVH HVWLPDWHV
GLUHFWO\ LPSDFW WKH SRLQW RI GHIHUUDO RI H[SORUDWLRQ DQG HYDOXDWLRQ H[SHQGLWXUH 7KH GHIHUUDO SROLF\ UHTXLUHV
PDQDJHPHQW WR PDNH FHUWDLQ HVWLPDWHV DG DVVXPSWLRQV DERXW IXWXUH HYHQWV RU FLUFXPVWDQFHV LQ SDUWLFXODU
ZKHWKHU DQ HFRQRPLFDOO\ YLDEOH H[WUDFWLRQ RSHUDWLRQ FDQ EH HVWDEOLVKHG (VWLPDWHV DQG DVVXPSWLRQV PDGH
PD\ FKDQJH LI PRUH LQIRUPDWLRQ EHFRPHV DYDLODEOH ,I DIWHU H[SHQGLWXUH LV FDSLWDOLVHG LQIRUPDWLRQ
EHFRPHV DYDLODEOH VXJJHVWLQJ WKDW WKH UHFRYHU\ RI H[SHQGLWXUH LV XQOLNHO\ WKH DPRXQW FDSLWDOLVHG LV ZULWWHQ
RIILQSURILWDQGORVVLQWKHSHULRGZKHQWKHQHZLQIRUPDWLRQEHFRPHVDYDLODEOH
3URYLVLRQIRULPSDLUPHQWRIUHFHLYDEOHV
7KH SURYLVLRQ IRU LPSDLUPHQW RI UHFHLYDEOHV DVVHVVPHQW UHTXLUHV D GHJUHH RI HVWLPDWLRQ DQG MXGJHPHQW
7KH OHYHO RI SURYLVLRQ LV DVVHVVHG E\ WDNLQJ LQWR DFFRXQW WKH UHFHQW VDOHV H[SHULHQFH WKH DJHLQJ RI
UHFHLYDEOHVKLVWRULFDOFROOHFWLRQUDWHVDQGVSHFLILFNQRZOHGJHRIWKHLQGLYLGXDOGHEWRUVILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQ
(VWLPDWLRQRIXVHIXOOLYHVRIDVVHWV
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ GHWHUPLQHV WKH HVWLPDWHG XVHIXO OLYHV DQG UHODWHG GHSUHFLDWLRQ DQG DPRUWLVDWLRQ
FKDUJHV IRU LWV SURSHUW\ SODQW DQG HTXLSPHQW DQG ILQLWH OLIH LQWDQJLEOH DVVHWV 7KH XVHIXO OLYHV FRXOG FKDQJH
VLJQLILFDQWO\ DV D UHVXOW RI WHFKQLFDO LQQRYDWLRQV RU VRPH RWKHU HYHQW 7KH GHSUHFLDWLRQ DQG DPRUWLVDWLRQ
FKDUJH ZLOO LQFUHDVH ZKHUH WKH XVHIXO OLYHV DUH OHVV WKDQ SUHYLRXVO\ HVWLPDWHG OLYHV RU WHFKQLFDOO\ REVROHWH
RUQRQVWUDWHJLFDVVHWVWKDWKDYHEHHQDEDQGRQHGRUVROGZLOOEHZULWWHQRIIRUZULWWHQGRZQ
,PSDLUPHQWRIQRQILQDQFLDODVVHWVRWKHUWKDQJRRGZLOODQGRWKHULQGHILQLWHOLIHLQWDQJLEOHDVVHWV
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ DVVHVVHV LPSDLUPHQW RI QRQILQDQFLDO DVVHWV RWKHU WKDQ JRRGZLOO DQG RWKHU
LQGHILQLWH OLIH LQWDQJLEOH DVVHWV DW HDFK UHSRUWLQJ GDWH E\ HYDOXDWLQJ FRQGLWLRQV VSHFLILF WR WKH FRQVROLGDWHG
HQWLW\ DQG WR WKH SDUWLFXODU DVVHW WKDW PD\ OHDG WR LPSDLUPHQW ,I DQ LPSDLUPHQW WULJJHU H[LVWV WKH
UHFRYHUDEOH DPRXQW RI WKH DVVHW LV GHWHUPLQHG 7KLV LQYROYHV IDLU YDOXH OHVV FRVWV RI GLVSRVDO RU YDOXHLQ
XVHFDOFXODWLRQVZKLFKLQFRUSRUDWHDQXPEHURINH\HVWLPDWHVDQGDVVXPSWLRQV
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,QFRPH7D[
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ LV VXEMHFW WR LQFRPH WD[HV LQ WKH MXULVGLFWLRQV LQ ZKLFK LW RSHUDWHV 6LJQLILFDQW
MXGJHPHQW LV UHTXLUHG LQ GHWHUPLQLQJ WKH SURYLVLRQ IRU LQFRPH WD[ 7KHUH DUH PDQ\ WUDQVDFWLRQV DQG
FDOFXODWLRQV XQGHUWDNHQ GXULQJ WKH RUGLQDU\ FRXUVH RI EXVLQHVV IRU ZKLFK WKH XOWLPDWH WD[ GHWHUPLQDWLRQ LV
XQFHUWDLQ 7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ UHFRJQLVHV OLDELOLWLHV IRU DQWLFLSDWHG WD[ DXGLW LVVXHV EDVHG RQ WKH
FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V FXUUHQW XQGHUVWDQGLQJ RI WKH WD[ ODZ :KHUH WKH ILQDO WD[ RXWFRPH RI WKHVH PDWWHUV LV
GLIIHUHQW IURP WKH FDUU\LQJ DPRXQWV VXFK GLIIHUHQFHV ZLOO LPSDFW WKH FXUUHQW DQG GHIHUUHG WD[ SURYLVLRQV LQ
WKHSHULRGLQZKLFKVXFKGHWHUPLQDWLRQLVPDGH
5HFRYHU\RIGHIHUUHGWD[DVVHWV
'HIHUUHG WD[ DVVHWV DUH UHFRJQLVHG IRU GHGXFWLEOH WHPSRUDU\ GLIIHUHQFHV RQO\ LI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\
FRQVLGHUV LW LV SUREDEOH WKDW IXWXUH WD[DEOH DPRXQWV ZLOO EH DYDLODEOH WR XWLOLVH WKRVH WHPSRUDU\ GLIIHUHQFHV
DQGORVVHV
 *2,1*&21&(51
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ KDV LQFXUUHG D QHW ORVV DIWHU WD[ IRU WKH ILQDQFLDO SHULRG HQGHG  'HFHPEHU 
RI  DQG DV RI WKDW GDWH WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\¶V FXUUHQW DVVHWV H[FHHGHG LWV WRWDO OLDELOLW\ E\
 DQG H[SHULHQFHG QHW FDVK XVHG LQ RSHUDWLQJ DFWLYLWLHV RI  7KH WRWDO OLDELOLW\ LQFOXGHV D
ORDQ IURP :DOWHU 'R\OH DPRXQWLQJ WR  DQG PRQLHV UHFHLYHG GXULQJ WKH SHULRG DPRXQWLQJ WR
 ZKLFK KDV VXEVHTXHQWO\ EHHQ FRQYHUWHG LQWR HTXLW\ DIWHU WKH \HDU HQG $IWHU DOORZLQJ IRU :DOWHU
'R\OH VORDQDQGRWKHUOLDELOLWLHVFXUUHQWDVVHWVH[FHHGWRWDOOLDELOLWLHVE\
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ LV UHOLDQW RQ D SOHGJH RI ILQDQFLDO VXSSRUW IURP LWV SDUHQW HQWLW\ WR UHPDLQ D JRLQJ
FRQFHUQ
0DQDJHPHQW LV FRQILGHQW WKDW WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ LV D JRLQJ FRQFHUQ DQG WKDW LW FDQ PHHW LWV GHEWV DQG
REOLJDWLRQV DV DQG ZKHQ WKH\ IDOO GXH DW OHDVW XQWLO  -XO\  DV WKH SDUHQW HQWLW\ KDV VXFFHVVIXOO\
VHFXUHG *%3 LQ DGGLWLRQDO HTXLW\ IXQGLQJ ZKLFK LV FRPPLWWHG WR IXQG WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLWLHV
RSHUDWLQJFRPPLWPHQWVDQGH[SORUDWLRQDFWLYLWLHV
 6(*0(17$1$/<6,6
0DQDJHPHQW KDV GHWHUPLQHG WKH RSHUDWLQJ VHJPHQWV E\ FRQVLGHULQJ WKH EXVLQHVV IURP ERWK D JHRJUDSKLF
DQG SURGXFW SHUVSHFWLYH )RU PDQDJHPHQW SXUSRVHV WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ LV FXUUHQWO\ RUJDQLVHG LQWR RQH
RSHUDWLQJ GLYLVLRQ UHVRXUFH HYDOXDWLRQ 7KLV GLYLVLRQ LV WKH EXVLQHVV VHJPHQW IRU ZKLFK WKH *URXS UHSRUWV
LWV VHJPHQW LQIRUPDWLRQ LQWHUQDOO\ WR WKH %RDUG RI 'LUHFWRUV 7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V RSHUDWLRQV DUH
SUHGRPLQDQWO\LQ$XVWUDOLD

&RQVROLGDWHG

$

 27+(5,1&20(
&RPPHUFLDOGHEWIRUJLYHQHVV
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 (;3(16(6
/RVVEHIRUHLQFRPHWD[LQFOXGHVWKHIROORZLQJVSHFLILFH[SHQVHV

&RQVROLGDWHG

$

'HSUHFLDWLRQ
0RWRUYHKLFOH

2WKHUH[SHQVHV
([SORUDWLRQDQGHYDOXDWLRQH[SHQGLWXUH



,PSDLUPHQWORVV
'HIHUUHGH[SORUDWLRQDQGHYDOXDWLRQH[SHQGLWXUH QRWH





 ,1&20(7$;(;3(16(
7RWDOLQFRPHWD[UHFRJQLVHGLQWKHFXUUHQW\HDU



7KHLQFRPHWD[H[SHQVHIRUWKH\HDUFDQEHUHFRQFLOHGWRWKHDFFRXQWLQJORVVDVIROORZV
/RVVEHIRUHWD[DWLRQ

 

/RVVEHIRUHWD[DWLRQPXOWLSOLHGE\WKHVWDQGDUGWD[UDWHLQ$XVWUDOLDRI

 

7D[DWLRQHIIHFWVRI
/RVVHV




7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ KDV XQXVHG WD[ ORVVHV DV DW  'HFHPEHU  $ UHODWHG GHIHUUHG WD[ DVVHW KDV
QRW EHHQ UHFRJQLVHG LQ WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV GXH WR XQFHUWDLQW\ VXUURXQGLQJ LWV UHFRYHUDELOLW\ 7KH
GHIHUUHGWD[DVVHWFDQEHUHFRYHUHGDJDLQVWVXLWDEOHIXWXUHWD[DEOHSURILWV7D[ORVVHVKDYHQRH[SLU\GDWH

 &855(17&$6+$1'&$6+(48,9$/(176
&DVKDWEDQN
&DVKRQKDQG





5HFRQFLOLDWLRQWRFDVKDQGFDVKHTXLYDOHQWVDWWKHHQGRIWKHILQDQFLDO\HDU
7KH DERYH ILJXUHV DUH UHFRQFLOHG WR FDVK DQG FDVK HTXLYDOHQWV DW WKH HQG RI WKH ILQDQFLDO
\HDUDVVKRZQLQWKHVWDWHPHQWRIFDVKIORZVDVIROORZV
%DODQFHVDVDERYH
%DODQFHDVSHUVWDWHPHQWRIFDVKIORZV
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 &855(1727+(55(&(,9$%/(6

&RQVROLGDWHG

$

*67UHFHLYDEOH
2WKHUUHFHLYDEOHV







7KH RWKHU UHFHLYDEOHV DUH GXH E\  'HFHPEHU  DQG WKH HIIHFW RI GLVFRXQWLQJ LV FRQVLGHUHG QRW WR EH
PDWHULDO7KLVUHFHLYDEOHLVQRWSDVWGXHQRULPSDLUHG

 121&855(173523(57<3/$17$1'(48,30(17
0RWRUYHKLFOHVDWFRVW
/HVVDFFXPXODWHGGHSUHFLDWLRQ


 


5HFRQFLOLDWLRQV
5HFRQFLOLDWLRQV RI WKH ZULWWHQ GRZQ YDOXHV DW WKH EHJLQQLQJ DQG HQG RI WKH FXUUHQW ILQDQFLDO SHULRG DUH VHW
RXWEHORZ
0RWRU9HKLFOHV
7RWDO


%DODQFHDVDW6HSWHPEHU


$GGLWLRQV


'HSUHFLDWLRQH[SHQVH
 
 
%DODQFHDVDW'HFHPEHU



 121&855(17'()(55('(;3/25$7,21$1'(9$/8$7,21(;3(1',785(

'HIHUUHGH[SORUDWLRQDQGHYDOXDWLRQH[SHQGLWXUH

&RQVROLGDWHG

$


5HFRQFLOLDWLRQV
5HFRQFLOLDWLRQV RI WKH ZULWWHQ GRZQ YDOXHV DW WKH EHJLQQLQJ DQG HQG RI WKH FXUUHQW ILQDQFLDO SHULRG DUH VHW
RXWEHORZ
%DODQFHDVDW6HSWHPEHU
$GGLWLRQV
/HVVLPSDLUPHQWORVV
%DODQFHDVDW'HFHPEHU



 


,QFOXGHGLQGHIHUUHGH[SORUDWLRQH[SHQGLWXUHDUHWKHIROORZLQJWHQHPHQWV
(308NDOXQGD
(307KH%OXH'RH
(30(GZDUG
(30(DJOH+DZN
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 121&855(17'()(55('(;3/25$7,21$1'(9$/8$7,21(;3(1',785( &217 '
7KH GLUHFWRUV KDYH GHWHUPLQHG WKDW LW LV DSSURSULDWH IRU WKH EDODQFH RI WKH GHIHUUHG H[SORUDWLRQ H[SHQGLWXUH
UHODWLQJ WR WKH (30  (DJOH +DZN DQG (30  (GZDUG DUHDV RI LQWHUHVW WR EH IXOO\ LPSDLUHG
DQG ZULWWHQ RII WKURXJK WKH SURILW DQG ORVV LQ WKH FXUUHQW \HDU DV WKH &RPSDQ\ KDV VXUUHQGHUHG WKHVH
WHQHPHQWV
7KH UHFRYHUDELOLW\ RI WKH FDUU\LQJ DPRXQW RI WKH GHIHUUHG H[SORUDWLRQ DQG HYDOXDWLRQ H[SHQGLWXUH LV
GHSHQGDQW RQ VXFFHVVIXO GHYHORSPHQW DQG FRPPHUFLDO H[SORLWDWLRQ RU DOWHUQDWLYHO\ WKH VDOH RI WKH
UHVSHFWLYH DUHDV RI LQWHUHVW 7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ KDV DQ LQWHUHVW LQ FHUWDLQ H[SORUDWLRQ WHQHPHQWV DQG
WKH DPRXQWV VKRZQ DERYH LQFOXGH DPRXQWV H[SHQGHG WR GDWH LQ WKH DFTXLVLWLRQ DQGRU H[SORUDWLRQ RI WKRVH
WHQHPHQWV

 &855(1775$'($1'27+(53$<$%/(6





7UDGHSD\DEOHV

&RQVROLGDWHG

$


5HIHUWRQRWHIRUIXUWKHULQIRUPDWLRQRQILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWV

 &855(1727+(5/,$%,/,7,(6



$FFUXHGH[SHQVHV
2WKHUOLDELOLWLHV DSSOLFDWLRQPRQLHV 







 &855(17),1$1&,$//,$%,/,7,(6
/RDQIURPUHODWHGSDUW\



7UDQVDFWLRQV EHWZHHQ WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ DQG LWV UHODWHG SDUW\ FRQVLVW RI D ORDQ ZKLFK LV LQWHUHVWIUHH
XQVHFXUHGDQGDWFDOO
5HIHUWRQRWHIRUIXUWKHULQIRUPDWLRQRQILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWV
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 &2175,%87('(48,7<

2UGLQDU\VKDUHVIXOO\SDLG

1XPEHURI
6KDUHV

&RQVROLGDWHG

$





,VVXH3ULFH





$






0RYHPHQWVLQRUGLQDU\VKDUHFDSLWDO
'HWDLOV
%DODQFH
,VVXHRIVKDUHV
,VVXHRIVKDUHV
,VVXHRIVKDUHV 1RWH
%DODQFH

'DWH
6HSWHPEHU
6HSWHPEHU
6HSWHPEHU
$XJXVW
'HFHPEHU

1RRIVKDUHV






2UGLQDU\VKDUHV
2UGLQDU\ VKDUHV HQWLWOH WKH KROGHU WR SDUWLFLSDWH LQ GLYLGHQGV DQG WKH SURFHHGV RQ WKH ZLQGLQJ XS RI WKH
FRPSDQ\ LQ SURSRUWLRQ WR WKH QXPEHU RI DQG DPRXQWV SDLG RQ WKH VKDUHV KHOG 7KH IXOO\ SDLG RUGLQDU\
VKDUHVKDYHQRSDUYDOXHDQGWKH&RPSDQ\GRHVQRWKDYHDOLPLWHGDPRXQWRIDXWKRULVHGFDSLWDO
2Q D VKRZ RI KDQGV HYHU\ PHPEHU SUHVHQW DW D PHHWLQJ LQ SHUVRQ RU E\ SUR[\ VKDOO KDYH RQH YRWH DQG
XSRQDSROOHDFKVKDUHVKDOOKDYHRQHYRWH
 6+$5(%$6('3$<0(176
14 0LQHUDOV 3W\ /WG LVVXHG  VKDUHV IRU WKH SXUFKDVH RI WKUHH (30V IURP %OXH 'RH *ROG 3W\ /WG
EHLQJ (30 7KH %OXH 'RH (30  (GZDUG DQG (30  (DJOH +DZN 7KH VKDUHV ZHUH
LVVXHG IRU D WRWDO SULFH RI  ZKLFK ZHUH EDVHG RQ WKH HVWLPDWHG IDLU PDUNHW SULFH WKDW WKH
WHQHPHQWV ZRXOG FKDQJH KDQGV LQ DQ RSHQ DQG XQUHVWULFWHG PDUNHW EHWZHHQ D ZLOOLQJ EX\HU DQG ZLOOLQJ
VHOOHULQDQ³DUP¶VOHQJWK´WUDQVDFWLRQDVGHWHUPLQHGE\DQLQGHSHQGHQWYDOXHU
 $&&808/$7('/266(6
$FFXPXODWHGORVVHVDWWKHEHJLQQLQJRIWKHILQDQFLDOSHULRG
1HWORVVHVDIWHULQFRPHWD[H[SHQVHIRUWKHSHULRG
$FFXPXODWHGORVVHVDWWKHHQGRIWKHILQDQFLDOSHULRG

&RQVROLGDWHG

$

 
 

 ),1$1&,$/,17580(176
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V ILQDQFLDO LQVWUXPHQWV FRPSULVH FDVK DQG FDVK HTXLYDOHQWV ERUURZLQJV DQG LWHPV
VXFK DV WUDGH SD\DEOHV ZKLFK DULVH GLUHFWO\ IURP LWV RSHUDWLRQV 7KH PDLQ SXUSRVH RI WKHVH ILQDQFLDO
VWDWHPHQWVLVWRSURYLGHILQDQFHIRUWKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\ VRSHUDWLRQV
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V RSHUDWLRQ H[SRVH LW WR D YDULHW\ RI ILQDQFLDO ULVNV LQFOXGLQJ FUHGLW ULVN OLTXLGLW\ ULVN
LQWHUHVW UDWH ULVN DQG IRUHLJQ FXUUHQF\ H[FKDQJH UDWH ULVN 7KH 'LUHFWRUV GR QRW EHOLHYH WKH FRQVROLGDWHG
HQWLW\LVH[SRVHGWRDQ\PDWHULDOHTXLW\SULFHULVN7KHSROLFLHVDUHVHWE\WKH%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUV
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 ),1$1&,$/,17580(176 &217 '
&ODVVLILFDWLRQRIILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWV
$OO FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ ILQDQFLDO DVVHWV DUH FODVVLILHG DV ORDQV DQG UHFHLYDEOHV DQG DUH KHOG DW DPRUWLVHG
FRVW $OO RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V ILQDQFLDO OLDELOLWLHV DUH FODVVLILHG DV RWKHU ILQDQFLDO OLDELOLWLHV DUH DOVR KHOG
DWDPRUWLVHGFRVW7KHFDUU\LQJYDOXHRIDOOILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWVDSSUR[LPDWHVWRWKHLUIDLUYDOXH
&DSLWDOPDQDJHPHQW
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V REMHFWLYHV ZKHQ PDQDJLQJ FDSLWDO DUH WR VDIHJXDUG WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V DELOLW\
WR FRQWLQXH DV D JRLQJ FRQFHUQ WR SURYLGH UHWXUQV IRU VKDUHKROGHUV DQG WR PDLQWDLQ DQ RSWLPDO FDSLWDO
VWUXFWXUH WR UHGXFH WKH FRVW RI FDSLWDO 7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ GHILQHV FDSLWDO DV EHLQJ VKDUH FDSLWDO SOXV
UHVHUYHV 7KH %RDUG RI 'LUHFWRUV PRQLWRU WKH OHYHO RI FDSLWDO DV FRPSDUHG WR WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V
FRPPLWPHQWV DQG DGMXVWV WKH OHYHO RI FDSLWDO DV LV GHWHUPLQHG WR EH QHFHVVDU\ E\ LVVXLQJ QHZ VKDUHV 7KH
FRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\LVQRWVXEMHFWWRDQ\H[WHUQDOO\LPSRVHGFDSLWDOUHTXLUHPHQWV
&UHGLWULVN
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V FUHGLW ULVN LV SULPDULO\ DWWULEXWDEOH WR LWV FDVK DQG FDVK HTXLYDOHQWV +RZHYHU
WKHVH DUH GHSRVLWHG DW UHSXWDEOH ILQDQFLDO LQVWLWXWLRQV WKHUHIRUH PDQDJHPHQW GR QRW FRQVLGHU WKH ULVN WR EH
VLJQLILFDQW
7KH FDUU\LQJ DPRXQW RI ILQDQFLDO DVVHWV UHSUHVHQWV WKH PD[LPXP FUHGLW H[SRVXUH 7KH PD[LPXP FUHGLW
H[SRVXUH WR FUHGLW ULVN DW WKH UHSRUWLQJ GDWH ZDV  7KH WRWDO RI RWKHU UHFHLYDEOHV DQG FDVK DQG FDVK
HTXLYDOHQWV FRQVWLWXWHV DOO RI WKH ILQDQFLDO DVVHWV ZLWKLQ WKH ,$6  FDWHJRU\ ORDQV DQG UHFHLYDEOHV KHOG E\
WKHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\
,QWHUHVWUDWHULVN
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V LQWHUHVW EHDULQJ DVVHWV FRPSULVH RQO\ FDVK DQG FDVK HTXLYDOHQWV DQG HDUQ
LQWHUHVWDWDYDULDEOHUDWH7KHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\ VOLDELOLWLHVDUHDOOQRQLQWHUHVWEHDULQJ
7KH RQO\ ERUURZLQJ DW  'HFHPEHU  ZDV  RZLQJ WR D GLUHFWRU RI WKH HQWLW\ ZKLFK WKH ORDQ LV
DWFDOOXQVHFXUHGDQGLQWHUHVWIUHH
1R VHQVLWLYLW\ DQDO\VLV IRU LQWHUHVW UDWH ULVN KDV EHHQ SUHVHQWHG DV DQ\ FKDQJHV LQ WKH UDWHV RI LQWHUHVW
DSSOLHGWRFDVKEDODQFHVZRXOGKDYHQRVLJQLILFDQWHIIHFWRQHLWKHUSURILWRUORVVRUHTXLW\
7KHFRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\KDVQRWHQWHUHGLQWRDQ\GHULYDWLYHWUDQVDFWLRQVGXULQJWKHILQDQFLDOSHULRG
/LTXLGLW\ULVN
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ DFWLYHO\ PDLQWDLQV FDVK EDODQFHV WKDW DUH GHVLJQHG WR HQVXUH WKDW VXIILFLHQW IXQGV
DUH DYDLODEOH IRU RSHUDWLRQV DQG SODQQHG H[SDQVLRQV 7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ PRQLWRUV LWV OHYHOV RI ZRUNLQJ
FDSLWDO WR HQVXUH WKDW LW FDQ PHHW LWV GHEW UHSD\PHQWV DV WKH\ IDOO GXH $OO RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V
ILQDQFLDOOLDELOLWLHVDUHPHDVXUHGDWDPRUWLVHGFRVW
1RQGHULYDWLYH ILQDQFLDO OLDELOLWLHV FRPSULVLQJ WUDGH FUHGLWRUV DQG DFFUXDOV RI  DUH UHSD\DEOH ZLWKLQ 
  PRQWKV IURP WKH \HDU HQG 2WKHU OLDELOLWLHV KDYH EHHQ VHWWOHG E\ LVVXH RI VKDUHV DIWHU WKH \HDU HQG
%RUURZLQJ DPRXQWLQJ WR  LV UHSD\DEOH ZLWKLQ  PRQWKV IURP WKH \HDU HQG 7KHVH DPRXQWV
UHSUHVHQW WKH FRQWUDFWXDO XQGLVFRXQWHG FDVK IORZV EDODQFHV GXH HTXDO WKHLU FDUU\LQJ EDODQFHV DV WKH
LPSDFWRIGLVFRXQWLQJLVQRWVLJQLILFDQW
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 ),1$1&,$/,17580(176 &217 '
)RUHLJQFXUUHQF\H[FKDQJHUDWHULVN
7KH JURXS SULPDULO\ XQGHUWDNHV WUDQVDFWLRQV LQ $XVWUDOLDQ 'ROODUV WKH JURXS V IXQFWLRQDO FXUUHQF\ +HQFH
H[SRVXUHWRH[FKDQJHUDWHIOXFWXDWLRQVLVPLQLPXP

 &217,1*(17/,$%,/,7,(6
7KHUH LV VRPH ULVN WKDW QDWLYH WLWOH DV HVWDEOLVKHG E\ WKH +LJK &RXUW RI $XVWUDOLD¶V GHFLVLRQ LQ WKH 0DER
FDVH H[LVWV RYHU VRPH RI WKH ODQG RYHU ZKLFK WKH &RPSDQ\ KROGV WHQHPHQWV RU RYHU ODQG UHTXLUHG IRU
DFFHVVSXUSRVHV
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ LV XQDEOH WR GHWHUPLQH WKH SURVSHFWV IRU VXFFHVV RU RWKHUZLVH RI WKH IXWXUH FODLPV
DQG LQ DQ\ HYHQW ZKHWKHU RU QRW DQG WR ZKDW H[WHQW WKH IXWXUH FODLPV PD\ VLJQLILFDQWO\ DIIHFW WKH
FRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\RULWVSURMHFWV

 &200,70(176

&RQVROLGDWHG

$

([SHQGLWXUHFRPPLWPHQWV

,Q RUGHU WR PDLQWDLQ FXUUHQW ULJKWV RI WHQXUH WR H[SORUDWLRQ WHQHPHQWV WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ LV UHTXLUHG WR
SHUIRUP PLQLPXP H[SORUDWLRQ ZRUN WR PHHW WKH PLQLPXP H[SHQGLWXUH UHTXLUHPHQWV VSHFLILHG E\ YDULRXV
JRYHUQPHQWV 0LQLPXP ZRUN DQG H[SHQGLWXUH UHTXLUHPHQWV KDYH QRW EHHQ PHW 7KHVH REOLJDWLRQV DUH
VXEMHFW WR SHULRGLFDOO\ UHQHJRWLDWLRQ 7KHVH REOLJDWLRQV DUH QRW SURYLGHG IRU LQ WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV DQG
DUHSD\DEOH
:LWKLQRQH\HDU
$IWHURQH\HDUEXWQRWPRUHWKDQILYH\HDUV





 ,17(5(676,168%6,',$5,(6
7KH FRQVROLGDWHG ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV LQFRUSRUDWH WKH DVVHWV OLDELOLWLHV DQG UHVXOWV RI WKH IROORZLQJ
VXEVLGLDULHVLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKWKHDFFRXQWLQJSROLF\GHVFULEHGLQQRWH
1DPH
&LUFOH5HVRXUFHV3W\/WG

3ULQFLSDOSODFHRIEXVLQHVV
FRXQWU\RILQFRUSRUDWLRQ
$XVWUDOLD

2ZQHUVKLS
LQWHUHVW


140LQHUDOV3W\/WGREWDLQHGDLQWHUHVWLQ&LUFOH5HVRXUFHV3W\/WGRQ2FWREHU

 .(<0$1$*(0(173(56211(/',6&/2685(6
1R FRPSHQVDWLRQ KDYH EHHQ PDGH WR GLUHFWRUV DQG RWKHU PHPEHUV RI NH\ PDQDJHPHQW SHUVRQQHO RI WKH
FRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\
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 5(/$7('3$57<75$16$&7,216
3DUHQWHQWLW\
140LQHUDOV3W\/WGLVWKHSDUHQWHQWLW\
6XEVLGLDULHV
,QWHUHVWVLQVXEVLGLDULHVDUHVHWRXWLQQRWH
.H\PDQDJHPHQWSHUVRQQHO
'LVFORVXUHVUHODWLQJWRNH\PDQDJHPHQWSHUVRQQHODUHVHWRXWLQQRWH
/RDQSD\DEOHWRDUHODWHGSDUW\
7KHIROORZLQJEDODQFHLVRXWVWDQGLQJDWWKHUHSRUWLQJGDWHLQUHODWLRQWRDWUDQVDFWLRQZLWK
DUHODWHGSDUW\
/RDQSD\DEOHWR'LUHFWRU:DOWHU'R\OH

&RQVROLGDWHG

$


 (9(176$)7(57+(5(3257,1*3(5,2'
6XEVHTXHQW WR WKH \HDU HQG D WRWDO RI  VKDUHV ZHUH LVVXHG E\ WKH SDUHQW HQWLW\ RI WKH *URXS
ZKLFK LQFOXGHG  VKDUHV LVVXHG DW  RQ  )HEUXDU\   VKDUHV LVVXHG DW  RQ
 0D\  DQG  VKDUHV LVVXHG DW  RQ  0D\  IRU D WRWDO DPRXQW RI 
6KDUHV LVVXHG UDLVHG FDVK SURFHHGV RI  DIWHU DOORZLQJ IRU D VKDUH EDVHG SD\PHQW DPRXQWLQJ WR
DQGFRQYHUVLRQRIDOLDELOLW\WRHTXLW\DPRXQWLQJWR
2Q  0D\  DOO WKH VKDUHV RI WKH SDUHQW HQWLW\ RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG JURXS ZHUH WUDQVIHUUHG E\ LWV
VKDUHKROGHUV WR 14 0LQHUDOV /LPLWHG LQ H[FKDQJH IRU DQ HTXLYDOHQW SURSRUWLRQDWH HTXLW\ KROGLQJ LQ WKDW
FRPSDQ\ 7KH SDUHQW HQWLW\ LV QRZ ZKROO\ RZQHG E\ 14 0LQHUDOV /LPLWHG D FRPSDQ\ GRPLFLOHG LQ WKH
8QLWHG.LQJGRP
1R RWKHU PDWWHUV RU FLUFXPVWDQFHV KDYH DULVHQ VLQFH  'HFHPEHU  WKDW KDV VLJQLILFDQWO\ DIIHFWHG RU
PD\ VLJQLILFDQWO\ DIIHFW WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V RSHUDWLRQV WKH UHVXOWV RI WKRVH RSHUDWLRQV RU WKH
FRQVROLGDWHGHQWLW\ VVWDWHRIDIIDLUVLQIXWXUHILQDQFLDO\HDUV
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 5(&21&,/,$7,212)/266$)7(5,1&20(7$;721(7&$6+)520
23(5$7,1*$&7,9,7,(6

&RQVROLGDWHG

$

/RVVDIWHULQFRPHWD[H[SHQVHIRUWKHSHULRG

 

1RQFDVKDGMXVWPHQWV
'HEWIRUJLYHQHVVLQFRPH
'HSUHFLDWLRQ
,PSDLUPHQWORVV

 



&KDQJHVLQDVVHWVDQGOLDELOLWLHV
'HFUHDVH LQFUHDVH LQWUDGHDQGRWKHUUHFHLYDEOHV
,QFUHDVH GHFUHDVH LQWUDGHDQGRWKHUSD\DEOHV
,QFUHDVH GHFUHDVH LQRWKHUOLDELOLWLHV
1HWFDVKSURYLGHGE\ XVHGLQ RSHUDWLQJDFWLYLWLHV

 


 

 121&$6+,19(67,1*$1'),1$1&,1*$&7,9,7,(6
6LJQLILFDQWQRQFDVKLQYHVWLQJDQGILQDQFLQJWUDQVDFWLRQV
,VVXDQFHRIVKDUHVIRUDFTXLVLWLRQRIH[SORUDWLRQULJKWV QRWH 
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,QWKHGLUHFWRUV RSLQLRQ
D WKH DWWDFKHG ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV DQG QRWHV WKHUHWR FRPSO\ ZLWK WKH $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV
DQGRWKHUPDQGDWRU\SURIHVVLRQDOUHSRUWLQJUHTXLUHPHQWV
E WKH DWWDFKHG ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV DQG QRWHV WKHUHWR FRPSO\ ZLWK ,QWHUQDWLRQDO )LQDQFLDO
5HSRUWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV DV LVVXHG E\ WKH ,QWHUQDWLRQDO $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV %RDUG DV
GHVFULEHGLQQRWHWRWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
F

WKH DWWDFKHG ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV DQG QRWHV WKHUHWR JLYH D WUXH DQG IDLU YLHZ RI WKH
FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ V ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ DV DW  'HFHPEHU  DQG RI LWV SHUIRUPDQFH IRU
WKHILQDQFLDO\HDUHQGHGRQWKDWGDWH

G WKHUH DUH UHDVRQDEOH JURXQGV WR EHOLHYH WKDW WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ ZLOO EH DEOH WR SD\ LWV
GHEWVDVDQGZKHQWKH\EHFRPHGXHDQGSD\DEOH


2QEHKDOIRIWKHGLUHFWRUV

:DOWHU'DQLHO'R\OH
'LUHFWRU
'DWHGDWWKH*ROG&RDVWRQWKLVWKGD\RI-XO\





Dr. Nigel C Purves
&KDUWHUHG$FFRXQWDQW
&$$$%XVLQHVV$FFRXQWDQWV3/WG
6XLWH*URXQG)ORRU
6KRUW6W6287+32574/'
3K
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
727+(0(0%(562)140,1(5$/637</7'
5HSRUWRQWKH)LQDQFLDO5HSRUW

, KDYH DXGLWHG WKH DFFRPSDQ\LQJ ILQDQFLDO UHSRUW EHLQJ D JHQHUDO SXUSRVH ILQDQFLDO UHSRUW RI 14
0LQHUDOV 3W\ /WG ZKLFK FRPSULVHV WKH FRQVROLGDWHG VWDWHPHQW RI ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ DV DW  'HFHPEHU
 WKH FRQVROLGDWHG VWDWHPHQW RI SURILW RU ORVV DQG RWKHU FRPSUHKHQVLYH LQFRPH FRQVROLGDWHG
VWDWHPHQW RI FKDQJHV LQ HTXLW\ DQG FRQVROLGDWHG VWDWHPHQW RI FDVK IORZV IRU WKH  PRQWK SHULRG
WKHQ HQGHG QRWHV FRPSULVLQJ D VXPPDU\ RI VLJQLILFDQW DFFRXQWLQJ SROLFLHV DQG RWKHU H[SODQDWRU\
LQIRUPDWLRQ DQG WKH GLUHFWRU V GHFODUDWLRQ RI WKH FRQVROLGDWHG HQWLW\ FRPSULVLQJ WKH &RPSDQ\ DQG WKH
HQWLW\LWFRQWUROOHGDWWKHSHULRG VHQGRUIRUPWLPHWRWLPHGXULQJWKHILQDQFLDOSHULRG
'LUHFWRU VUHVSRQVLELOLW\IRUWKH)LQDQFLDO5HSRUW
7KH GLUHFWRUV RI WKH FRPSDQ\ DUH UHVSRQVLEOH IRU WKH SUHSDUDWLRQ RI WKH ILQDQFLDO UHSRUW WKDW JLYHV D
WUXH DQG IDLU YLHZ LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK $XVWUDOLDQ $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV DQG IRU VXFK LQWHUQDO FRQWURO DV
WKH GLUHFWRUV GHWHUPLQH LV QHFHVVDU\ WR HQDEOH WKH SUHSDUDWLRQ RI WKH ILQDQFLDO UHSRUW WKDW JLYHV D WUXH
DQG IDLU YLHZ DQG LV IUHH IURP PDWHULDO PLVVWDWHPHQW ZKHWKHU GXH WR IUDXG RU HUURU ,Q 1RWH  WKH
GLUHFWRUV DOVR VWDWH LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUG $$6%  3UHVHQWDWLRQ RI )LQDQFLDO
6WDWHPHQWVWKDWWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFRPSO\ZLWK,QWHUQDWLRQDO)LQDQFLDO5HSRUWLQJ6WDQGDUGV
Auditor’s Responsibility
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PART 5
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1
1.1

Responsibility
The Directors, whose names appear on page 5 of this document, and the Company accept
responsibility, both individually and collectively, for the information contained in this
document. To the best of the knowledge of the Directors and the Company (who have taken
all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this
document is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the
import of such information.

2
2.1

The Company
The Company was incorporated on 14 April 2015 in England and Wales under the Act with
registration number 9540926 under the name NQ Minerals Limited. It was reregistered as a
plc on 10 July 2015.

2.2

The liability of the members of the Company is limited.

2.3

The registered ofﬁce of the Company is Finsgate, 5-7 Cranwood Street London EC1V 9EE.
The principal place of business of the Company is Level 5, RSL Centre, 9 Beach Road,
Surfers Paradise, Queensland 4217, Australia. The telephone number of the Company is 020
7309 2222.

2.4

The principal legislation under which the Company operates is the Companies Act 2006, as
amended and the regulations made thereunder.

2.5

The Company is domiciled in England.

2.6

The accounting reference date of the Company is currently 31 December.

2.7

The Company’s corporate website, at which the information about the Company’s business,
its directors, ﬁnancial reports, latest announcements are published and other investor related
information as recommended by Rule 75 of the ISDX Growth Market Rules can be found, is
www.nqmpl.com.

2.8

The Company currently has two subsidiaries, the details of which are set out below:
Name
NQ Minerals Pty Ltd
ACN 165 670 271
Circle Resources Pty Ltd
ACN 129 855 714

3
3.1

Share Capital
486,184,000

Country of
Incorporation
Australia

264,764

Australia

Principal
activity
Mining
exploration
Mining
exploration

Percentage owned
by the Company
100%
100% owned by NQ
Minerals Pty Ltd

Share Capital
The share capital history of the Company from the date of the Company’s incorporation to
the date of this document is as follows:
3.1.1

On incorporation of the Company, 1 Ordinary Share of £1 was issued to International
Registrars Limited at a subscription price of £1;

3.1.2

On 25 May 2015, the members of the Company passed an ordinary resolution to
sub-divide the 1 issued Ordinary Share of £1 into 1,000 Ordinary Shares of £0.001
each.

3.1.3

On 25 May 2015, International Registrars Limited transferred 1,000 Ordinary Shares
of £0.001 each to Tarver Partners Inc.

3.1.4

Pursuant to a Share Sale Agreement dated 25 May 2015, between the Company
and NQ, Beaufort Nominees Limited, Blue Doe Gold Plc, Tarver Partners Inc. and
Dave Zes (‘‘NQ Shareholders’’), the NQ Shareholders agreed to sell to the Company,
their 121,546,000 Ordinary Shares of £0.001 each which represented the entire
issued share capital of NQ in consideration for ordinary shares in the capital of the
Company in the proportions set out below in paragraph 6.5. Subsequently, NQ
became the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
148

3.2

Save as referred to in this paragraph 3 and paragraph 4 of this Part 5, no share or loan
capital of the Company is under option or has been agreed, conditionally or unconditionally,
to be put under option, and there are in issue no convertible securities.

3.3

There are no shares not representing share capital and there are no Ordinary Shares in the
Company held by or on behalf of the Company or by any of the Subsidiary Undertakings.

3.4

The Subscription will result in the issue of 12,500,000 Subscription Shares. The Company’s
issued share capital at 21 July 2015 being the latest practicable date prior to publication of
this document is, 121,546,000 and is expected to be 134,046,000 immediately following
Admission, as follows:

Amount (£)
121,546
3.5

3.6

As at 21 July 2015
Number of Existing
Ordinary Shares
in issue
121,546,000

As at Admission

Amount (£)
134,046

Number of Ordinary
Shares in issue
134,046,000

By resolutions of the Company passed on 9 July 2015 the Company:
3.5.1

authorised the Directors generally and unconditionally to allot equity securities (as
deﬁned in section 560 of the CA 2006) up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£20,000 provided that this authority shall, unless renewed, varied or revoked by the
Company, expire on the ﬁfth anniversary of the date hereof; and

3.5.2

authorised the Directors generally and unconditionally to allot equity securities (as
deﬁned in section 560 of the CA 2006) pursuant to the authority conferred by the
resolution set out above as if section 561(1) of the CA 2006 did not apply to such
allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to the allotment of equity
securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £20,000 and expire on the ﬁfth
anniversary of the date hereof.

By further resolutions of the Company passed on 21 July 2015 the Company:
3.6.1

authorised the Directors generally and unconditionally to allot equity securities (as
deﬁned in section 560 of the CA 2006) up to an aggregate nominal amount of a
further £12,500 provided that this authority shall, unless renewed, varied or revoked
by the Company, expire on the ﬁfth anniversary of the date hereof; and

3.6.2

authorised the Directors generally and unconditionally to allot equity securities (as
deﬁned in section 560 of the CA 2006) pursuant to the authority conferred by the
resolution set out above as if section 561(1) of the CA 2006 did not apply to such
allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to the allotment of equity
securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £12,500 and expire on the ﬁfth
anniversary of the date hereof.

3.7

There is no class of shares in issue other than Ordinary Shares.

3.8

No Ordinary Shares are issued other than as fully paid.

4
4.1

Warrants
The Company has granted warrants to International Financial Strategic Associates Limited
(which is owned 100% by Brian Stockbridge) to subscribe for the Ordinary Shares
representing 5% of the issued capital of the Company at 1p per Ordinary Share.

5
5.1

Directors
Other than their directorships of the Company, the current directorships and partnerships of
the Directors and directorships and partnerships held by them over the previous ﬁve years
are as follows:
Director
Walter Daniel Doyle

Current Directorships/Partnerships
Intergroup Mining Limited
Jodo Gold Pty Ltd
Axatan Pty Ltd
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Previous Directorships/
Partnerships
Adavale Holdings Pty Ltd
Wishbone Gold PTY Ltd
Blue Doe Gold PTY Ltd

Previous Directorships/
Partnerships
Brumby Group PTY Ltd
Circle Resources Holdings Ltd
C02 Energy Storage Pty Ltd
Direct Energy Holdings Pty Ltd
Drummond Basin Phosphate Pty
Ltd
Halite Resources Pty Ltd
Iron Glen Pty Ltd
Olivina Pty Ltd
Propelled Energy Systems Pty Ltd
Queensland Phosphate Limited
Queensland Potash Pty Ltd

Director

Current Directorships/Partnerships
NQ Minerals Pty Ltd.
Circle Resources Pty Ltd.

Frederick Bryan
Smart

AB Dynamics Plc
Brooklands Museum Trust Limited
Daimler UK Trustees Limited
Greka Drilling Limited
Greka Engineering Technology
Limited

Brooklands Estates Management
Limited
Carbo Tech AG
Daimler Chrysler UK Limited
Mercedes-Benz Brooklands
Limited
Mercedes-Benz Computer
Services UK Limited
Mercedes-Benz Limited
Rangers International Football Club
plc
Scotty Group Europe Limited
Scotty Group plc
Tradelinens Limited
Woking Motors Limited
Mercedes-Benz Retail Group UK
Limited

Brian Stockbridge

International FSA Limited
IFSA Commercial Finance Limited
Financial Strategic Associates
Limited
Yumchaa Holdings Limited
Allegiance Insure Limited
Intergroup Mining Limited
ABI Markets Limited
Stockbridge Capital Limited
Bidco Tea Limited
Class of 2015 A Limited
NQ Minerals Pty Ltd.

Rangers International Football Club
plc
Rangers Football Club Limited
Rangers Retail Limited
Rangers Media Limited
Garrion Security Services Limited
Rangers Financial Services Limited
Rangers Matchday Services
Limited
Rangers Media Investments
Limited
Rangers Youth Development
Limited
Rangers.co.uk Limited
Rangers Shop Limited
Stockbridge Capital Investment
Limited

5.2

The business address of each of the Directors is Finsgate, 5-7 Cranwood Street, London
EC1V 9EE.

5.3

Save as disclosed in paragraph 5 below, as at the date of this document, none of the
Directors has:
5.3.1

any unspent convictions in relation to indictable offences; or

5.3.2

been declared bankrupt or made any individual voluntary arrangement; or
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5.3.3

been a director of a company at the time of or within the twelve months preceding
any
receivership,
compulsory
liquidation,
creditors’
voluntary
liquidation,
administration, voluntary arrangement or any composition or arrangement with
creditors generally or any class of creditors; or

5.3.4

been a partner or in a partnership at the time of or within the twelve months
preceding the partnership being subject to a compulsory liquidation, administration or
partnership voluntary arrangement; or

5.3.5

had any asset subject to receivership or been a partner of any partnership at the
time of or within the twelve months preceding any asset of such partnership being
subject to a receivership; or

5.3.6

been subject to any public criticism by statutory or regulatory authorities (including
recognised professional bodies), nor disqualiﬁed by a court from acting as a director
of a company or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any
company.

5.4

No Director has been interested in any transaction with the Company, which was unusual in
its nature or conditions or signiﬁcant to the business of the Company during the current
ﬁnancial year which remains outstanding or unperformed.

6
6.1

Directors’ and Other Interests
The interests of the Directors (all of which are beneﬁcial, unless otherwise stated), and (so
far as is known to the Directors, or could with reasonable diligence be ascertained by them)
the interests of persons connected with the Directors, in the Existing Ordinary Shares of the
Company as at 21 July 2015 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this
document) and as at Admission will be as follows:

Walter Daniel Doyle
Federick Bryan Smart
Brian Stockbridge

As at 21 July 2015
Percentage
Number of
of issued
Ordinary
Ordinary
Shares Share Capital
100,000,000***
82.27%
—
—
3,000,000**
2.47%

As at Admission
Number of
Ordinary
Shares
100,000,000
—
3,000,000

Percentage
of Enlarged
Share Capital*
74.6%
—
2.24%

* Assuming full subscription under the Subscription.
** These Shares are held in Beaufort Nominees Limited.
*** These Shares are held in Tarver Partners Inc.

6.2

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any interests of persons connected
with them.

6.3

The Directors are not required to hold any Ordinary Shares under the Articles.

6.4

Save as disclosed in paragraph 4.1 above, none of the directors hold any options to
subscribe for Ordinary Shares.
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6.5

Other than as set out below, the Company is not aware of any person, other than the
Directors and their immediate families, who as at 21 July 2015 (being the latest practicable
date prior to publication of this document) and immediately following Admission will, directly
or indirectly, be interested in 3 per cent. or more of the voting rights of the Company or who,
directly or indirectly, jointly or severally exercise or could exercise control over the Company,
or whose interest is notiﬁable under the Disclosure Rules or otherwise in the UK:

Beaufort Nominees Limited**
Blue Doe Gold Plc
Tarver Partners Inc.***

As at 21 July 2015
Percentage of
Number of
issued
Ordinary
Ordinary
Shares Share Capital
11,531,000
9.49%
10,000,000
8.23%
100,000,000
82.27%

As at Admission
Number of
Ordinary
Shares
11,531,000
10,000,000
100,000,000

Percentage of
Enlarged
Share Capital*
8.60%
7.46%
74.6%

* Assuming full subscription under the Subscription.
** 3,000,000 of which are beneﬁcially owned by Brian Stockbridge.
*** Beneﬁcially owned by Walter Daniel Doyle.

6.6

Other than the protections afforded to Shareholders in the Company under the City Code
(details of which are set out in Part 1 of this document) and the relationship agreement set
out at paragraph 14.1.4 there are no controls in place to ensure that any shareholder having
a controlling interest in the Company does not abuse that interest.

6.7

Save for the Subscription, neither the Directors nor the Company are aware of any
arrangements in place, which may result in a change in control of the Company.

6.8

Save as disclosed in this document, none of the Directors has any interest, beneﬁcial or
non-beneﬁcial, in the share or loan capital of the Company.

6.9

Save as disclosed in this document, no Director has any interest, direct or indirect, in any
assets which have been or are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or leased to, the
Group and no contract or arrangement exists in which any Director is materially interested
and which is signiﬁcant in relation to the business of the Group.

6.10 There are no outstanding loans granted by the Company to any Director, nor are there any
guarantees provided by the Company for their beneﬁt.
6.11 No Director or any member of a Director’s family has a related ﬁnancial product referenced
to the Ordinary Shares.
7
7.1

7.2

Directors’ Service Agreement and Letters of Appointment
The Non-Executive Letters of Appointment are summarised as follows:
7.1.1

Brian Stockbridge has entered into an agreement to act as a non-executive chairman
for an initial term of 12 months and will be required to retire according to the
Articles. He shall be paid an annual fee of £36,000, which will be settled monthly.
His notice period is 3 months. There is no provision for any beneﬁts upon
termination of his services; and

7.1.2

Bryan Smart has entered into
initial term of 12 months and
shall be paid an annual fee
period is 3 months. There is
services.

an agreement to act as a non-executive director for an
will be required to retire according to the Articles. He
of £24,000, which will be settled monthly. His notice
no provision for any beneﬁts upon termination of his

The Service Agreement is summarised as follows:
7.2.1

Walter Doyle has entered into an agreement to act as chief executive ofﬁcer for an
initial term of 12 months. He shall be paid an annual fee of £24,000, which will be
settled in equal monthly instalments. His notice period is 6 months. There is no
provision for any beneﬁts upon termination of his employment.
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7.3

Other than as disclosed above, there are no Directors’ service contracts, or contracts in the
nature of services, with the Company, other than those which expire or are terminable
without payment of compensation on no more than 12 months’ notice.

7.4

The aggregate remuneration payable and beneﬁts in kind to be granted to the Directors in
the last ﬁnancial period ending 31 December 2014 was £Nil and the aggregate remuneration
payable and beneﬁts in kind to be granted to the Directors in the current ﬁnancial period
ending 31 December 2015 under the arrangements in force at the date of this document is
estimated to be £42,000.

8

Accounting
The Company’s accounting reference date is 31 December in each year. The Company’s
next accounting reference period will end on 31 December 2015.

9

Taxation

9.1

General
The following comments are intended as a general guide to the UK tax treatment of the
acquisition, ownership and disposal of shares for persons who are the absolute beneﬁcial
owners of those shares. The comments are based on the law and understanding of the
practice HMRC at the date of this document. The comments do not apply to certain
categories of shareholder, such as persons owning Ordinary Shares as securities to be
realised in the course of a trade. The comments should not be construed as advice and
investors should obtain their own separate professional advice on the tax implications
of acquiring, owning and/or disposing of Ordinary Shares.

9.2

Taxation of Dividends
9.2.1 Under current United Kingdom tax legislation, no tax is required to be withheld from
dividend payments by the Company.

9.3

9.2.2

A UK resident shareholder who is an individual will be entitled on receipt of a
dividend to a notional tax credit equal to one ninth of the net dividend (i.e. one tenth
of the aggregate of the net dividend and associated tax credit).

9.2.3

The rate of income tax payable on such dividends by a UK individual shareholder
whose total income, including the dividend and the associated tax credit, does not
exceed the basic rate threshold is 10 per cent. Accordingly, the tax credit will
discharge such shareholder’s liability to UK income tax on the dividend. To the
extent that the tax credit exceeds that shareholder’s liability to UK income tax, such
shareholder will not be entitled to claim payment of the excess from H M Revenue
and Customs.

9.2.4

The rate of income tax payable on such dividends by a UK individual shareholder,
whose total income, including the dividend and associated tax credit, falls within the
40% income tax band, is 32.5 per cent, which taking into account the 10 per cent.
tax credit gives an effective rate of tax of 25 per cent. on the actual received
dividend. For UK individuals in the 45% income tax band the effective rate is
approximately 30.6%.

9.2.5

The recent Budget announcement has indicated that the rules for the taxation of
dividends are set to change from April 2016. The Chancellor has announced special
dividend tax rates of 7.5% tax rate for basic rate tax payers, 32.5% for 40% tax
payers and 38.1% for 45% tax payers. A £5,000 exemption will also be introduced.
However this all remains to be conﬁrmed in law.

Capital gains tax
9.3.1 A disposal of shares is generally subject to capital gains tax unless the shareholder
is carrying out a share dealing trade.
9.3.2

Chargeable gains are taxable on individuals and trustees at a ﬂat rate of 28% (or
18% to the extent that the individual has not fully utilized the basic rate income tax
band).
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9.4

UK Corporate Shareholders
Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax which are ‘‘small companies’’ (for the
purposes of UK taxation of dividends) will not generally expect to be subject to UK tax on
dividends from the Company. Other Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax will
not be subject to UK tax on dividends (including dividends from the Company) so long as
the dividends fall within an exempt class and certain conditions are met. In general,
dividends paid on shares that are ‘‘ordinary share capital’’ for UK tax purposes and are not
redeemable, and dividends paid to a person holding less than 10 per cent. of the issued
share capital of the payer (or any class of that share capital) are examples of dividends that
fall within an exempt class.

9.5

Chargeable Gains – corporate shareholders
Companies are chargeable to corporation tax on gains may be eligible for indexation
allowance which can be used to reduce the chargeable gain.

9.6

Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax (‘‘SDRT’’)
No UK stamp duty will be payable on the issue by the Company of Ordinary Shares.
Transfers of shares for value generally give rise to a liability to pay UK ad Valorem stamp
duty or stamp duty reserve tax at a rate in each case of 50p per £100 of the amount of
value or consideration. However exemption is available if the Ordinary Shares qualify as
being traded on a Recognized Growth Market. ISDX Growth Market currently qualiﬁes as a
Recognized Growth Market

9.7

Inheritance Tax
The Ordinary Shares are assets situated in the United Kingdom for the purposes of UK
inheritance tax. A gift of Ordinary Shares by or the death of, an individual Shareholder may
(subject to certain exemptions and reliefs, which in cases have restrictions around quoted
shares) give rise to a liability to UK inheritance tax even if the Shareholder is neither
domiciled nor deemed to be domiciled in the United Kingdom.

9.8

Enterprise Investment Scheme (‘‘EIS’’) Relief
Income tax relief, CGT deferral relief, CGT exemption relief and loss relief may all be
available to investors under the EIS legislation. EIS relief can be claimed only by a
‘‘qualifying investor’’ (see below) who subscribes for new ‘‘eligible shares’’ (see below) issued
by a ‘‘qualifying company’’ (see below).
9.8.1

Income Tax Relief
EIS relief is obtained at a rate of up to 30 per cent. The maximum investment per
individual is £1 million per tax year. Spouses are also entitled to a maximum of
£1 million. For income tax purposes (but not CGT deferral, see below), the individual
does not need to be a UK resident. However, income tax relief is only available
where an investor has a UK income tax liability. The amount of income tax relief
cannot exceed an individual’s tax liability. Relief is normally given in the tax year in
which the individual invests, but can be carried back to the previous year (see
below).

9.8.2

CGT Exemption
To the extent that EIS income tax relief is given and not withdrawn, any capital gain
accruing to an individual on a disposal of the shares three or more years after the
date of issue (or, if later, three or more years after the anniversary of the date
trading commences) is not chargeable to CGT. The exemption does not extend to
any gain deferred by CGT deferral (see below).

9.8.3

Loss Relief
Where an investor incurs a loss on the ﬁrst disposal of their shares, the loss
calculated after deducting EIS income tax relief from the base cost usually may be
set against either chargeable gains or taxable income at the election of the investor.
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9.8.4

‘‘Qualifying investor’’ for EIS Income Tax Relief
An individual must not be, nor have been within the previous two years prior to the
date of issue of the shares, connected with the Company, or become connected with
it within the next three years (or, if later, within the three years following the date of
commencement of trading), if they are to retain the tax reliefs. The main rules
relating to connection are that:
(i)

neither the individual nor their associates may be an employee, partner or
paid director of the Company (subject to (iii) below) or its subsidiaries. An
unpaid director is not disqualiﬁed if they are reimbursed travelling or
subsistence expenses which would otherwise be allowable for taxation;

(ii)

neither the individual nor their associates may control the Company or
possess more than 30 per cent. of the issued ordinary share capital or
voting powers in the Company or rights carrying entitlements to 30 per
cent. of the assets available for distribution to equity holders; (This may be
amended following 2015 Budget proposals and in particular it is intended
that the investor should no longer be eligible for relief if he holds any
shares in the company at the time the relevant shares are issued unless
the shares are subscriber shares or were previously issued under the EIS)

(iii)

an individual may become a paid director of the Company provided at the
time he or she subscribes for eligible shares he or she is not, and had not
previously been, otherwise connected with the Company nor with the trade
carried on by the Company by reference to (i) or (ii) above. Any
remuneration paid to a director must be reasonable.
There is also other anti-avoidance legislation, in particular the value
received rules. Under these, EIS income tax relief may be reduced or
withdrawn where the investor receives any value from the Company. Relief
of the investor may also be withdrawn where other Shareholders of the
Company are repaid capital or receive value from the Company.

9.8.5

Qualifying Company
For a period of three years following the issue of the shares (or, if later, three years
following the date of commencement of the trade), the Company must only:
(i)

Carry on a qualifying trade; and/or

(ii)

be the parent company of a group which exists wholly, or substantially
wholly for the purposes of carrying on qualifying trades; and

(iii)

not be disqualiﬁed by anti-avoidance rules.
The money raised by the issue of qualifying shares must be employed
wholly for the purpose of a qualifying business activity within 2 years of the
date of the issue of the shares or, if later, the commencement of trade.
To be qualifying, the shares of the company must not be quoted on a
recognised Stock Exchange at the time the eligible shares are issued
(ISDX is not regarded as recognised for this purpose) and no arrangements
must exist at that time for the company to become quoted

(iv)
9.8.6

The Company must have a UK permanent establishment.

New qualifying criteria to limit eligibility for companies receiving their ﬁrst risk ﬁnance
investment have been proposed.The limit will be 10 years after the ﬁrst commercial
sale took place for knowledge intensive companies and 7 years for other qualifying
companies. There will be no time limit for companies receiving follow-on funding after
their ﬁrst risk ﬁnance investment. This rule will also not apply where the total
investment represents more than 50% of the average of the company’s (or group’s)
turnover over the preceding 5 years.
These rules have yet to be brought into legislation
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9.8.7

Eligible Shares
Eligible EIS shares are new ordinary shares which, throughout the period of 3 years
beginning with the date on which they are issued or, if later, the date of
commencement of the trade, carry no present or future preferential right to dividends
where the rights are cumulative (that is, the right to receive the dividend rolls forward
to future periods if the Company has insufﬁcient proﬁts to pay the dividend) or where
the amount and timing of the dividends depend on a decision of the company, the
holder of the share or any other person (see further note below) or to the company’s
assets on its winding up and carry no present or future right to be redeemed.
Limit of Investment total qualifying funds that can be invested in any one company in
aggregate under the EIS, and VCT legislation and any other risk capital schemes
subject to EU state aid approval is £5 million in a 12 month period. This may
increase following the 2015 Budget proposals

9.8.8

Gross Assets
The Company and its group at the time of investment under the EIS must have
gross assets of no more than £15 million immediately before investment and no
more than £16 million immediately afterwards.

9.8.9

Employees
The Company and its group at the time of investment under the EIS must have
fewer than 250 full time equivalent employees.
Advance Assurance
The Company has received from HMRC advance assurance, based on information
supplied, that the Company will be carrying on a qualifying trade and that the shares
to be issued will be ‘‘eligible shares’’.
Advance assurance is indicative but is not binding on HMRC. The position could also
be affected by acts or omissions of the Company during the 3 year period from the
issue of the shares (or, if later, the date of commencement of the trade).
No assurances can be given that the Company will continue to qualify under the EIS
scheme.

9.8.10 Claims
Investors claim income tax relief by submitting a tax relief certiﬁcate (Form EIS 3)
issued to them by the Company to the Inspector of Taxes dealing with their own tax
affairs. The claims for relief must be made no later than 5 years after the 31 January
following the end of the tax year in which the shares are issued.
9.8.11 Carry Back of Relief
Investors may claim to have some or all of the relief in the year preceding that in
which the shares were issued. There is no limit on the amount which may be carried
back, but the relief available in the earlier year will be subject to the overriding limit
for relief for that year.
9.8.12 Withdrawal of EIS Relief
If the conditions for EIS relief relating to a company cease to be satisﬁed during the
period of three years from the issue of the shares (or, if later, three years from the
date of commencement of trade), the relief will be withdrawn. EIS relief will also be
wholly or partly withdrawn if, for example, the claimant receives signiﬁcant value from
the Company (other than dividends) or disposes of the shares within three years of
the date of issue (or, if later, within three years of the date of commencement of the
trade). EIS relief will also be lost if an investor takes out a loan under special terms
connected in any way with the shares.
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10

Articles

10.1 Voting Rights
10.1.1 Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting attached to any shares by or
in accordance with these Articles, on a show of hands every member who is present
in person or by proxy not being himself a member shall have one vote and on a poll
every member who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every
share of which he is the holder.
10.1.2 Subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act and to any rights or restrictions as to
voting attached to any class of shares, at any general meeting on a show of hands
every member who (being an individual) is present in person or (being a corporation)
is present by a duly authorised representative has one vote, and on a poll every
member present in person or by proxy or (being a corporation) by a duly authorised
representative has one vote for each Ordinary Share of which he is the holder.
10.1.3 A member or members present in person or by proxy and representing not less than
one tent of the total voting rights of all the members having the right to vote at the
meeting or a member or members present in person or by proxy and holding shares
in the Company conferring a right to vote at the meeting on which an aggregate sum
has been paid up equal to at least one tenth of the total sum paid up on all the
shares conferring that right.
10.1.4 Where a Share is registered in the joint names of two or more persons, the vote
tendered (whether in person or by proxy) by the person whose name precedes that
or those of the other joint holder(s) so voting in the Register in respect of such
Share, shall be accepted to the exclusion of those other votes.
10.1.5 In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the
chairman of the meeting at which the show of hands takes place or at which the poll
is demanded shall be entitled to a casting vote, in addition to any other vote he may
have.
10.2 Major Shareholders
10.2.1 Nothing in the Articles confers on major shareholders in the Company any voting
rights, which are different to those conferred on the holders of Ordinary Shares as
described in paragraph 1 above.
10.2.2 Pursuant to Rule 5 of the Disclosure Rules, holders of three per cent. or more of the
voting rights of the Company’s share capital are required to notify their interest in
writing to the Company. To the extent that persons who already hold at least 3 per
cent. or more of the voting rights of the Company’s share capital increase or
decrease their holding, section 792 of the 2006 Act required that this was also
notiﬁed to the Company by the shareholder.
10.2.3 Pursuant to section 793 of the 2006 Act, the Company may by notice in writing
require a person whom the Company knows or has reasonable cause to believe to
be or, at any time during the three years immediately preceding the date on which
the notice is issued, to have been interested in shares comprised in the Company’s
issued share capital, to conﬁrm that fact or (as the case may be) to indicate whether
or not it is the case, and where that person holds, or has during that time held an
interest in shares to comprised, to give such further information as may be required
in accordance with sections 793(3), (4) and/or (6) of the 2006 Act.
10.3 Transfer of Shares
10.3.1 Title to and interest in shares may be transferred without a written instrument in
accordance with statutory regulations from time to time made under the 2006 Act.
10.3.2 Transfer of shares may be effected by transfer in writing in any usual or common
form or in any other form acceptable to the directors. The instrument of transfer shall
be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and (except in the case of fully paid
shares) by or on behalf of the transferee. The transferor shall be deemed to remain
the holder of the share until the name of the transferee is entered on the register of
members in respect thereof.
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10.3.3 All transfers of shares must be effected by an instrument of transfer in writing in any
usual form or in any other form approved by the Board. The instrument of transfer
shall be executed by or on behalf of the transferor and, except in the case of fully
paid shares, by or on behalf of the transferee.
10.3.4 The Board may, in its absolute discretion and without giving any reason, refuse to
register any transfer of shares unless:
10.3.4.1 the instrument of transfer is in respect of a share in respect of which all
sums presently payable to the Company have been paid is in respect of a
share which is fully paid up;
10.3.4.2 it is in respect of a share on which the Company has no lien;
10.3.4.3 it is in respect of only one class of share;
10.3.4.4 it is in favour of more than four joint transferees;
10.3.4.5 it is duly stamped (if required); and
10.3.4.6 the instrument of transfer duly stamped is deposited at the ofﬁce or such
other place as the directors may appoint, accompanied by the certiﬁcate for
the shares to which it relates and such other evidence as the directors may
reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer,
provided that, in the case of a transfer by a nominee of a recognised
clearing house or of a recognised investment exchange, the lodgment of a
share certiﬁcate will only be necessary if a certiﬁcate has been issued in
respect of the share in question.
10.3.5 The Directors shall not refuse to register any transfer or renunciation of partly paid
shares which are admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange on the grounds
that they are partly paid shares in circumstances where such refusal would prevent
dealings in such shares from taking place on an open and proper basis.
10.3.6 If the Board refuses to register a transfer it must, within two months after the date
on which the transfer was lodged with the Company, send notice of the refusal to
the transferor and the transferee.
10.3.7 The registration of transfers may be suspended by the Board for any period (not
exceeding 30 days) in any year.
10.3.8 The Ordinary Shares now in issue are, and the new Ordinary Shares to be issued
pursuant to the Placing will be, in registered form. Title to the Ordinary Shares in
issue or to be issued may be transferred by means of a relevant system such as the
CREST System.
There are no other restrictions on the transfer of shares and no pre-emption rights in respect
of them.
10.4 Requirement to disclose interests in shares
10.4.1 If any member, or any person appearing to be interested in shares held by such
member, has been duly served with a notice under section 793 of the Act and is in
default for the prescribed period in supplying to the Company the information
required by such notice, then (unless the Board otherwise determines) in respect of
the relevant shares, the member shall not (for so long as the default continues) nor
shall any transferee to whom any of such shares are transferred (other than pursuant
to an approved transfer) be entitled to vote, either personally or by proxy, at a
shareholders’ meeting or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in
relation to shareholders’ meetings.
10.4.2 In this Article, ‘‘relevant shares’’ means:
10.4.2.1 all the shares in the shareholding account in the register which
compromises or includes the default shares; and
10.4.2.2 any other shares from time to time held by the member concerned.
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10.4.3 If a member, or any other person appearing to be interested in shares held by that
member, has been issued with a notice pursuant to section 793 of the 2006 Act and
has failed in relation to any shares (the ‘‘default shares’’) to give the Company the
information thereby required within the prescribed period from the date of notice, the
following sanctions shall apply:
10.4.3.1 the member shall not be entitled in respect of the default shares to be
present or to vote (either in person or by representative or proxy) at any
general meeting or at any separate meeting of the holders of any class of
shares or on any poll or to exercise any other right conferred by
membership in relation to any such meeting or poll; and
10.4.3.2 where the default shares represent at least 0.25 per cent. in nominal value
of their class the defaulting member shall not be entitled to:
10.4.3.2.1 receive dividends, any dividend or other money payable in
respect of the shares shall be withheld by the Company, which
shall not have any obligation to pay interest on it and the
member shall not be entitled to elect in the case of a scrip
dividend to receive shares instead of that dividend; and
10.4.3.2.2 to transfer or agree to transfer any of such shares, or any rights
therein.
10.4.4 The above restrictions shall continue until either the default is remedied or the
shares are registered in the name of the purchaser or offeror (or that of his nominee)
pursuant to an arm’s length transfer. Any dividends withheld pursuant to shall be
paid to the member as soon as practicable after the above restrictions lapse.
10.4.5 For the purposes of this Article, a person shall be treated as appearing to be
interested in any shares if the member holding such shares has been served with a
notice under section 793 of the Act and either:
10.4.5.1 the member has named such person as being so interested; or
10.4.5.2 (after taking into account the response of the member to such notice and
any other relevant information) the Board knows or has reasonable cause
to believe that the person in question is or may be interested in the
Shares;
10.4.5.3 a transfer of shares is an approved transfer if it is a transfer of shares to
an offeror by way or in pursuance of acceptance of a take-over made to all
holders (other than the person making such offer and his nominees) of
shares (or of shares of particular class) in a company; or
10.4.5.4 the Board is satisﬁed that the transfer is made pursuant to a bona ﬁde sale
of the whole of the beneﬁcial ownership of the shares to a party
unconnected with the member or with any person appearing to be
interested in such shares (including any such sale made through or on a
dealing facility provided by the London Stock Exchange or made through
such Exchange or any other stock exchange outside the United Kingdom
on which the Company’s shares are normally traded). For the purposes of
this sub paragraph (b), any associate (as that term is deﬁned in section
435 of the Insolvency Act 1986) shall be included amongst the persons
who are connected with the member or any person appearing to be
interested in such shares.
10.4.6 The provisions of this Article are in addition to, and shall not limit or restrict any
powers available under, the Act.
10.5 Dividends
10.5.1 Subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act and of the Articles and to any special
rights attaching to any shares, the Company may by ordinary resolution declare
dividends, but no such dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the
Board. All dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts
paid up or credited as paid up (otherwise than in advance of calls) on the shares
during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid.
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Interim dividends may be paid provided that they appear to the Board to be justiﬁed
by the proﬁts available for distribution and the position of the Company. Unless
otherwise provided by the rights attached to any share, no dividends in respect of a
share shall bear interest. The Board may, with the prior authority of an ordinary
resolution of the Company, offer the holders of Ordinary Shares the right to elect to
receive Ordinary Shares credited as fully paid instead of cash in respect of all or part
of any dividend.
10.5.2 Any dividend unclaimed after a period of twelve years from its due date of payment
shall be forfeited and cease to remain owing by the Company and shall thereafter
belong to the Company absolutely.
10.5.3 Where, in respect of any shares, any registered holder or any other person
appearing to be interested in shares of the Company fails to comply with any notice
given by the Company under section 793 of 2006 Act, then, provided that the shares
concerned represent at least 0.25 per cent. in nominal amount of the issued shares
of the relevant class, the Company may withhold dividends on such shares.
10.6 Distribution of assets on liquidation
On a winding up of the Company, the liquidator may, with the authority of an extraordinary
resolution and any other sanction required by the 2006 Act divide among the members in
specie the whole or any part of the assets of the Company, and whether or not the assets
shall consist of property of one kind or shall consist of properties of different kinds, and may
for such purposes set such value as he deems fair upon any one or more class or classes
of property, and may determine how such divisions shall be carried out as between the
members or different classes of members. The liquidator may, with the like authority, vest
any part of the assets in trustees upon such trusts for the beneﬁt of members as the
liquidator, with the like authority, shall think ﬁt, and the liquidation of the Company may be
closed and the Company dissolved, but so that no member shall be compelled to accept any
shares in respect of which there is a liability.
10.7 General meetings
10.7.1 A general meeting shall be deemed to have been duly called even if the notice is
less than 21 clear days’ notice in writing, by a majority in number of the members
having a right to attend and vote at that meeting, being a majority together holding
not less than 95 per cent. in nominal value of the shares giving that right.
10.7.2 An Annual General Meeting shall be held once a year (in addition to any other
general meetings held), at such time (but not more than 15 months after the holding
of the last preceding Annual General Meeting) and place as may be determined by
the Board. Subject to a member’s right to requisition a general meeting pursuant to
section 303 of the 2006 Act, general meetings of the Company are convened at the
discretion of the board.
10.7.3 The Directors may whenever they think ﬁt, and shall on requisition in accordance
with the 2006 Act, proceed to convene a general meeting for a date not later than 7
weeks after receipt of the requisition.
10.7.4 Subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act, an annual general meeting shall be called
on at least 21 clear days notice and a general meeting shall be called on at least 14
clear days notice at the least, and all other general meetings shall be called by
fourteen days’ notice. Every notice shall be in writing (or shall be given by electronic
communication to an address being notiﬁed for that purpose to the Company) and
shall specify the place, the day and the time of meeting, and in the case of special
business the general nature of such business, and in the case of an annual general
meeting shall specify the meeting as such. Notices shall be given in manner
hereinafter mentioned to all the members, other than those who under the provisions
of the Articles or the conditions of issue of the shares held by them are not entitled
to receive the notice, to the Directors (including the alternate directors) and to the
auditors for the time being.
10.7.5 Subject to the provisions of these Articles, notice of a general meeting of the
Company may be given:
10.7.5.1 in hard copy form;
160

10.7.5.2 in electronic form;
10.7.5.3 by means of a website; or
10.7.5.4 partly by one such means and partly by another.
10.7.6 Subject to any conditions or limitations speciﬁed in the notice, where the Company
has given an electronic address in a notice calling a meeting, any document or
information relating to proceedings at the meeting may be sent by electronic means
to that address.
10.7.7 In every notice calling a meeting of the Company there shall appear with reasonable
prominence a statement that a member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to
appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote instead of him and that a proxy need
not also be a member.
10.8 Redemption
The Ordinary Shares are not redeemable.
10.9 Conversion
The Company may, by ordinary resolution and subject to the 2006 Act convert all or any of
its fully-paid shares into stock of the same class and denomination and reconvert such stock
into fully paid up shares of the same class and denomination.
10.10 Changes in share capital
10.10.1 it may it may by ordinary resolution increase its share capital, consolidate and divide
all or any of its share capital into shares of larger amounts, cancel any shares which
have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person and sub-divide its shares
or any of them into shares of smaller amounts;
10.10.2 subject to any consent required by law and to any rights for the time being attached
to any shares, it may by special resolution reduce its share capital, any capital
redemption reserve, any share premium account or other undistributable reserve in
any manner; and
10.10.3 subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act and to any rights for the time being
attached to any shares it may with the sanction of a special resolution enter into any
contract for the purchase of its own shares.
10.11 Variation of rights
10.11.1 Subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act and of the Articles, the special rights
attached to any class of share in the Company may be varied or abrogated either
with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three quarters in nominal
value of the issued shares of the class or with the sanction of an extraordinary
resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the shares of the
class (but not otherwise) and may be so varied or abrogated whilst the Company is
a going concern or while the Company is or is about to be in liquidation. The
quorum for such separate general meeting of the holders of the shares of the class
shall be at least two persons holding or representing by proxy at least one third of
the nominal amount paid up on the issued shares of the relevant class.
10.11.2 The preceding provisions of this Article shall apply to the variation or abrogation of
the rights attached to some only of the shares of any class as if the shares
concerned and the remaining shares of such class formed two spate classes, the
rights of which are in each case to be varied.
10.11.3 The rights attached to any class of shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly
provided in the rights attached to, or the terms of issue of, such shares, be deemed
to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking as regards
participation in the proﬁts or assets of the Company in no respect in priority to them
or by the purchase or redemption by the Company of its own shares in accordance
with the provisions of the Statutes and these Articles.
10.12 Constitution of board of directors
Subject to the Articles, the directors shall be not less than two in number but the Company
may by ordinary resolution from time to time vary the minimum number and may also ﬁx and
from time to time vary a minimum or a maximum number of directors.
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10.13 Permitted interests of directors
10.13.1 Subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act, a director is not disqualiﬁed by his ofﬁce
from contracting with the Company in any manner, nor is any contract in which he is
interested liable to be avoided, and any director who is so interested is not liable to
account to the Company for any proﬁt realised by the contract, by reason of the
director holding that ofﬁce or of the ﬁduciary relationship thereby established.
10.13.2 A director may hold any other ofﬁce or place of proﬁt with the Company (except that
of auditor) in conjunction with his ofﬁce of director and may act in a professional
capacity for the Company (other than as auditor) on such terms as to tenure of
ofﬁce, remuneration or otherwise as the directors may determine. A director may also
hold ofﬁce as a director or other ofﬁcer or be otherwise interested in any other
company of which the Company is a member or in which the Company is otherwise
interested and shall not be liable to account to the Company for any remuneration or
other beneﬁts received by him from that company.
10.13.3 Conﬂicts of interest requiring authorisation by Directors:
10.13.3.1 The Board may, subject to the quorum and voting requirements set out in
this Article, authorise any matter which relates to a situation in which a
Director (the ‘‘relevant Director’’) has, or can have, a direct or indirect
interest which conﬂicts, or possibly may conﬂict, with the interests of the
Company and which would, if not so authorised, result in a breach of duty
by the relevant Director under Section 175 of the 2006 Act (a ‘‘Conﬂict’’).
10.13.3.2 The relevant Director seeking authorisation in respect of a Conﬂict must
declare to the Board the nature and extent of his interest in that Conﬂict as
soon as is reasonably practicable. The relevant Director must provide the
Board with such details as are necessary for the Board to decide whether
or not to authorise the Conﬂict. The relevant Director must also provide
such additional information as may be requested by the Board.
10.13.4 Any Director (including the relevant Director) may propose that a Conﬂict be
authorised by the Board. Such proposal and any authorisation given by the Board
shall be effected in the same way that any other matter may be proposed to and
resolved upon by the Board in accordance with the provisions of these Articles save
that:
10.13.4.1 the relevant Director and any other Director with an interest in the Conﬂict
(together the ‘‘Interested Directors’’) shall not count towards the quorum nor
vote on any resolution giving such authorisation; and
10.13.4.2 an Interested Director may, if the other members of the Board so decide,
be excluded from any board meeting while the Conﬂict is under
consideration.
10.13.5 Where the Board authorises a Conﬂict:
10.13.5.1 the Board may (whether at the time of giving the authorisation or
subsequently):
10.13.5.1.1 require that an Interested Director is excluded from the receipt
of information, the participation in discussion and/or the making
of decisions (whether at meetings of the Board or otherwise)
related to the Conﬂict;
10.13.5.1.2 impose upon an Interested Director such other terms for the
purpose of dealing with the Conﬂict as it may determine;
10.13.5.1.3 the Interested Director will be obliged to conduct himself in
accordance with any terms imposed by the Board in relation to
the Conﬂict;
10.13.5.1.4 the Board may provide that where the Interested Director
obtains or has obtained (through his involvement in the Conﬂict
and otherwise than through his position as a Director of the
Company) information that is conﬁdential to a third party, the
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Director will not be oblige to disclose that information to the
Company, or to use or apply the information in relation to the
Company’s affairs;
10.13.5.1.5 the terms of the authorisation must be recorded in writing (but
the authority will be effective whether or not the terms are so
recorded); and
10.13.5.1.6 the Board may revoke or vary such authorisation any time but
this will not affect anything done by the Interested Director prior
to such revocation or variation in accordance with the terms of
such authorisation.
10.13.6 For the avoidance of doubt, a Director may, subject to declaring the nature and
extent of his interest to the Board in accordance with Sections 184 or 185 of the Act,
be or become a director of any other company in which the Company does not have
an interest and which cannot reasonably be regarded as giving rise to a Conﬂict as
a director of that other company.
10.13.7 Permitted directors’ interests:
10.13.7.1 If a Director is in any way directly or indirectly interested in a proposed
Contract with the Company or a Contract that has been entered into by the
Company or a Contract or proposed Contract in which the Company has a
direct or indirect interest, he must declare the nature and extent of that
interest to the Directors in accordance with Sections 177(2) and 182(2) of
the 2006 Companies Act.
10.13.7.2 If he has declared the nature and extent of his interest in accordance with
Article 82.1.2), a Director may:
10.13.7.2.1 be interested, directly or indirectly, in a Contract with the
Company, or in a Contract in which the Company has a direct
or indirect interest;
10.13.7.2.2 hold any other ofﬁce or place of proﬁt with the Company
(except that of Auditor) in conjunction with his ofﬁce of Director
for such period and upon such terms including as to
remuneration, as the Board may decide;
10.13.7.2.3 hold any other ofﬁce or place of proﬁt with the Company
(except that of Auditor) in conjunction with his ofﬁce of Director
for such period and upon such terms, including as to
remuneration, as the Board may decide;
10.13.7.2.4 act by himself or through a ﬁrm with which he is associated in a
professional capacity for the Company or any other company in
which the Company may be interested (otherwise than as
Auditor); and
10.13.7.2.5 be or become a director or other ofﬁcer of, or employed by, or
otherwise be interested in, any holding company or subsidiary
company of the Company or any other company promoted by
the Company or in which the Company may be interested or as
regards which it has any power of appointment.
10.13.8

A Director need not declare an interest under:
10.13.8.1.1 if it cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a
conﬂict of interest;
10.13.8.1.2 of which the Director is not aware, or where the Director is not
aware of the Contract in question, and for this purpose a
Director is treated as being aware of matter of which he ought
reasonably to be aware;
10.13.8.1.3 if, or to the extent that, the other Directors are already aware of
it (and for this purpose the Directors are treated as aware of
anything of which they ought reasonably to be aware); or
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10.13.8.1.4 if, or to the extent that, it concerns terms of a service contract
that have been or are to be considered by a Board meeting or
a committee of the Directors appointed for this purpose under
these Articles.
10.14.Restrictions on voting by directors
10.14.1 A director who is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested or deemed by
the 2006 Act to be interested in a contract, transaction or arrangement or a
proposed contract, transaction or arrangement with the Company shall declare the
nature of his interest at a meeting of the directors in accordance with Section 182 of
the 2006 Act.
10.14.2 Save as provided below, a director (including an alternate director) shall not vote in
respect of any contract or arrangement or any other proposal in which he has any
material interest otherwise than by virtue of his interests in shares or debentures or
other securities or rights of the Company. However a director shall be entitled to vote
in respect of any contract or arrangement or any other proposal in which he has any
interest which is not material. A director shall not be counted in the quorum at a
meeting in relation to any resolution on which he is debarred from voting. A director
of the Company shall be entitled to vote (and be counted in the quorum) in respect
of any resolution at such meeting if his duty or interest arises only because the
resolution relates to one of the following matters:
10.14.2.1 the giving to him of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect of
money lent or obligations incurred by him at the request of or for the
beneﬁt of the Company;
10.14.2.2 the giving to a third party of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect
of a debt or obligation of the Company for which he himself has assumed
responsibility in whole or in part, under a guarantee or indemnity or by the
giving of security;
10.14.2.3 any proposal concerning an offer for subscription or purchase of shares or
debentures or other securities or rights of or by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or of any Company which the Company may promote or in
which it may be interested in which offer he is or is to be interested as a
participant in the underwriting or sub-underwriting thereof;
10.14.2.4 any proposal concerning any other Company in which he is interested
directly or indirectly and whether in any one or more of the capacities of
ofﬁcer, creditor, employee or holder of shares, debentures, securities or
rights of that other Company, but where he is not the holder (otherwise
than as a nominee for the Company or any of its subsidiaries) of or
beneﬁcially interested in one per cent. or more of the issued shares of any
class of such Company or of any third Company through which his interest
is derived or of the voting rights available to members of the relevant
Company (any such interest being deemed for the purpose of this Article to
be a material interest in all circumstances);
10.14.2.5 any proposal concerning the adoption, modiﬁcation or operation of a
superannuation fund, retirement beneﬁts scheme, share option scheme or
share incentive scheme under which he may beneﬁt; or
10.14.2.6 any arrangement concerning the purchase and/or maintenance of any
insurance under which he may beneﬁt.
10.14.3 Where proposals are under consideration concerning the appointment (including ﬁxing
or varying the terms of appointment) of two or more directors to ofﬁces or
employments with the Company or any Company in which the Company is
interested, such proposals may be divided and considered in relation to each director
separately and in such case each of the directors concerned (if not otherwise
debarred from voting) shall be entitled to vote (and be counted in the quorum) in
respect of each resolution except that concerning his own appointment.
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10.14.4 The Company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax the provisions relating to
Directors’ interests either generally or in respect of any particular matter or ratify any
transaction not duly authorised by reason of the contravention thereof.
10.15 Appointment and retirement of directors
10.15.1 The directors shall have power at any time, and from time to time, to appoint any
person who is willing to act to be a director, either to ﬁll a vacancy or as an
additional director, but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time
exceed the maximum number (if any) ﬁxed by or in accordance with the Articles.
Subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act and of the Articles, any director so
appointed shall hold ofﬁce only until the conclusion of the next following annual
general meeting, and shall be eligible for reappointment at that meeting. Any director
who retires shall not be taken into account in determining the directors who are to
retire by rotation at such meeting and if not re-appointed at such annual general
meeting, he shall vacate ofﬁce at the conclusion thereof.
10.15.2 No person other than a director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by
the directors for appointment, be eligible for appointment to the ofﬁce of director at
any general meeting unless, not less than seven nor more than twenty eight days
before the day appointed for the meeting, there shall have been given to the
Company notice in writing by some member duly qualiﬁed to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person for
appointment stating the particulars which would, if he were so appointed, be required
to be included in the Company’s register of directors, and also notice in writing
signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be appointed.
10.15.3 At each annual general meeting, one-third of the directors who are subject to
retirement by rotation and in ofﬁce at the opening of business on the date of the
notice calling the relevant annual general meeting or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding one-third, or if their
number is less than three then one of them, shall retire from ofﬁce. A director retiring
at a meeting shall retain ofﬁce until the dissolution of such meeting.
10.15.4 The directors to retire at such annual general meeting shall include such of the
directors referred to above who wish to retire and not offer themselves for re-election
(if any) together with, to the extent that the number of such Directors is insufﬁcient to
meet the number required to retire, such of the directors who have been longest in
ofﬁce as are necessary to meet such number. As between two or more who have
been in ofﬁce an equal length of time, the director(s) to retire shall (in default of
agreement between them) be determined by lot. The length of time a director has
been in ofﬁce shall be computed from his last election, re-election or appointment
when he has previously vacated ofﬁce. A retiring director shall be eligible for reelection.
10.15.5 The Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution increase or reduce the
number of directors, and may also determine in what rotation such increased or
reduced number is to retire from ofﬁce.
10.15.6 The Company at the meeting at which a Director retires under any provision of these
Articles may, by ordinary resolution, ﬁll the vacancy by electing the retiring Director
or some other person eligible for election. If no such election is made, the retiring
Director shall be deemed to have been re elected except in any of the following
cases:
10.15.6.1 where at such meeting it is expressly resolved not to ﬁll such ofﬁce or a
resolution for the re election of such Director is put to the meeting and lost;
10.15.6.2 where such Director has given notice in writing to the Company that he is
unwilling to be re-elected;
10.15.6.3 where the failure to elect a Director is caused by a resolution being
proposed in contravention of this Article;
10.15.6.4 where such Director has reached any retiring age applicable to him as
Director.
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10.15.7 The retirement shall not have effect until the conclusion of the meeting except where
a resolution is passed to elect some other person in the place of the retiring Director
or a resolution for his re election is put to the meeting and lost. Accordingly, a
retiring Director who is re elected or deemed to have been re elected will continue in
ofﬁce without a break.
10.16 Remuneration of directors
10.16.1 The maximum aggregate annual fees payable to the directors for their services in
holding ofﬁce of director of the company shall be the sum of £50,000 (excluding
value added tax) or such larger sum as the company in general meeting by ordinary
resolution shall from time to time determine, but this limit shall not apply in respect of
the salaries, bonuses or other remuneration payable by the company or any
subsidiary of the company or expenses reimbursed to any director.
10.16.2 Any director who serves on any committee or who devotes special attention to the
business of the Company, or who otherwise performs services which in the opinion
of the directors are outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a director, may be
paid such remuneration by way of salary, lump sum, percentage of proﬁts or
otherwise as the directors may determine. The directors shall also be entitled to be
paid all traveling, hotel and other expenses properly incurred by them in connection
with the business of the Company, or in attending and returning from meetings of the
directors or of committees of the directors or general meetings or separate meetings
of the holders of any class of shares or of debentures of the Company or otherwise
in connection with the discharge of their duties.
10.17 Borrowing powers
Subject as hereinafter provided the directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to
borrow money and to mortgage or charge its undertaking, property, assets and uncalled
capital, and (subject to the 2006 Act) to issue debentures and other securities, whether
outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any
third party.
10.18 The Articles contain no provisions restricting the objects of the Company. In accordance with
Section 31 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company’s objects are therefore unrestricted.
11

Mandatory Bids, Squeeze-Out and Sell-Out Rules relating to the Ordinary Shares

11.1 Mandatory Bid
The Company will be subject to the provisions of the City Code, including the rules regarding
mandatory takeover offers set out in the City Code. Under Rule 9 of the City Code, when: (i)
a person acquires interests in shares which, when taken together with shares in which he or
persons acting in concert with him (as deﬁned in the City Code) are already interested, carry
30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of a company subject to the City Code; or (ii) any
person who, together with persons acting in concert with him, is interested in shares carrying
not less than 30 per cent. but not more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights of a company
subject to the City Code, and such person, or any person acting in concert with him,
acquires interests in additional shares which increases his percentage interest in the voting
rights in the company, then, in either case, that person, together with the persons acting in
concert with him, is normally required to make a general offer in cash, at the highest price
paid by him or any person acting in concert with him for shares in the company within the
preceding 12 months, for all of the remaining equity share capital of the company.
11.2 Squeeze-out
The Ordinary Shares will also be subject to the compulsory acquisition procedures set out in
sections 979 to 991 of the Act. Under section 979 of the Act, where an offeror makes a
takeover offer and has, by virtue of acceptances of the offer, acquired or unconditionally
contracted to acquire not less than 90 per cent. of the shares to which the offer relates and,
in a case where the shares to which the offer relates are voting shares, not less than 90 per
cent. of the voting rights carried by those shares, that offeror is entitled to compulsorily
acquire the shares of any holder who has not acquired the offer on the terms of the offer.
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11.3 Sell-out
Section 983 of the Act permits a minority shareholder to require an offeror to acquire its
shares if the offeror has acquired or contracted to acquire shares in the Company which
amount to not less 90 per cent. in value of all the voting shares in the Company and carry
not less than 90 per cent. of voting rights. Certain time limits apply to this entitlement. If a
shareholder exercises its rights under these provisions, the offeror is bound to acquire those
shares on the terms of the offer or on such other terms as may be agreed. There have been
no takeover bids by third parties in respect of the Company’s equity, which have occurred
during the last ﬁnancial year or the current ﬁnancial year.
12

Corporate Governance
The Directors recognise the value and importance of high standards of corporate governance
and intend, given the Company’s size and the constitution of the Board, to comply, where
practicable, with the principal provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code. The
Company also intends to follow, where practicable, the recommendations on corporate
governance of the ‘‘QCA Guidelines’’.
At all times, the Company will have a balanced and experienced Board who will seek to
eliminate conﬂicts of interest. The Board will meet quarterly and other times as necessary.
The Board will provide leadership, strategic oversight and a controlled environment to sustain
delivery of value to all shareholders and success to the Company.
The Board
The Board controls the Company, which is responsible for the Company’s system of
corporate governance. The Board comprises three Directors, two of whom are non-executive
Directors. The non-executive Directors possess a wide range of skills and experience,
relevant to the development of the Company, which complement those of the executive
Director.
In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all Directors will be subject to
election by the shareholders at the ﬁrst Annual General Meeting of the Company after their
appointment, and, thereafter, at least every three years. The terms of reference of the
Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer have been agreed with the Board and, in accordance
with best practice, their roles remain separate.
Board Committees
In accordance with best practice, the Company has established audit and remuneration
committees, with written terms of reference for each that deal with their respective authorities
and duties. The full terms of reference of all the committees are available from the company
secretary or can be located on the Company’s website (www.nqmpl.com).
Audit Committee
The audit committee is comprised entirely of non-executive Directors. Bryan Smart, who the
Board considers has recent and relevant ﬁnancial experience, chairs it. The other member is
Brian Stockbridge.
The audit committee is expected to meet not less than two times per each ﬁnancial year.
The audit committee is responsible for, amongst other things:
*

making recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment, terms of
engagement, remuneration and resignation or dismissal of the Company’s external
auditor;

*

reviewing the Company’s annual accounts and interim reports prior to submission for
approval to the Board focussing particularly on, inter alia, changes to the accounting
policies;

*

overseeing the relationship with the Company’s auditor, ensuring the independence
and objectivity of the auditor;

*

reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls systems;

*

reviewing the nature and extent of non-audit services supplied by the auditors;
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*

developing and implementing a policy on engagement of external auditor to supply
non-audit services; and

*

reviewing the external auditor’s management letter and response.

Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee is comprised entirely of non-executive Directors. It is chaired by
Brian Stockbridge and the other member is Bryan Smart. The committee is expected to meet
not less than twice a year.
The remuneration committee is responsible for, amongst other things:
*

making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s framework of executive
remuneration and its cost;

*

determining the speciﬁc remuneration packages of each executive Director including
pension rights, incentive payments, share options and compensation payments;

*

ensuring that performance-related elements of remuneration should form a signiﬁcant
proportion of the total remuneration package of executive directors and should be
designed to align their interests with those of shareholders and to give such
executives incentives to perform at the highest level;

*

considering whether the executive directors should be eligible for annual bonuses
and, if so, to consider an upper limit for such bonuses;

*

considering whether the executive directors should be eligible for beneﬁts under longterm incentive schemes;

*

approving the terms of any service agreement to be entered into with any executive
director;

*

considering what compensation commitments (including pension contributions) the
executive directors’ service agreements, if any, would entail in the event of early
termination;

*

in early termination cases where the initial contract does not explicitly provide for
compensation commitments, to tailor its approach (within legal constraints) to the
circumstances; and

*

agree the policy for authorising claims for expenses from the chief executive of the
Company and the Chairman of the Board.

13
Share Dealing Code
13.1 The Company has adopted a Share Dealing Code, the details of which are set out below.
13.2 The Share Dealing Code provides that a Director cannot deal in the Company’s ordinary
shares in the following circumstances:
13.2.1 During the two month period prior to the notiﬁcation of the Company’s annual results
and half-yearly results or, if shorter, the period from the relevant ﬁnancial period end
up to and including the time of notiﬁcation;
13.2.2 Whilst the Company is in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information; or
13.2.3 At any other time when it has become reasonably probable that such information will
be required to be notiﬁed to a regulatory information service under the ISDX Growth
Market Rules.
13.3 The Company and the Directors are also subject to UK legislation prohibiting market abuse
and insider dealing under FSMA.
14
Material Contracts
Other than as set out below, there are no contracts (not being in the ordinary course of business)
entered into by the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking in the two years immediately
preceding the date of this document which are or may be material or which contain any provision
under which the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking has any obligation or entitlement which is
material to the Group as at the date of this document, save for Directors’ service contracts (as
described in paragraph 7.1 of this Part 5).
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14.1 The Company
14.1.1 By an agreement dated 25 May 2015, the Company entered into a Share Sale
Agreement for all of the issued share capital in NQ with the existing shareholders of
NQ. In exchange for the issued share capital in NQ, the existing shareholders were
issued with a proportionate number of shares in the Company. The share sale
agreement contained the customary warranties in relation to title and encumbrances
on the NQ shares.
14.1.2 By an agreement dated 21 July 2015, the Company entered into a Lock-In and
Orderly Marketing Agreement with Alfred Henry Corporate Finance Limited, Tarver
Partners Inc, IFSA, Brian Stockbridge and Walter Doyle. Certain of the Directors and
existing shareholders in respect of their aggregate holdings of 103,000,000 ordinary
shares and the warrants granted to International Financial Strategic Associates
Limited set out in paragraph 4.1, have undertaken not to dispose of any interest in
ordinary shares for a period of 12 months from the date of the Company’s Admission
onto the ISDX Growth Market.
14.1.3 By an agreement dated 21 July 2015, the Company entered into a Loan
Conﬁrmation Letter with Walter Doyle conﬁrming that a loan consisting of £150,000 is
not repayable for a period of at least two years from the date of the Company’s
Admission onto the ISDX Growth Market.
14.1.4 The Company entered into a Relationship Agreement with Alfred Henry Corporate
Finance Limited, Tarver Partners Inc and Walter Doyle on 21 July 2015 which
documents the relationship between the parties for so long as Tarver Partners,
whose ultimate beneﬁcial owner is Walter Doyle, hold at least 30% of the issued
capital of the Company. The Relationship Agreement contains provisions which, inter
alia, are designed to ensure that there is no interference with the independent
operation of the Board and that all transactions between the Company, Tarver
Partners and Mr Doyle are conducted on an arm’s length basis.
14.1.5 By an engagement letter dated 8 July 2015, Alfred Henry Corporate Finance Limited
was appointed to assist the Company with its application to the ISDX Growth Market
for a fee of £15,000 plus VAT.
14.1.6 By a corporate adviser agreement dated 8 July 2015, Alfred Henry Corporate
Finance Limited was appointed to act as the ISDX corporate adviser for a quarterly
fee of £2,500 plus VAT.
14.1.7 By an engagement letter dated 14 July 2015, Beaufort Securities Limited was
appointed to act as broker to the Company for a quarterly fee of £2,500 plus VAT.
14.1.8 By an engagement letter dated 30 June 2015, SLC Registrars Limited was appointed
to act as registrars to the Company for an annual fee of £2,000 plus VAT.
14.1.9 By an engagement letter dated 8 July 2015, Jeffreys Henry LLP was appointed as
auditors to the Company for a fee to be agreed by the Directors.
14.1.10 By an engagement letter dated 4 February 2015, Gowlings (UK) was appointed to
act as lawyers to the Company for a fee of £30,000 plus VAT.
14.2 NQ
NQ entered into a share sale and purchase agreement with Circle Resources and All Star
Minerals Plc (All Star) for the purchase of all of the issued share capital in Circle Resources
on 24 September 2013. The share sale agreement completed ﬁve days after execution of
the agreement. At the time of the agreement Circle Resources held the application to be
granted Ukalunda. All Star gave the customary warranties and indemnities in relation to
Circle Resources, title to the shares and the assets of Circle Resources (including the
application for the grant of the Ukalunda tenement) under the agreement.
14.3 Circle Resources
Asset sale agreement
Circle Resources entered into an asset sale agreement with Blue Doe Gold Pty Ltd (Blue
Doe Gold) for the sale of EPM 18510 (the Square Post tenement), EPM 19280 and
EPM 18964 on 14 September 2012. Title to the tenements was to be transferred to Blue
Doe Gold following completion of the agreement; however, title to the tenements was not
169

validly transferred. On 29 July 2014 Circle Resources, NQ, Blue Doe Gold, All Star and Blue
Doe Gold Plc entered into a deed of rescission in relation to the asset sale agreement. The
effect of the deed was that it transferred Blue Doe Gold’s beneﬁcial interest in the tenements
to Circle Resources. Therefore, Circle Resources is the sole beneﬁcial and legal holder of
the tenements. Circle Resources is in the process of surrendering EPM 19280 and
EPM 18964.
Native title and cultural heritage agreements
In Australia mining exploration companies are required to comply with legislative regimes in
relation to native title and aboriginal cultural heritage in order to be granted a mining
tenement and carry out exploration activities on the tenement. Circle Resources is party to
the following agreements for this purpose:
*

Ancillary agreement with Bulganumma Aboriginal Corporation on behalf of the
Jangga People. This agreement is ancillary to a deed which provides the Jangga
People’s consent to the grant of the Square Post tenement and the carrying out of
exploration activities on the tenement. The ancillary agreement also provides for the
management of cultural heritage on the tenement. Circle Resources is obliged under
the agreement to make annual payments to the Jangga People.

*

Exploration agreement with Birriah People. The agreement relates to the grant of the
Ukalunda tenement and the management of cultural heritage on the tenement. Circle
Resources is obliged to make certain payments to the Birriah People under the
terms of the agreement.

*

Exploration agreement (and accompanying deed of assignment) with the Gudjala
People. The agreement relates to the grant of the Ukalunda tenement and the
management of cultural heritage on the tenement. Circle Resources is obliged to
make annual payments to the Gudjala People under the terms of the agreement.

15

Litigation
We have undertaken the relevant searches and there are no governmental, legal or
arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of
which the Group is aware) in which Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking is involved by
or against any Group company which may have or have had in the twelve months preceding
the date of this document, a signiﬁcant effect on the Group’s ﬁnancial position or proﬁtability.

16

Intellectual Property Rights
There are no patents or intellectual property rights, licenses or particular contracts, which are
of fundamental importance to the Group’s business.

17

Investments
Save as set out in this document, there are no:

17.1 investments in progress which are signiﬁcant; or
17.2 future investments upon which the Company or its management bodies have already made
ﬁrm commitments.
18

Working Capital
The Directors are of the opinion that, having made due and careful enquiry, the working
capital available to the Group will, from the time the Existing Ordinary Shares and
Subscription Shares are admitted to the ISDX Growth Market, be sufﬁcient for its present
requirements, that is for at least 12 months from the date of Admission.

19

Information Relating to the Subscription
INcrowd has raised £1m (before expenses) for the Company under the Subscription. There
is no minimum amount, which, in the opinion of the Directors, must be raised by the
Company pursuant to the Subscription.
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20

Environmental Issues
Save as set out in Parts 2 and 3 of this document, neither the Company nor the Directors
are aware of any environmental issues or risks affecting the utilisation of the property, plant
or machinery of the Group.

21
Related Party Transactions
21.1 The following contracts are considered Related Party Transactions for the purposes of the
ISDX listing rules:
21.1.1 The Company entered into a share sale agreement for all of the issued share capital
in NQ with the existing shareholders of NQ, further details of which are described in
paragraph 14.1.1.
21.1.2 The Company entered into a Lock-In and Orderly Marketing Agreement with Alfred
Henry Corporate Finance Limited, Tarver Partners Inc, IFSA, Brian Stockbridge and
Walter Doyle, further details of which are described in paragraph 14.1.2.
21.1.3 The Company entered into a Loan Conﬁrmation Letter with Walter Doyle, further
details of which are described in paragraph 14.1.3.
21.1.4 The Company entered into a Relationship Agreement with Alfred Henry Corporate
Finance Limited, Tarver Partners Inc. and Walter Doyle, further details of which are
described in paragraph 14.1.4.
21.1.5 The Company entered into Non-Executive Chairman Letter of Appointment with Brian
Stockbridge, further details of which are described in paragraph 7.1.1.
21.1.6 The Company entered into Non-Executive Director Letter of Appointment with Bryan
Smart, further details of which are described in paragraph 7.1.2.
21.1.7 The Company entered into a Service Agreement with Walter Doyle for the provision
of services to the Company, further details of which are described in paragraph
7.2.1.
21.2 Save as set out in paragraphs 7 and 21.1 above, there are no related party transactions that
the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking has entered into during the period covered by
the historical ﬁnancial information set out in Part 4 and up to the date of this document.
22
General Information
22.1 The total proceeds of the Subscription are expected to be £1,000,000. The estimated amount
of the expenses of the Subscription and Admission which are all payable by the Company, is
approximately £200,000 (including VAT). The net proceeds of the Subscription will be
£800,000.
22.2 Jeffreys Henry of Finsgate 5-7 Cranwood Street London EC1V 9EE has given and not
withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this document of references to its name in
the form and context in which they appear.
22.3 Alfred Henry Corporate Finance Limited of Finsgate 5-7 Cranwood Street London EC1V 9EE
has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this document of
references to its name in the form and context in which they appear.
22.4 Beaufort Securities Limited of 131 Finsbury Pavement, London EC2A 1NT has given and not
withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this document of references to its name in
the form and context in which they appear.
22.5 Map to Mine PTY Ltd of 22 Bell Street, South Townsville, Queensland, Australia has given
and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this document of references to its
name in the form and context in which they appear.
22.6 The ﬁnancial information contained in this document does not constitute full statutory
accounts as referred to in section 434 of the Act.
22.7 There are not, neither in respect of the Company nor any of the Subsidiary Undertakings,
any signiﬁcant recent trends in production, sales and inventory, and costs and selling prices
since the end of the last ﬁnancial year to the date of this document.
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22.8 There are not, neither in respect of the Company nor any of the Subsidiary Undertakings,
any known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events that are reasonably likely
to have a material effect on the Company’s prospects for at least the current ﬁnancial year
of the Company.
22.9 Save as disclosed in this document, there has been no signiﬁcant change in the ﬁnancial or
trading position of the Group since incorporation.
22.10 Save as disclosed in this document, there has been no signiﬁcant change to the Group or its
operations since the date of the Competent Persons report set out at Part 3 of this
Document.
22.11 The Existing Ordinary Shares are, and the Subscription Shares will be, in registered form. It
is expected that share certiﬁcates will be posted by 24 July 2015. No temporary documents
of title will be issued.
22.12 No person, either directly or indirectly, has in the last twelve months received or is
contractually entitled to receive either directly or indirectly, from the Company on or after
Admission (excluding in either case persons who are professional advisers otherwise
disclosed in this document and trade suppliers) (i) fees totalling £10,000 or more; (ii) its
securities, where these have a value of £10,000 or more calculated by reference to the
Subscription Price; or (iii) any payment or beneﬁt from the Company to the value of £10,000
as at the date of Admission.
22.13 Of the Subscription Price, £0.001 represents the nominal value of each Subscription Share
and £0.079 the premium.
22.14 Monies received from applicants pursuant to the Subscription will be held in accordance with
Beaufort’s terms of business until such time as Admission becomes unconditional in all
respects.
23

Publication of this document
Copies of this document shall be available free of charge on the Company’s website
www.nqmpl.com during normal business hours on any day (except Saturdays, Sundays and
public holidays) and from Alfred Henry Corporate Finance Limited at Finsgate, 5-7 Cranwood
Street, London EC1V 9EE for a period of one month from the date of Admission.

Date: 21 July 2015
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